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(HK$’000) 2020 2019

Revenue 603,856 115,499
Loss before income tax (137,456) (52,648)
Loss for the year (233,236) (51,961)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company (233,036) (94,713)
Loss per share
— basic (HK dollars) (0.41) (0.21)
— diluted (HK dollars) (0.41) (0.21)

(HK$’000) 2020 2019

Total assets 17,955,521 7,002,919
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 5,392,323 5,446,083
Cash and bank balances 1,162,189 975,181

Financial
      Highlights
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On behalf of the board of directors of Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited (the 
“Company”) (the “Director(s)” or the “Board”), I am pleased to present the results of 
the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “our Group” or “We”/”we”) for 
the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year” or “2020”).

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The global economy was affected by a number of unfavorable factors in 2020, and the 
ongoing COVID-19 outbreak has further deteriorated the situation. During the Year, the 
Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company of HK$233 million (a loss 
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$95 million was recorded for the year ended 
31 December 2019). The main reason for the loss was the decrease in the fair value 
of investment properties of the Group of HK$405 million (an average drop in value of 
3% of the investment properties reflecting the impact of business and leasing activities 
slowdown globally). Details of the financial results are described in the section headed 
“Management Discussion & Analysis”.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend on the convertible 
preference shares and the ordinary shares of the Company for the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

2020 was a remarkably difficult year, with multiple risks posed by the COVID-19 pandemic 
and the presidential election in the United States of America (the “U.S.”). Under 
the severe operating environment, we adopted an overall strategy which tends to be 
conservative and cautious, including continuing to deepen the development of the U.S. real 
estate related business based on our existing businesses, focusing on the efficient use of 
resources, implementing careful control of costs and strengthening the financial position 
of the Group in a prudent manner. We hope that we can seize development opportunities 
once the economy recovers from the epidemic.

Continuing to Deepen the Development of the U.S. Real Estate Related 
Business

The Group has been heavily engaged in the real estate related business with assets 
located in various states across the U.S. and Hong Kong. Our U.S. real estate fund 
platform, Gemini-Rosemont Realty LLC (“GR Realty”), lies at the very core of our Group’s 
business strategies in the U.S. and is committed to providing investors and tenants with 
tailor-made real estate solutions in the U.S. for nearly 30 years.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

During 2020, GR Realty has officially promoted from a strategic partner to a member of 
our Group after the successful change in control through efforts of various professional 
parties, which will undoubtedly lay a solid foundation for the future development of the 
Group. Taking a more active role, the Group is able to fully integrate the advantages of the 
professional teams of GR Realty with those of the Group going forward, and leverage the 
inherent resources of each other to enhance our market competitiveness. In the midst of 
prolonged economic turmoil, the Group will continue to fully implement the development 
blueprint, and provide high-end products and services through acquisition and management 
of more quality assets, so as to establish a trusted international corporate brand.

Strengthening the Financial Position of the Group

In the face of this once-in-a-century pandemic, we adopted a prudent approach to 
strengthen the Group’s financial position after careful consideration. During 2020, the 
Company successfully raised funds at relatively low costs by way of a share placement of 
its ordinary shares to broaden its capital base and shareholders’ base. The total number 
of ordinary shares allotted by the Company represented 40% of the number of ordinary 
shares in issue prior to the allotment, raising HK$181 million in aggregate and introducing 
new shareholders including Sino-Ocean Capital Holding Limited (“Sino-Ocean Capital”). 
With our professional and unique investment insight as well as value creation capability, 
we help our partners enhance value through the full-cycle business model and industry 
collaboration, and achieve mutual benefits of effective management and value appreciation 
of entrusted funds. After a series of corporate actions, Sino-Ocean Capital has now 
become the largest shareholder of the Company, laying the foundation for future potential 
cooperation.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, with containment measures at different levels becoming effective in 
controlling the spread of the pandemic, widespread vaccination in a step-by-step approach 
as scheduled and expected ongoing implementation of stimulus packages by different 
countries to boost national economic growth, we believe the overall global business 
activities will gradually resume normal.

On the path of our steady development, Sino-Ocean Group Holding Limited (“Sino-Ocean”) 
and Sino-Ocean Capital certainly serve as our strong support and backing force. We have 
accepted and adapted to the new norm and will continue to be cautiously optimistic in 
tackling and overcoming the challenges ahead to provide a more stable and favourable 
environment. We aim to devote more resources to the business of GR Realty in the U.S. 
to strengthen its competitive advantages and prudently expand its asset management 
scale and market presence. In the meanwhile, we also expect to deepen our cooperation 
with Sino-Ocean Capital to build a platform in the future to explore business opportunities 
in the U.S. market in a more direct and effective way, and to leverage the resources and 
expertise of the Company and GR Realty outside China to promote business synergy and 
bring long-term benefits to our shareholders.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere 
gratitude to all shareholders, business partners and bank enterprises for their trust and 
unwavering support over the years and to my fellow Board members, the management 
and staff for their commitment and dedication to the Group during the past years.

In particular, I would like to express my appreciation to Mr. LI Ming, Mr. LI Hongbo and 
Mr. WANG Xiao, who resigned as Directors during the Year, for their valuable advice and 
significant contributions to the Board. On the other hand, I would like to extend a warm 
welcome to Ms. LAM Yee Lan and Mr. ZHOU Yue as our new Board members appointed 
during the Year and expect them to make contributions to the Group.

SUM Pui Ying
Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 March 2021
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Management Discussion & Analysis

During the Year, the Group continued to focus on business related to commercial and 
residential real estate with a geographical presence mainly in the U.S. and Hong Kong. 
Since 31 July 2020, GR Realty, a well-established U.S. real estate fund platform, has been 
converted from a joint venture to a subsidiary of the Group. With the scale of property 
investment and property development projects managed and controlled by GR Realty, 
investment properties and properties under development of our Group increased to 
HK$12,927 million (2019: HK$2,209 million), accounting for 72% of our total assets as at 
31 December 2020 (2019: 32%).

During the Year, the Group recorded a significant increase in revenue to HK$604 million 
(2019: HK$115 million) as a result of consolidation of GR Realty which contributed a 
revenue of HK$492 million to the Group. The total leasable area increased from 328,000 
square feet to 7,172,000 square feet and estimated gross floor area of our development 
projects increased from 82,000 square feet to 297,000 square feet. The loss attributable 
to the owners of the Company for the Year increased to HK$233 million, mainly as a result 
of loss arising from a decrease in the fair value of our investment properties of HK$405 
million, due to business and leasing activities hampered globally during the Year amid the 
continued impact of COVID-19 pandemic to the U.S. and Hong Kong.

OPERATION REVIEW

Overview

The Group mainly engages in property investments in the U.S. and Hong Kong, property 
developments in the U.S. and other operations (including fund investments and securities 
investments). Investment properties in the U.S. and in Hong Kong accounted for 61% 
and 3% of our total assets as at 31 December 2020 respectively, and property under 
development in the U.S. accounted for 9% of our total assets as at 31 December 2020. 
All our property investments and property developments in the U.S. are managed by GR 
Realty.

GR Realty has been providing tailored real estate solutions for investors and tenants for 
almost three decades. It is a fully integrated real estate platform, investing in quality 
property projects and managing property funds as general partners in specific target 
markets in the U.S.. It typically focuses on those assets with core plus return profile while 
its development team’s expertise also allows GR Realty to invest in value-added type of 
projects. GR Realty currently focuses on coastal gateway and selected markets that exhibit 
compelling fundamentals, high liquidity, and improving demographics with a focus on the 
tech industries.

In addition to receiving a steady and reliable income and cash flow and possible capital 
gains from appreciation in value of assets, we also receive possible fee income and carried 
interest through GR Realty acting as the general partner of the property funds it manages.
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Property Investments in the U.S. (managed by GR Realty)

During the Year, uncertainty pervaded the office market, with tenants and owners 
navigating amid rapidly changing conditions and the continued pause in activities across 
markets and industries. The largest impact of COVID-19 to the office sector shall be 
the mass shift from previously office-based employees to remote working. The overall 
weakening of office leasing activities leads to increasing downward pressure of the office 
property values.

As at 31 December 2020, our balanced property portfolio comprises 28 office properties 
spread out in West Coast, Central and East Coast of the U.S. (where local key industry 
players are our key tenants), and several units in a residential building in New York City. 
GR Realty managed all our property investments in the U.S., with the focus on top-
performing, high growth technology, creative, and new economy-centric sub-markets and 
tenants in an effort to create and realize maximum value. We focus on tenant satisfaction 
with local teams in an effort to minimize costly rollover and downtime.

As at 31 December 2020, the total carrying value of our investment properties in the U.S. 
was HK$10,913 million (2019: HK$1,063 million).

In 2020, rental revenue and ancillary service income to property leasing, relating to 
investment properties in the U.S., increased by 478% to HK$590 million (2019: HK$102 
million), due to consolidation of GR Realty since 31 July 2020. The total leasable area 
in the U.S. increased from 309,000 square feet to 7,153,000 square feet, with average 
occupancy rate of 74%.

Central Tech Park (Santa Clara, California)
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Management Discussion & Analysis

An analysis of investment properties in the U.S. by geographical locations is set out below:

East Coast

West Coast

Central

16%

20%
64%

Rental revenue
(for the year ended 31 December 2020)

491 million

East Coast West Coast

Central 76%

17%
7%

7.2 million

Leasable area
(square feet)

East Coast

West CoastCentral 

8%

48%
44%10.9 billion

Valuation

To continue with our strategic operating plan which will be reviewed and tuned from time 
to time, we currently focus on coastal gateway, technology-driven and selected markets 
that exhibit compelling fundamentals, high liquidity and improving demographics, which 
are mostly in West Coast and East Coast of the U.S., while at the same time gradually 
dispose of assets located in non-focused markets, which are mostly located in the Central 
U.S.. Currently portfolio located in West Coast and East Coast of the U.S. contributed 
44% and 8% respectively in terms of value as at 31 December 2020, and 64% and 16% 
respectively in terms of rental revenue for 2020 among all the investment properties in the 
U.S..

As COVID-19 vaccine rollouts expand in 2021, we are cautiously optimistic that office-
use demand will start to gradually recover and we will closely monitor how tenants and 
corporations move forward to their real estate needs.

600 Clipper (Belmont, California)
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An analysis of investment properties in the U.S. by geographical locations is set out below:
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Valuation

To continue with our strategic operating plan which will be reviewed and tuned from time 
to time, we currently focus on coastal gateway, technology-driven and selected markets 
that exhibit compelling fundamentals, high liquidity and improving demographics, which 
are mostly in West Coast and East Coast of the U.S., while at the same time gradually 
dispose of assets located in non-focused markets, which are mostly located in the Central 
U.S.. Currently portfolio located in West Coast and East Coast of the U.S. contributed 
44% and 8% respectively in terms of value as at 31 December 2020, and 64% and 16% 
respectively in terms of rental revenue for 2020 among all the investment properties in the 
U.S..

As COVID-19 vaccine rollouts expand in 2021, we are cautiously optimistic that office-
use demand will start to gradually recover and we will closely monitor how tenants and 
corporations move forward to their real estate needs.

Property Developments in the U.S. (managed by GR Realty)

The Group’s property development projects comprise residential redevelopment site 
located at (i) Avenue of the Americas, Manhattan, New York City, (ii) North First Street, 
Brooklyn, New York City and (iii) Second Avenue, Manhattan, New York City.

Development progress began to slow down from the second quarter of 2020 with the 
outbreak of COVID-19 and precautionary measures implemented by the local governments. 
The residential market, however, has remained largely resilient with capital values 
generally flat while buyers adopted a wait-and-see stance.

The redevelopment project located at Avenue of the Americas was acquired in 2017. It 
is expected to be developed into a 13-storey residential building (with retail space on the 
ground) with an estimated gross floor area of 82,000 square feet. It will be structured with 
unique project types with splendid amenities including duplex units which are in scarcity in 
Manhattan. The project is expected to be completed in 2021.

The redevelopment projects located at North First Street and Second Avenue were 
acquired by GR Realty at the beginning of 2020 and had been consolidated into our Group 
since 31 July 2020. The North First Street project is in demolition stage, and expected to 
be developed into a residential building together with auxiliary car parking facilities and 
perfecting amenities. The estimated gross floor area is 78,000 square feet, and completion 
is expected in 2023. The Second Avenue project is in planning stage, and is expected to 
be developed into a residential building with splendid amenities. The estimated gross floor 
area is 137,000 square feet, and completion is expected in 2024.

The real estate market in New York is considered to have strong market fundamentals and 
to remain stable with healthy buyer demand in the long term. We will continue with the 
plan to deliver high-quality products of our residential property developments.

Investment Properties in Hong Kong

Investment properties in Hong Kong comprise A-grade offices units in two buildings in 
Hong Kong Island, and several residential units and car parking space. The total carrying 
value of our investment properties in Hong Kong was HK$451 million (2019: HK$460 
million), representing 3% of our total assets as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 7%). In 2020, 
rental revenue from investment properties in Hong Kong remained stable with an amount 
of HK$11 million (2019: HK$11 million). Leasing activities remained relatively stable under 
the outbreak of COVID-19, with average occupancy rate of 89%.
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Management Discussion & Analysis

Other Operations

Other operations mainly include fund investments and securities investments.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of our fund investment portfolio (classified 
as “financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”) was HK$2,155 million (2019: 
HK$2,215 million), with an aggregate gain on change of fair value of HK$3 million recorded 
during the Year (2019: HK$23 million), as a result of gain from those funds investing in 
global listed securities, with a mixed portfolio including equity securities in technology 
media telecom sector and new economy industries and debt securities under thriving 
global capital market, offset by loss caused by weak performance of certain unlisted 
equity investments related to real estate sector which has been continuously hit by global 
economic uncertainty due to the outbreak of COVID-19. The underlying investments in our 
fund investment portfolio include global listed securities and debt securities focusing on 
the technology media telecom sector, property and property-related value chain and new 
economy industries; and real estate and related investments primarily in the U.S., Europe, 
Japan, Australia and/or Hong Kong.

As at 31 December 2020, our securities investment portfolio mainly consisted of 
investment in listed securities in Hong Kong and overseas of HK$546 million (as at 31 
December 2019: HK$286 million). The Group recorded gain from securities investment 
(classified as financial instruments held for trading) of HK$58 million for 2020 (2019: loss 
of HK$4 million) under thriving global capital market.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The significant increase in revenue was mainly due to the consolidation of GR Realty since 
31 July 2020. Revenue contributed by GR Realty amounted to HK$492 million, comprising 
rental income of HK$393 million and ancillary service income to property leasing of HK$99 
million. The revenue of the Group (excluding GR Realty) recorded no material change, with 
revenue of HK$112 million for 2020 (2019: HK$115 million).

The components of our revenue are analysed as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental income 502,089 113,612
Ancillary service income to property leasing 98,879 —
Dividend income 2,888 1,887  

603,856 115,499
  

Rental revenue comprises rental income generated from investment properties managed 
and controlled by GR Realty and other investment properties. Ancillary service income to 
property leasing mainly includes income for services provided to tenants of HK$84 million 
and parking lot income of HK$15 million.
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Operating expenses

The significant increase in operating expenses was mainly due to consolidation of GR 
Realty since 31 July 2020. Operating expenses of HK$159 million were incurred by 
GR Realty, representing 82% of total operating expenses. Operating expenses of the 
Group (excluding GR Realty) decreased from HK$47 million to HK$35 million as a result 
of decrease in leasing fee by HK$5 million with less leasing activities during the Year, 
and decrease in property management fee charged by GR Realty by HK$6 million since 
consolidation of GR Realty.

The components of our operating expenses are analysed as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Repairs, maintenance and utilities 127,335 20,998
Property insurance costs 9,004 1,607
Property management expenses 24,559 8,767
Real estate taxes 29,093 13,003
Others 3,302 2,542  

193,293 46,917
  

Loss arising from changes in fair value of investment properties

Loss arising from changes in fair value of investment properties of the Group of HK$405 
million was recorded. The loss represented an average drop in carrying value of 3% of the 
investment properties, reflecting the impact of business and leasing activities slowdown 
in the U.S. and Hong Kong. Fair value of investment properties located in the U.S. and in 
Hong Kong decreased by HK$395 million and HK$10 million respectively, representing an 
average drop in carrying value of 4% and 2% respectively. Commercial real estate industry 
undergo severe impact from lockdowns and unpredictable financial health of tenants, 
under the uncertain economic condition and the long lasting pandemic.

Other income, gains/losses

The components of other income, gains/losses, are analysed as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank interest income 4,844 9,955
Other interest income 14,779 25,552
Loss on re-measurement of interests in GR Realty (50,339) —
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 1,253 —
Sundry 2,729 454  

(26,734) 35,961
  



Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited     Annual Report 202012

Management Discussion & Analysis

The decrease in interest income was as a result of (i) lower bank interest rate throughout 
2020 and (ii) no interest income on loan receivables from GR Realty recognised since the 
consolidation of GR Realty from 31 July 2020.

Loss on re-measurement of interests in joint ventures of HK$50 million was recognised 
due to the difference between the fair value of the existing interests in GR Realty and the 
carrying amount of interests in GR Realty as joint venture upon consolidation of GR Realty.

Administrative and other expenses

The components of our administrative and other expenses are analysed as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Auditors’ remuneration 5,365 2,505
Depreciation 10,137 3,231
Employee costs 55,276 25,542
Rental expenses on short term leases 549 3,854
Legal and professional fee 31,005 13,419
Insurance expenses 4,792 1,034
Informative service fee 4,033 597
Exchange difference (3,712) 9,438
Other taxes 4,464 5,513
Other administrative and office expenses 17,244 19,696  

129,153 84,829
  

The increase of administrative and other expenses from HK$85 mill ion to HK$129 
million was mainly due to the enlarged business scale, along with related daily operation 
expenses, of our Group after the consolidation of GR Realty. GR Realty contributed 
administrative and other expenses of HK$58 million to the Group, which mainly comprised 
employee costs of HK$35 million, legal and professional fees of HK$9 million, and general 
and administrative expenses of HK$4 million.

Administrative and other expenses of the Group (excluding GR Realty) decreased by 
HK$14 million to HK$71 million, mainly due to the movement in exchange difference of 
HK$11 million, decrease in employee costs and traveling and entertainment expenses 
(recorded in other administrative and office expenses) by HK$12 million and decrease 
in rental expenses on short term leases by HK$3 million, but offset by the increase in 
legal and professional fees by HK$6 million paid for services relating to several corporate 
exercises of the Company in 2020 like share placements and mandatory general offer for 
the securities of the Company.

Finance costs

Finance costs (net of interest capitalisation) of HK$191 million on our borrowings were 
recognised during the Year (2019: HK$17 million). GR Realty contributed finance costs of 
HK$174 million after its consolidation with the Group since 31 July 2020. The finance cost 
of the Group (excluding GR Realty) stood at stable level and amounted to HK$17 million 
for 2020 (2019: HK$17 million).
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Result of Joint Ventures

A loss arising from share of result of joint ventures (GR Realty and certain syndicated 
projects controlled by GR Realty) of HK$99 million (2019: HK$1 million) was recorded 
during the Year. The loss was mainly due to downward valuation pressure of investment 
properties and the impact of weaken profitability of GR Realty, as a result of global market 
turbulence. GR Realty was converted from a joint venture to a subsidiary of the Group 
from 31 July 2020. No further share of result of joint ventures was recorded thereafter.

Whilst there was a share of loss as aforesaid arising from GR Realty as our joint 
venture prior to 31 July 2020, the Group recorded a gain on effective settlement of loan 
receivables upon consolidation of GR Realty of HK$61 million (2019: nil), which was as a 
result of expected credit loss provided on such loan receivables due by GR Realty and its 
related entities in previous periods.

Loss attributable to limited partners and puttable instrument holders

The entities to which losses are attributable include (i) certain limited partner interests 
associated with those limited partnerships of the property funds managed and controlled 
by GR Realty, and (ii) the Class B members interest (non-controlling) in GR Realty. 
According to the terms of investments, these interests are classified as assets/liabilities 
under the statutory accounting principles, instead of non-controlling interest in equity. 
Accordingly, the financial results attributable to limited partners and puttable instrument 
holders are recorded in the consolidated income statement of the Group. Due to the fair 
value loss of investment properties under GR Realty, loss of HK$187 million was allocated 
to the limited partners and puttable instrument holders.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for 2020 increased to HK$233 million (2019: 
HK$95 million) mainly as a result of fair value loss of investment properties of the Group 
of HK$405 million. Basic loss per ordinary share of the Company of HK$0.41 for the Year 
was recorded (2019: loss per ordinary share of HK$0.21). Our management will closely 
monitor the market situation and focus on the improvement of our shareholders’ return as 
their on-going task.

Financial Resources and Liquidity

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had cash resources totaling HK$1,162 million (as 
at 31 December 2019: HK$975 million). The committed bank credit facilities amounted 
to HK$407 million, of which HK$166 million remained undrawn. The Group’s sources of 
funding comprise mainly internal funds generated from the Group’s business operations 
and loan facilities provided by banks.

As at 31 December 2020, the borrowings (excluding lease liabilities) of the Group 
amounted to HK$7,932 million (as at 31 December 2019: HK$664 million). The Group’s 
borrowings included bank loans and revolving loans and notes payables. The increase 
in borrowings was mainly due to the consolidation of GR Realty which contributed to 
borrowings of HK$7,511 million. As at 31 December 2020, the proportions of short-term 
borrowings and long-term borrowings of the Group were 28% and 72% respectively.
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Management Discussion & Analysis

The maturities of the Group’s borrowings are set out as follows:

 2020
As percentage 
of borrowings 2019

As percentage
 of borrowings

(HK$ million) (HK$ million)

Within 1 year 2,262 28% 241 36%
1–2 years 641 8% — —
2–5 years 4,169 53% — —
Over 5 years 860 11% 423 64%    

Total 7,932 100% 664 100%    

All the above borrowings are denominated in U.S. dollars. Considering that the exchange 
rate of Hong Kong dollars is pegged against the U.S. dollars, the Group believes that the 
corresponding exposure to exchange rate risk arising from the U.S. dollars is not material.

The Group’s net gearing ratio (i.e. borrowings less total cash resources divided by total 
equity) was 94% (2019: Not applicable). It is the strategy of GR Realty as a real estate 
fund platform to pair investment properties under management with an appropriate level 
of mortgage loans at low interest rate to achieve higher rate of return. As advised by the 
top management of GR Realty, the properties located in non-focused markets are to be 
disposed of at appropriate time which, when completed, is considered to ease the Group’s 
gearing position. Currently, 90% of our total borrowings enjoyed interest rate below 6%. 
Our management will continue to monitor the Group’s capital and debt structure from time 
to time aiming to control short-term debt ratio and mitigate its exposure to the risk of 
gearing.

Financial Guarantees

As at 31 December 2020, our Group did not have any financial guarantees given for the 
benefit of third parties.

Pledged Assets

As at 31 December 2020, our Group had pledged bank deposits amounting to HK$310 
million (2019: HK$9 million) and investment properties in the U.S. of HK$10,578 million 
(2019: HK$717 million), together with the interests of certain subsidiaries of the Group as 
securities to secure borrowings of our Group of HK$6,980 million (2019: HK$423 million).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, our Group had no significant contingent liabilities.
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Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2020, our Group had capital commitments of HK$208 million (2019: 
HK$325 million), in respect of the property development projects in the U.S..

Significant Investments

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not hold any significant investment with a value 
of 5% or more of the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2020.

CONSOLIDATION OF GR REALTY

On 31 July 2020, the Group and other members of GR Realty entered into an agreement 
to revise provisions regarding proceedings of the operating committee of GR Realty, 
enabling the Group obtaining control of GR Realty’s business and operational aspects. 
As a result, after 31 July 2020, GR Realty has been converted from a joint venture to a 
subsidiary of the Group and the operating performance and financial position of GR Realty 
has been consolidated into the financial statements of the Group under the Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards.

CAPITAL REDUCTION INVOLVING CANCELLATION OF 
CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES

For the purpose of further enhancing the Company’s ability and flexibility in potential 
dividend distribution in future, on 28 February 2020, the Company entered into a deed of 
cancellation with Grand Beauty Management Limited (“Grand Beauty”), a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Sino-Ocean, to cancel 31,666,667 convertible preference shares of the 
Company (“Convertible Preference Shares”) held by Grand Beauty, representing 4.03% 
of all the Convertible Preference Shares then in issue. The capital reduction became 
effective on 4 June 2020, and a credit in the amount of HK$95 million has arose from the 
capital reduction and been transferred and credited to a capital reduction reserve account 
of the Company, which will be available to set off against any losses of the Company and/
or to make distribution to its shareholders in the future when appropriate.

NEW SHARES ISSUANCE

On 3 April 2020, the Company entered into three subscription agreements with (i) 
Hongkong Presstar Enterprise Co., Limited (“Presstar”), (ii) Trend Best Investment Limited 
(“Trend Best”) and (iii) Glory Class Ventures Limited (“Glory Class”) respectively, and 
Presstar, Trend Best and Glory Class respectively agreed to conditionally subscribe for 
45,139,000, 45,139,000 and 90,278,000 new ordinary shares of the Company (representing 
a total of 180,556,000 new ordinary shares of the Company) (collectively the “Subscription 
Shares”) at the subscription price of HK$1.00 per Subscription Share (collectively the 
“Placing Exercises”). The subscription price of HK$1.00 per Subscription Share under the 
Placing Exercises represented a premium of 81.8% to the closing price of HK$0.550 per 
ordinary share of the Company as quoted on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 3 April 2020.
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The subscription by each of Presstar and Trend Best was completed on 17 April 2020, 
raising gross proceeds and net proceeds in total of HK$90.3 million and HK$89.6 million 
respectively. The net price per Subscription Share is approximately HK$0.993. 

The subscription by Glory Class, which is ultimately owned as to 49% by Sino-Ocean, was 
completed on 27 May 2020, and a total of 90,278,000 new ordinary shares of the Company 
had been issued to Estate Spring International Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Glory 
Class), raising gross proceeds and net proceeds of HK$90.3 million and HK$89.6 million 
respectively. The net price per Subscription Share is HK$0.993.

The Placing Exercises were considered as ways to further strengthen our financial position, 
and also as steps to improve the liquidity of the ordinary shares of the Company on the 
Stock Exchange as the transaction volume of our ordinary shares was constantly thin. 
The Company’s ultilisation plan of the net proceeds from the Placing Exercises remained 
changed as at 31 December 2020 as compared to that disclosed in the Company’s 
announcements and circular for the Placing Exercises. The Company intended to use 
around US$10 million to US$12 million (equivalent to HK$77.5 million to HK$93.0 million), 
representing 43% to 52% of the aggregate net proceeds from the Placing Exercises, for 
the investment in a real estate related project in the Metropolitan Area of the State of 
New York, and the remaining balance of the net proceeds was intended to be used as 
general working capital of our Group. Subject to the emerging opportunities, the Company 
considered applying the remaining balance of the net proceeds and other available cash 
resources of the Company for other good real estate investments in the U.S., if the 
investments would be in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Even though our Group has been actively looking for good investment opportunities, as 
business activities remained subdued and highly uncertain in the U.S. as a result of the 
widespread of the COVID-19 pandemic throughout the Year, our Group had yet to make 
any significant investment nor utilise any portion as working capital of our Group out of the 
net proceeds from the Placing Exercises as at 31 December 2020.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2020, the total number of staff employed was 155 (as at 31 December 
2019: 30), which included 125 staff employed by GR Realty. During the Year, the level of 
our overall staff cost was HK$55 million (2019: HK$26 million), with staff cost of HK$35 
million contributed by GR Realty.

With a view to encouraging and rewarding contribution made by our staff, our Group has 
adopted a share option scheme and believes that this will be an effective tool for achieving 
this purpose. Our Group recruits and promotes individuals based on their performance 
and development potentials in the positions offered. When formulating staff salary and 
benefit policies, our Group gives primary consideration to their individual performance and 
prevailing salary levels in the market.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

Details of the environmental policy of the Group are set out in the Environmental, Social 
and Governance Report on pages 41 to 63.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach of or non-
compliance with applicable laws and regulations by our Group that has a significant impact 
on the business and operations of our Group.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are our valuable assets. Thus our Group 
provides competitive remuneration package to attract and motivate the employees. Our 
Group regularly reviews the remuneration package of employees and makes necessary 
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

Our Group also understands that it is important to maintain good relationship with 
business partners and bank enterprises to achieve its long-term goals. Accordingly, our 
senior management have kept good communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared 
business update with them when appropriate. During the Year, there was no material and 
significant dispute between our Group and its business partners or bank enterprises.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our Group’s financial condition, results of operations, and business prospects may be 
affected by a number of risks and uncertainties directly or indirectly pertaining to our 
Group’s businesses. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified by our 
Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which 
are not known to our Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to be 
material in the future.

Market Risks

Market risk is the risk that deteriorates profitability or affects ability to meet business 
objectives arising from the movement in market prices, like foreign exchange rates, 
interest rates and equity prices. The management of our Group manages and monitors 
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and 
effective manner.
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Foreign Exchange Rates Risk

Our Group’s assets and liabilities were mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and the 
U.S. dollars. As at 31 December 2020, our Group has not entered any hedging to mitigate 
the foreign exchange rate risk, but our Group will continue to closely monitor the foreign 
exchange exposure and take any actions when appropriate.

Interest Rate Risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments, our Group analyses its interest rate 
exposure on a dynamic basis and considers managing this risk in a cost-effective manner 
when appropriate, through variety of means.

Equity Price Risk

Equity price risk arises from fluctuation in market prices of our Group’s investment in 
financial assets. The investment portfolio is frequently reviewed and monitored by our 
senior management to ensure prompt action taken and the loss arising from the changes 
in the market values is capped within an acceptable range.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the potential that our Group will be unable to meet its obligations when 
they fall due because of an inability to obtain adequate funding or liquidate assets. In 
managing liquidity risk, our Group monitors cash flows and maintains an adequate level 
of cash and cash equivalent to ensure the ability to finance the Group’s operations and 
reduce the effects of fluctuation in cash flows.

Operational Risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, 
people and systems or from external events. Responsibility for managing operational risks 
basically rests with every function at divisional and departmental levels. Key functions 
in our Group are guided by their standard operating procedures, limits of authority and 
reporting framework. Our management will identify and assess key operational exposures 
regularly so that appropriate risk response can be taken.

Investment Risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of occurrence of losses relative to the 
expected return on any particular investment. Key concern of investment framework will 
be balancing risk and return across different investments, and thus risk assessment is a 
core aspect of the investment decision process. Proper authorisation system has been set 
up and detailed analysis will be made before approving investments. Regular updates on 
the progress of the investments of our Group would be submitted to the Board.
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Manpower and Retention Risk

Our Group may face the risk of not being able to attract and retain key personnel and 
talents with appropriate and required skills, experience and competence which would 
meet the business objectives of our Group. Our Group will provide attractive remuneration 
package to suitable candidates and personnel.

Business Risk

Performance of our Group’s core business will be affected by various factors, including 
but not limited to economic conditions, performance of property markets in regions where 
our investments locate and the performance of the fund managers for our invested funds, 
which would not be mitigated even with careful and prudent investment strategy and strict 
control procedures.

Risks Pertaining to the Property Markets in Hong Kong and the U.S.

Our Group’s property portfolio is principally located in Hong Kong and the U.S.. As a 
result, general state of the economy and the property market, legislative and regulatory 
changes, government policies and political conditions, interest rate changes, labour 
market conditions, availability of financing and outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic in either 
Hong Kong or the U.S. may have a significant impact on our Group’s operating results 
and financial conditions. For instance, profitability of property development business may 
be affected due to deteriorating economic conditions or intense competition from other 
developers and property owners. The government in Hong Kong or the U.S. may introduce 
property cooling measures from time to time, which may have a significant bearing on 
the property market in Hong Kong or the U.S. and adversely affect the property value 
and rental return of our Group’s property portfolio as well as profitability of our property 
development business, and our financial condition. Further growth of our Group’s property 
development business may also be impacted by the supply and price levels of land in 
Hong Kong and/or the U.S.. In addition to the economic and market conditions mentioned 
above, other domestic and external economic factors including but not limited to supply 
and demand conditions, and stock market performance may affect our Group’s property 
investments and development business.
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Mr. SUM Pui Ying, Adrian, aged 59, has been appointed as an 
executive Director since 9 August 2013, and appointed as the 
Chairman of the Board and chairman of the nomination committee 
of the Company since 30 July 2020. He is also the chairman of 
the investment committee of the Board, and a director of various 
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. SUM joined the Group in 2011. He 
is currently the chief financial officer of Sino-Ocean Group Holding 
Limited (“Sino-Ocean” and, together with its subsidiaries, the “Sino-
Ocean Group”). Sino-Ocean is a company listed on the Main Board 
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) 
(stock code: 3377), and has interests in the shares of the Company as 
disclosed in the section headed “Substantial Shareholders’ Interests 
in the Securities of the Company” under the Directors’ Report 
mentioned in the later part of this annual report. Mr. SUM joined Sino-
Ocean Group in May 2007. Mr. SUM was an executive director of 
the board of directors of Sino-Ocean from December 2015 to March 
2020. He has extensive experience in corporate management of listed 
companies, investment and financing and financial management. 
Mr. SUM is currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales. Mr. SUM obtained a 
Professional Diploma in Accounting from the Hong Kong Polytechnic 
University in 1988, a Master’s Degree in Business Administration from 
the University of Wales in 1991 and a Diploma in Legal Studies from 
the University of Hong Kong in 1996.

Board of Directors

Mr. LAI Kwok Hung, Alex, aged 56, has been appointed as an 
executive Director and a member of the investment committee of 
the Board since 9 August 2013, and appointed as the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company since 31 December 2020. Mr. LAI is also 
a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. LAI has 
over 30 years’ solid experience in corporate governance, financial 
advisory and management, funds raising, business development and 
management. Mr. LAI is a fellow member of both the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants of the United Kingdom. He is also 
a Chartered Secretary and Chartered Governance Professional and 
an associate member of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered 
Secretaries and The Chartered Governance Institute. Currently, Mr. 
LAI is an associate member of Urban Land Institute, a member of 
both the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and The American Chamber 
of Commerce in Hong Kong. He has been an independent non-
executive director and the chairman of the audit and risk management 
committee of SG Group Holdings Limited (a company listed on the 
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1657) since March 
2017. Mr. LAI obtained a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy 
awarded by The City University of Hong Kong in 1993, a Diploma in 
Legal Studies awarded by The University of Hong Kong in 2002 and 
a Master’s Degree in Professional Accounting awarded by The Hong 
Kong Polytechnic University in 2004.
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Ms. LAM Yee Lan, aged 36, has been appointed as an executive 
Director since 15 June 2020. Ms. LAM joined the Group as Financial 
Controller in 2017, and was appointed as Business Director of 
the Group in 2020, responsible for overseeing business activities 
in overseas markets, including business operations and oversight 
of asset management and operating performance of investment 
portfolio. Ms. LAM is also a director of a number of subsidiaries 
of the Company. She has over 10 years of working experience in 
financial and asset management. Prior to joining the Group, she 
worked as vice president of a Chinese background real estate fund, 
(a joint venture of the Group at that time), and audit manager for an 
international audit firm. Ms. LAM received her bachelor’s degree in 
Business Administration (Accounting) from The Hong Kong University 
of Science and Technology in 2008. She is also a member of Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA).

Mr. TANG Runjiang , aged 52, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director since 1 March 2018. He is also a member of the 
audit committee and investment committee of the Board. Mr. TANG 
is the Chief Financial Officer of Sino-Ocean Capital Holding Limited 
(“Sino-Ocean Capital”, being a shareholder of the Company which, 
through its subsidiaries, holds interests in shares of the Company as 
disclosed in the section headed “Substantial Shareholders’ Interests 
in the Securities of the Company” under the Directors’ Report 
mentioned in the later part of this annual report) and its subsidiaries. 
He has extensive experience in financial management and corporate 
governance for listed companies in the Mainland and Hong Kong. 
During the period from 1991 to 2018, Mr. TANG served as the 
manager of the treasury department of planning and finance division 
(finance and capital division) and the deputy general manager of the 
finance and capital division (the finance division) of China Ocean 
Shipping (Group) Company, the deputy chief accountant and the chief 
accountant of COSCO Bulk Carrier Co., Ltd., the chief accountant of 
China COSCO Bulk Shipping (Group) Co., Ltd., the general manager 
of the finance division of COSCO Group and the general manager of 
the finance division and the chief financial officer of China COSCO 
Holdings Company Limited and the senior director of business 
development of Paul Hastings in Hong Kong. Mr. TANG obtained a 
Bachelor of Economics Degree (major in accounting) from Central 
University of Finance and Economics in 1991 and a Master’s Degree 
in Business Administration from the China Europe International 
Business School in 2014.
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Mr. ZHOU Yue, aged 43, has been appointed as a non-executive 
Director since 10 December 2020. He is also a member of the audit 
committee and investment committee of the Board. Mr. ZHOU is 
the executive deputy general manager of Sino-Ocean Capital and 
its subsidiaries. Mr. ZHOU is also a director of Sino-Ocean Capital, 
Fortune Joy Ventures Limited (being the immediate holding company 
of Sino-Ocean Capital and a company indirectly owned by Sino-
Ocean as to 49%) and certain subsidiaries and affiliated companies 
of Sino-Ocean Capital. Mr. ZHOU joined Sino-Ocean Group in 2015 
and served as the deputy general manager of the CEO Management 
Centre. Mr. ZHOU is currently the non-executive director as well as 
a member of the nomination committee and strategic investment 
committee of Beijing Capital Grand Limited, a company listed on the 
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1329). Mr. ZHOU 
graduated from Tsinghua University in 2007 and received a master’s 
degree in Business Administration.

Mr. LAW Tze Lun, aged 49, has been appointed as an independent 
non-executive Director since 12 November 2010. He is also the 
chairman of the audit committee and the remuneration committee 
and a member of the investment committee and the nomination 
committee of the Board. He is a Practicing Certified Public Accountant 
in Hong Kong and currently a director of ANSA CPA Limited. Mr. 
LAW is a Certified Public Accountant (Practicing) of the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Certified Practicing 
Accountant of CPA Australia. He has over 27 years of experience in 
auditing, accounting and finance gained from various accounting firms 
in Hong Kong. He has been an independent non-executive director 
of (i) Come Sure Group (Holdings) Limited (a company listed on the 
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 794) since February 
2009, (ii) Tak Lee Machinery Holdings Limited (a company listed on 
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2102) since July 
2017 and (iii) Justin Allen Holdings Limited (a company listed on the 
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1425) since March 
2020 respectively. Mr. LAW was an independent non-executive 
director of National Investments Fund Limited (a company listed on 
the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1227) during the 
period from December 2013 to September 2018. In 1999, Mr. LAW 
obtained a Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting) from Curtin University 
of Technology in Australia.
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Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry, aged 57, has been appointed as an 
independent non-executive Director since 12 November 2010. He is 
also a member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee 
and the nomination committee of the Board. Mr. LO is a solicitor 
and currently a consultant solicitor of Messrs. Chan, Wong & Lam 
Solicitors in Hong Kong. With over 28 years of experience in civil and 
commercial litigation, Mr. LO has extensive experience in the practice 
of property law, intellectual property, civil and commercial advice and 
litigation. He served as an in-house counsel in a Hong Kong-listed 
publication conglomerate from 1998 to 1999. He regularly proffers 
legal advice to companies and institutions with regard to civil and 
commercial subjects and practice. He graduated from the University 
of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Arts. Mr. LO studied law and 
passed the Solicitors’ Final Examination in the United Kingdom. He 
was admitted as a solicitor of the Hong Kong Special Administrative 
Region in 1993 and in England and Wales in 1994. In 1997, Mr. LO 
obtained a Master of Laws in Chinese and Comparative Law from the 
City University of Hong Kong.

Ms. CHEN Yingshun ,  aged 55 ,  has been appo in ted as  an 
independent non-executive Director since 21 April 2018. She is also 
a member of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and 
the nomination committee of the Board. She is currently the chief 
specialist of Guangzhou Asset Management Co., Ltd*（廣州資產管理
有限公司）. Ms. CHEN has extensive international financial knowledge 
and management experience with domestic banks in China. From 
March 2001 to May 2017, Ms. CHEN worked at Beijing Branch of 
Agricultural Bank of China and served successively as the deputy 
general manager of the International Business Department of Beijing 
Branch of Agricultural Bank of China, the assistant to the branch 
manager of Sub-branch at Development Zone of Beijing Branch of 
Agricultural Bank of China, the general manager of the International 
Business Department of Beijing Branch of Agricultural Bank of China, 
the assistant to the branch manager of Beijing Branch of Agricultural 
Bank of China, the deputy branch manager of Beijing Branch of 
Agricultural Bank of China, and an internet finance researcher at 
Beijing Branch of Agricultural Bank of China. She was the adviser to 
the CEO office of CNFinance Holdings Limited from June 2017 to 
March 2020. Ms. CHEN also served as the vice chairman of the board 
of supervisors of Beijing Institute of International Finance* （北京市國
際金融學會） and the vice president of the Beijing Women Financiers 
Association* （北京市女金融家協會）. Ms. CHEN received a bachelor’s 
degree in f inance from the Department of Finance at Nankai 
University in 1988 as well as a master’s degree and a doctorate 
degree in international finance from Nankai University in 1991 and 
2000 respectively. From June 1991 to March 2001, Ms. CHEN was a 
teacher and an associate professor of the Department of Finance at 
Nankai University. Ms. CHEN also passed the Securities Association 
of China’s practice qualification examination for securities practitioner 
in 2015.

*  For identification purpose only
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. WANG Xi
Financial Controller

Ms. WANG Xi, aged 35, joined the Group in 2012 and is currently the Financial Controller 
of the Group and a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. She oversees 
finance and treasury function of the Group, including financial planning and analysis, 
treasury management, controller functions and risk management. Ms. WANG is a 
Chartered Financial Analyst and a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. She holds a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration in Accounting and 
Finance from the University of Hong Kong and a Master Degree of Science in Financial 
Analysis from Hong Kong University of Science & Technology.

Mr. CHEUNG Sin Kei
Company Secretary

Mr. CHEUNG Sin Kei, aged 36, joined the Group in 2016. Mr. CHEUNG is currently 
the Company Secretary of the Company, a director of a number of subsidiaries of the 
Company and the Associate Director of the Group. Mr. CHEUNG’s duty covers corporate 
governance and company secretarial matters. He also oversees the business coordination 
of overseas development projects of the Group. He has 13 years’ solid and extensive 
experience in project management, financial reporting, internal control and corporate 
governance areas. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. CHEUNG worked for a Hong Kong listed 
company in real estate industry and an international audit firm. Mr. CHEUNG holds a 
Bachelor of Business Administration from Lingnan University. He is a Chartered Secretary 
and an associate member of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and 
The Chartered Governance Institute and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants.
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GEMINI INVESTMENTS (HOLDINGS) LIMITED  
(THE “COMPANY”)

It is the pleasure of the directors of the Company (the “Director(s)” or the “Board”) 
to present to the shareholders their report (the “Directors’ Report”) and the audited 
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for 
the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of its 
subsidiaries are set out in Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated income statement of 
the Group on page 88 of this annual report.

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend on the convertible 
preference shares and the ordinary shares of the Company for the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 (including 
discussions on the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing and on 
the likely future business development of the Group) is set out in the sections headed 
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion & Analysis” on pages 3 to 5 and 
pages 6 to 19 of this annual report.

In addit ion, discussions on the Group’s environmental pol icies and performance, 
compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the 
Group and an account of the Group’s key relationships with major stakeholders are 
contained in the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 
41 to 63 of this annual report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Capital Reduction involving Cancellation of Convertible Preference Shares

For the purpose of further enhancing the Company’s ability and flexibility in potential 
dividend distribution in future, on 28 February 2020, the Company entered into a deed of 
cancellation with Grand Beauty Management Limited (“Grand Beauty”), a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Sino-Ocean Group Holding Limited (“Sino-Ocean”), to cancel 31,666,667 
Convertible Preference Shares of the Company (“Convertible Preference Shares”) held 
by Grand Beauty, representing 4.03% of all the Convertible Preference Shares then in 
issue. The capital reduction became effective on 4 June 2020, and a credit in the amount 
of HK$95.0 million has arose from the capital reduction and been transferred and credited 
to a capital reduction reserve account of the Company, which will be available to set off 
against any losses of the Company and/or to make distribution to its shareholders in the 
future when appropriate. Details of cancellation of the Convertible Preference Shares are 
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 February 2020 and the circular of 
the Company dated 18 March 2020.

New Shares Issuance under Subscription Agreements

On 3 April 2020, the Company entered into three subscription agreements (collectively 
“Subscription Agreements”) with ( i ) Hongkong Presstar Enterprise Co., Limited 
(“Presstar”), (ii) Trend Best Investment Limited (“Trend Best”) and (iii) Glory Class 
Ventures Limited (“Glory Class”) respectively, and Presstar, Trend Best and Glory Class 
respectively agreed to conditionally subscribe for 45,139,000, 45,139,000 and 90,278,000 
new ordinary shares of the Company (representing a total of 180,556,000 new ordinary 
shares of the Company) (collectively the “Subscription Shares”) at the subscription price 
of HK$1.00 per Subscription Share (collectively the “Placing Exercises”). The subscription 
price of HK$1.00 per Subscription Share under the Placing Exercises represented a 
premium of 81.8% to the closing price of HK$0.550 per ordinary share of the Company as 
quoted on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 3 April 
2020.

The subscription by each of Presstar and Trend Best was completed on 17 April 2020, 
raising gross proceeds and net proceeds in total of HK$90.3 million and HK$89.6 million 
respectively.

The subscription by Glory Class, which is ultimately owned as to 49% by Sino-Ocean, was 
completed on 27 May 2020, and a total of 90,278,000 new ordinary shares of the Company 
had been issued to Estate Spring International Limited (“Estate Spring”, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Glory Class), raising gross proceeds and net proceeds in total of HK$90.3 
million and HK$89.6 million respectively. Details of the Placing Exercises are set out in the 
announcements of the Company dated 3 April 2020 and 27 May 2020 and the circular of 
the Company dated 28 April 2020.
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The Placing Exercises were considered as ways to further strengthen the financial position 
of the Company, and also as steps to improve the liquidity of the ordinary shares of the 
Company on the Stock Exchange as the transaction volume of the ordinary shares of the 
Company had been constantly thin. The Company intended to apply the net proceeds 
from the Placing Exercises as general working capital of the Group and for real estate 
investments in the United States of America.

Exercise of share options

During the Year, the Company issued a total of 3,624,000 ordinary shares (the “Shares”) 
as a result of the exercise of share options granted under the share option scheme of 
the Company (whose details are further disclosed in the section headed “Share Option 
Scheme” below). All such Shares were issued at an exercise price of HK$0.96 per Share 
and the total consideration received by the Company for such issue is HK$3,479,040.

Following the issue of new Shares pursuant to the Subscription Agreements and exercise 
of share options as disclosed above, the Company’s total issued Shares had been 
increased by 184,180,000 Shares to 635,570,000 Shares as of 31 December 2020.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Subscription Agreements as disclosed in the section headed “Share Capital” 
above and the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed in the section headed 
“Share Option Scheme” below, no equity-linked agreements were entered into by the 
Group, or existed during the Year.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND PROPERTIES UNDER 
DEVELOPMENT

All of the investment properties of the Group were revalued at 31 December 2020, as set 
out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Properties under 
development of the Group at 31 December 2020 are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group. Particulars of the major investment properties and 
properties under development of the Group as at 31 December 2020 are set out in 
“Details of Major Investment Properties” and “Details of Properties Under Development” 
respectively of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Year are set out 
in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company’s distributable reserves, calculated under Part 
6 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“Companies 
Ordinance”), amounted to HK$1,367 million (31 December 2019: HK$862.0 million). 
Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the Year 
are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the date of this Directors’ Report 
were/are:

LI Ming (NED) (Honorary Chairman, resigned on 30 July 2020)
SUM Pui Ying (ED) (appointed as Chairman on 30 July 2020 and ceased to be the Chief 

Executive Officer of the Company on 31 December 2020)
LAI Kwok Hung, Alex (ED, appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 

31 December 2020)
LAM Yee Lan (ED, appointed on 15 June 2020)
TANG Runjiang (NED)
ZHOU Yue (NED, appointed on 10 December 2020)
LAW Tze Lun (INED)
LO Woon Bor, Henry (INED)
CHEN Yingshun (INED)
LI Hongbo (NED, resigned on 15 June 2020)
WANG Xiao (appointed on 15 June 2020 and resigned on 31 December 2020)

Notes:

ED Executive Director
NED Non-Executive Director
INED Independent Non-Executive Director

In accordance with Article 116 of the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles”), 
at each annual general meeting (the “AGM”) of the Company, one-third of the Directors 
for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number 
nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation such that every 
Director, including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by 
rotation at least once every three years. The Directors to retire in every year shall be 
those who have been longest in office since their last election but as between persons 
who became Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree 
between themselves) be determined by lot. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-
election. Pursuant to the above Article 116, Mr. LAI Kwok Hung, Alex and Ms. CHEN 
Yingshun will retire from office on the Board by rotation at the forthcoming AGM, and, 
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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Pursuant to Article 99 of the Articles, the Board shall have power from time to time and 
at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an 
addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office only until 
the next following general meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a casual vacancy) 
or until the next following annual general meeting of the Company (in the case of an 
addition to the Board) and shall then be eligible for re-election at the general meeting of 
the Company, but he/she shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or 
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation in case he/she retires at an annual 
general meeting. Ms. LAM Yee Lan, being an executive Director, was appointed by the 
Board as an addition to the Board with effect from 15 June 2020, and shall hold office until 
the forthcoming AGM. Ms. LAM Yee Lan, being eligible, will offer herself for re-election at 
the forthcoming AGM. Mr. ZHOU Yue, being a non-executive Director, was appointed by 
the Board as an addition to the Board with effect from 10 December 2020 following the 
posting of the composite offer and response document dated 10 December 2020 jointly 
issued by the Company and Estate Spring in respect of a mandatory general offer for the 
securities of the Company, and shall hold office until the forthcoming AGM. Mr. ZHOU 
Yue, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

During the Year and up to the date of this Directors’ Report, Mr. SUM Pui Ying, Mr. LAI 
Kwok Hung, Alex, Ms. LAM Yee Lan, Ms. WANG Xi, Mr. CHEUNG Sin Kei, Ms. CHEN Fang 
and Ms. CHEN Yufei have served on the boards of the Company’s subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors (including any Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 
AGM) has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not 
determinable by the employer within one year without payment of compensation (other 
than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S 
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR 
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for the amounts due to shareholders, perpetual bond and the related party 
transactions of the Group as disclosed in Notes 29, 35 and 44 to the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance 
in relation to the Company’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, 
parent companies or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which any Director or a 
connected entity of any Director had a material interest (whether directly or indirectly) or 
to which the controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party, 
subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors has an interest in any business constituting a competing business to 
the Group.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provides that every Director is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets 
of the Company against all losses or liabilities (to the fullest extent permitted by the 
Companies Ordinance) which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of 
the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Group has taken out and 
maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the Year, which provides appropriate 
cover for legal actions brought against the Directors and directors of the subsidiaries of 
the Company. The level of the coverage is reviewed annually.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN THE 
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED 
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company 
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of 
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) which 
were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the 
provisions of Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions 
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) 
pursuant to section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, to be entered in the register maintained 
by the Company referred to therein; or (iii) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities 
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), to be 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) of the Company held on 23 June 2011, a 
share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) of the Company was approved by the 
shareholders of the Company. Subject to early termination by the Company in its general 
meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period 
of 10 years commencing from the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme (which 
was in our case 23 June 2011) and will remain in force until 22 June 2021.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide the Company with a flexible 
means of giving incentive to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing 
benefits to the employees (whether full-time or part-time) of each member of the Group 
(the “Participants”) and for such other purposes as the Board may approve from time to 
time. The Board may from time to time grant options under the Share Option Scheme to 
the Participants to subscribe for new Shares. In determining the basis of eligibility of each 
Participant, the Board may have absolute discretion to determine whether or not one falls 
within the meaning of Participants and would take into account such factors as it considers 
appropriate.
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As at the date of this Directors’ Report, there is no outstanding share option granted under 
the Share Option Scheme. The Company may further grant share options under the Share 
Option Scheme to subscribe for 39,550,000 Shares, representing 6.22% of the total issued 
Shares of the Company as at the date of this Directors’ Report.

Certain principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarised as follows:

Unless there is prior approval from the Company’s shareholders, the total number of 
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each Participant 
(including both exercised and outstanding options under the Share Option Scheme) in 
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued Shares. Where any further grant 
of options to a Participant would result in excess of such limit, such further grant must 
be subject to the approval of the Company’s shareholders at general meeting with such 
Participant and his close associates abstaining from voting.

All offers of the share options under the Share Option Scheme shall remain open for 
acceptance by the Participants concerned for a period of not less than 10 business days 
from the date of offer of the option (the “Offer Date”), and acceptance of such offers 
shall be accompanied by a payment of HK$1 to the Company within the aforesaid 10 
business-day period as consideration for the grant of such option.

Options may be exercised by the Participants at any time during a period to be notified by 
the Board to each grantee at the time of offer of the share options which period shall not 
be more than 10 years from the date of grant of the options. Unless otherwise determined 
by the Board, there is no general requirement on the minimum period for which an option 
must be held before the option can be exercised.

The subscription price in respect of each Share issued pursuant to the exercise of options 
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the Board 
and notified to the Participants and shall be at least the higher of (a) the closing price of 
the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the Offer Date, 
which must be a business day; or (b) a price being the average of the closing prices of the 
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the 5 business days 
immediately preceding the Offer Date.
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Details of share options movements under the Share Option Scheme during the Year were 
summarised as follows:

Number of Shares over which options are exercisable 

Date of grant

Exercise
price

per 
Share

Balance
as at

1 January
2020

Granted
during

the Year 

Exercised
during

the Year
(Note 2)

Lapsed
during

the Year
(Note 3)

Cancelled
during

the Year
(Note 4)

Balance
as at

31 December
2020 Exercise period

HK$

Directors

LI Ming (resigned 
on 30 July 
2020)

9 August 2013 0.96 4,000,000 (L) — — — 4,000,000 (L) — 9 August 2013 –  
22 June 2021

SUM Pui Ying 26 August 2011 1.40 2,000,000 (L) — — — 2,000,000 (L) — 26 August 2011 – 
22 June 2021

9 August 2013 0.96 16,000,000 (L) — — — 16,000,000 (L) — 9 August 2013 – 
22 June 2021

LAI Kwok Hung, 
Alex

9 August 2013 0.96 3,000,000 (L) — — — 3,000,000 (L) — 9 August 2013 – 
22 June 2021

9 March 2015 1.27 500,000(L) — — — 500,000 (L) — 9 March 2015 – 
22 June 2021

LI Hongbo 
(resigned on 
15 June 2020)

9 August 2013 0.96 1,000,000 (L) — 1,000,000 (L) — — — 9 August 2013 – 
22 June 2021

9 March 2015 1.27 500,000(L) — — — 500,000 (L) — 9 March 2015 – 
22 June 2021

Employees of the 
Group

26 August 2011 1.40 300,000(L) — — — 300,000 (L) — 26 August 2011 – 
22 June 2021

9 August 2013 0.96 4,420,000 (L) — 2,624,000 (L) — 1,796,000 (L) — 9 August 2013 – 
22 June 2021

9 March 2015 1.27 2,790,000 (L) — — 2,790,000 (L) — — 9 March 2015 – 
22 June 2021 

Total 34,510,000 (L) — 3,624,000 (L) 2,790,000 (L) 28,096,000 (L) —
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Notes:

1.	 The Letter “L” denotes a long position in the Shares.

2.	 In respect of share options exercised during the Year, the weighted average closing price of the Shares 
immediately before the dates on which the above options were exercised is HK$1.10.

3.	 A total of 2,790,000 share option lapsed during the Year, of which a total of 2,290,000 share options lapsed 
automatically pursuant to the terms of the Share Option Scheme following the close of the unconditional 
mandatory cash offer by Somerley Capital Limited for and on behalf of Estate Spring (as offeror) to cancel 
all outstanding share options (the “Option Offer”) on 31 December 2020.

4.	 A total of 28,096,000 share options have been cancelled due to the acceptance of the Option Offer by 
certain option holders in respect of a total of 28,096,000 share options.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR 
DEBENTURES

Sino-Ocean (together with its subsidiaries, the “Sino-Ocean Group”) had been the holding 
company of the Company during the year. Sino-Ocean has adopted certain share incentive 
schemes (the “Sino-Ocean Share Incentive Schemes”) for the benefits of eligible 
directors and employees of the Sino-Ocean Group in order to provide an incentive for 
directors and employees of the Sino-Ocean Group.

One of the Sino-Ocean Share Incentive Schemes is the restricted share award scheme 
adopted by Sino-Ocean on 22 March 2010 (the “Adoption Date”) as an incentive to retain 
and encourage the employees of the Sino-Ocean Group for the continual operation and 
development of the Sino-Ocean Group. Pursuant to the restricted share award scheme, 
shares up to 3% of the issued share capital of Sino-Ocean as at the Adoption Date may 
be awarded. The restricted shares shall be purchased by the trustee from the market 
out of cash contributed by the Sino-Ocean Group and be held in trust for the relevant 
selected employees until such shares are vested with the relevant selected employees in 
accordance with the provisions of the restricted share award scheme.

The other Sino-Ocean Share Incentive Schemes comprise the share option schemes of 
Sino-Ocean, one of which was adopted by shareholders’ written resolution of Sino-Ocean 
dated 3 September 2007 (the “2007 Share Option Scheme”), under which share options 
may be granted to eligible directors and employees of the Sino-Ocean Group to subscribe 
for new shares in Sino-Ocean. The 2007 Share Option Scheme had expired in September 
2017. This scheme was adopted for the purpose of providing an incentive for employees 
and directors of the Sino-Ocean Group to work with commitment towards enhancing the 
value of Sino-Ocean and to compensate employees of the Sino-Ocean Group for their 
contribution based on their individual performance and that of Sino-Ocean Group. Although 
the 2007 Share Option Scheme has expired, the share options already granted under such 
scheme before its expiration remained valid.
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At an extraordinary general meeting of Sino-Ocean held on 6 August 2018, a new share 
option scheme of Sino-Ocean was approved by the shareholders of Sino-Ocean (the 
“2018 Share Option Scheme”), under which share options may be granted to eligible 
participants to subscribe for new shares in Sino-Ocean. This scheme was adopted for the 
purpose of providing an incentive for employees of the Sino-Ocean Group to work with 
commitment towards enhancing the value of Sino-Ocean and its shares for the benefit of 
shareholders of Sino-Ocean, to enhance the competitiveness of Sino-Ocean’s remuneration 
structure, to attract and retain talents required to achieve Sino-Ocean’s long-term strategic 
targets, and to compensate directors and employees of the Sino-Ocean Group for their 
contribution based on their individual performance and the performance of Sino-Ocean.

Mr. LI Ming (the former Honorary Chairman and non-executive Director, who resigned on 
30 July 2020), Mr. SUM Pui Ying (an executive Director) and Mr. LI Hongbo (the former 
non-executive Director, who resigned on 15 June 2020) held or had held certain share 
awards and/or share options granted under the above Sino-Ocean Share Incentive Schemes 
during the Year.

Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” above, at no 
time during the Year was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or 
fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits 
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body 
corporate.

Changes IN DIRECTOR’S INFORMATION

Changes in information on Directors since the date of the Interim Report 2020 of the 
Company and up to the date of this annual report, which are required to be disclosed 
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, are set out below:

(a)	 Mr. LAW Tze Lun, an independent non-executive Director, is the independent non-
executive director of Tak Lee Machinery Holdings Limited since July 2017. With 
effect from 6 October 2020, Tak Lee Machinery Holdings Limited (stock code: 2102) 
has transferred the listing of its shares from GEM to the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange; and

(b)	 With effect from 31 December 2020:—

(i)	 Mr. SUM Pui Ying was no longer the Chief Executive Officer of the Company 
but remains as the Chairman and an executive Director; and

(ii)	 Mr. LAI Kwok Hung, Alex, an executive Director, has been appointed as the 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN THE 
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, so far as is known to any Director or chief executive of 
the Company, the following persons had interests or short positions in the Shares or 
underlying Shares in respect of equity derivatives of the Company as recorded in the 
register of substantial shareholders required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO or 
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 
of Part XV of the SFO:

Name
Nature of Interest/
capacity

Number of Shares/
underlying Shares

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
issued Shares

as at 31
December 2020

(Note 1)

Sino-Ocean Interest of controlled 
corporation 
(Notes 3 and 5)

788,515,083 (L)
(Note 4)

124.06%

Shine Wind Development 
Limited (“Shine Wind”)

Interest of controlled 
corporation 
(Notes 3 and 5)

788,515,083 (L)
(Note 4)

124.06%

Faith Ocean International 
Limited (“Faith Ocean”)

Interest of controlled 
corporation 
(Notes 3 and 5)

788,515,083 (L)
(Note 4)

124.06%

Sino-Ocean Land (Hong 
Kong) Limited (“SOL HK”)

Interest of controlled 
corporation 
(Notes 3 and 5)

788,515,083 (L)
(Note 4)

124.06%

Grand Beauty Management 
Limited (“Grand Beauty”)

Beneficial owner 
(Note 3)

157,986,500 (L) 24.86%

Beneficial owner 
(Note 3)

377,166,666 (L)
(Note 2)

59.34%

 
Total:	 535,153,166 (L) 84.20%
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Name
Nature of Interest/
capacity

Number of Shares/
underlying Shares

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
issued Shares

as at 31
December 2020

(Note 1)

Heroic Peace Limited 
(“Heroic Peace”)

Interest of controlled 
corporation (Note 5)

253,361,917 (L) 39.86%

Fortune Joy Ventures 
Limited (“Fortune Joy“)

Interest of controlled 
corporation (Note 5)

253,361,917 (L) 39.86%

Sino-Ocean Capital Holding 
Limited 
(“Sino-Ocean Capital”)

Interest of controlled 
corporation (Note 5)

253,361,917 (L) 39.86%

Oriental Model Limited 
(“Oriental Model”)

Interest of controlled 
corporation (Note 5)

253,361,917 (L) 39.86%

Oceanland Global Investment 
Limited 
(“Oceanland Global”)

Interest of controlled 
corporation (Note 5)

253,361,917 (L) 39.86%

Glory Class Interest of controlled 
corporation (Note 5)

253,361,917 (L) 39.86%

Estate Spring Beneficial owner 
(Note 5)

253,361,917 (L) 39.86%

ZHANG Li Interest of controlled 
corporation (Note 6)

45,139,000 (L) 7.10%

Presstar Beneficial owner 
(Note 6)

45,139,000 (L) 7.10%

WANG Xiao Beneficial owner 1,326,000 (L) 0.21%

Interest of controlled 
corporation (Note 7)

45,139,000 (L) 7.10%

 
Total:	 46,465,000 (L) 7.31%

Trend Best Beneficial owner 
(Note 7)

45,139,000 (L) 7.10%
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Notes:

(1)	 The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2020 (being 635,570,000 Shares) has been used for 
the calculation of the approximate percentage.

(2)	 These Shares represent the 377,166,666 underlying Shares which may be allotted and issued to Grand 
Beauty, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sino-Ocean, upon exercise in full the conversion rights attaching to 
the remaining 754,333,333 convertible preference shares of the Company.

(3)	 Grand Beauty was wholly-owned by SOL HK. SOL HK was wholly-owned by Faith Ocean which was, 
in turn, wholly-owned by Shine Wind. Shine Wind was wholly-owned by Sino-Ocean. In view of their 
respective direct or indirect 100% shareholding interest in Grand Beauty, each of SOL HK, Faith Ocean, 
Shine Wind and Sino-Ocean was deemed under the SFO to be interested in the 535,153,166 Shares in 
which Grand Beauty was interested.

(4)	 These Shares represent (i) the 535,153,166 Shares in which Grand Beauty was interested; and (ii) the 
253,361,917 Shares in which Estate Spring was interested.

(5)	 Estate Spring was wholly-owned by Glory Class. Glory Class was wholly-owned by Oceanland Global, which 
was, in turn, 70% owned by Oriental Model. Oriental Model was wholly-owned by Sino-Ocean Capital. 
Sino-Ocean Capital was wholly-owned by Fortune Joy. Fortune Joy was 49% owned by Heroic Peace, 
which was, in turn, wholly-owned by SOL HK. Please refer to note (3) above for the relationships between 
SOL HK, Faith Ocean, Shine Wind and Sino-Ocean. In view of their respective interests in Estate Spring, 
each of Glory Class, Oceanland Global, Oriental Model, Sino-Ocean Capital, Fortune Joy, Heroic Peace, 
SOL HK, Faith Ocean, Shine Wind and Sino-Ocean was deemed under the SFO to be interested in the 
253,361,917 Shares in which Estate Spring was interested.

(6)	 Presstar is wholly-owned by Mr. ZHANG Li. As such, Mr. ZHANG Li was deemed under the SFO to be 
interested in the 45,139,000 Shares in which Presstar was interested.

(7)	 Trend Best is wholly-owned by Mr. WANG Xiao. As such, Mr. WANG Xiao was deemed under the SFO to 
be interested in the 45,139,000 Shares in which Trend Best was interested.

(8)	 The letter “L” denotes a long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Company had not been notified 
by any persons who had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares in 
respect of equity derivatives of the Company which had been recorded in the register of 
substantial shareholders required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO or which would 
fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of 
the SFO, or who was directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the Shares.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, both the revenue and purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest 
customers and suppliers were less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue and purchases 
respectively.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the management and 
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the Company’s business were 
entered into or existed during the Year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group entered into the following connected transaction that is subject 
to the reporting requirement under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for disclosure in the 
annual report of the Company (of which this Directors’ Report forms part).

The issue of 90,278,000 new ordinary shares by the Company to Estate Spring (a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Glory Class) under the Subscription Agreement entered into between 
the Company and Glory Class on 3 April 2020 (the “Subscription”), as disclosed in 
the subsection headed “New Shares Issuance under Subscription Agreements” under 
the section headed “Share Capital” above, constituted a connected transaction of the 
Company under the Listing Rules.

Glory Class was an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Fortune Joy Ventures Limited 
which was, in turn, 49% indirectly owned by Sino-Ocean. As Grand Beauty was the then 
controlling shareholder of the Company and was also an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary 
of Sino-Ocean, Glory Class was an associate of Grand Beauty and hence a connected 
person of the Company under the Listing Rules. As such, the Subscription constituted a 
connected transaction for the Company and was subject to the announcement, reporting 
and independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules. The Subscription was approved by the independent shareholders of the Company at 
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 19 May 2020.
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The transaction with a shareholder as disclosed in “Related Party Transactions” under 
Note 44 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group constituted connected 
transaction or continuing connected transaction which is exempt from shareholders’ 
approval and disclosure and other requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 
Save for the aforesaid transaction, the other related party transactions shown in Note 
44 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group do not constitute connected 
transactions or continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.

BANK LOANS, OVERDRAFTS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans, overdrafts and other borrowings of the Group are set out in Note 
30 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars regarding the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in Note 46 to 
the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report, the Company has complied with 
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the 
Listing Rules throughout the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S 
LISTED SHARES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed Shares by the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries during the Year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS OF 
THE GROUP

The emolument policy of the senior employees of the Group is set and recommended 
by the remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) to 
the Board on the basis of the employees’ merit, qualifications and competence. The 
emoluments of the Directors are formulated and recommended by the Remuneration 
Committee to the Board, having regards to the Company’s operating results, individual 
performance of the Directors and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an incentive to the Directors and 
eligible employees of the Group, details of which are set out in the section headed “Share 
Option Scheme” above.

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits scheme are set out in Note 40 to the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge 
of the Directors, the Directors confirmed that the Company has maintained a sufficient 
amount of public float for its ordinary shares as required under the Listing Rules as at 
the latest practicable date prior to the issue of the annual report of which this Directors’ 
Report forms part.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 
were audited by BDO Limited, who would retire at the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM 
of the Company, and being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will 
be proposed to the shareholders at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint BDO Limited as 
the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

LAI Kwok Hung, Alex
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 12 March 2021
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About This Report

Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited (“Gemini” or the “Company”, and together 
with its subsidiaries, “We”, “Us”, “Our” or “Our Group”) is pleased to present this 
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report (the “Report”), covering the 
period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 (the “Reporting Period”). This Report 
provides information regarding our approach, commitment as well as accomplishments on 
various ESG aspects covering different material topics, aiming to offer our stakeholders a 
complete picture of our performance in this respect.

The scope of this Report, unless otherwise specified, covers the Group’s five business 
segments, namely, property investment in the U.S., property development in the U.S., 
property investment in Hong Kong, fund investments and securities investment business, 
with operations in Hong Kong, China and the United States of America (the “U.S.”). The 
scope and entities subject to reporting are determined by considering their shares in the 
Group’s revenue, as well as the significance of the operations, with the aim to reflect the 
majority of the Group’s businesses that are deemed ESG material. Compared to last year, 
the scope of the Report has expanded to include new property development projects and 
certain material existing investment properties in the U.S. owned by Gemini-Rosemont 
Realty LLC (“GR Realty”) following the re-classification of the entity (as a joint venture of 
the Group as of 31 July 2020 and a subsidiary thereafter) and the subsequent consolidation 
of its financial results into the Group’s financial statements1. Due to the large number of 
property development projects and investment properties under GR Realty’s management 
which are to be included in the reporting scope for the first time, we are refining the ESG 
data collection and consolidation mechanism to provide an authentic, accurate and holistic 
ESG disclosure. Therefore, ESG data for above mentioned projects and properties are 
not in the scope of this Report and full ESG disclosure is expected to cover starting from 
FY2021.

Regarding reporting standard, this Report is prepared in compliance with the requirements 
set forth in Appendix 27 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide of the 
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(the “Stock Exchange”). This Report, in its preparation, adhered to several principles 
including but not limited to:

Materiality: relevant and important information to stakeholders is covered in this Report. 
Materiality assessment was conducted to assess the relative importance of the ESG topics 
identified.

Quantitative: quantitative information is provided, with narrative and comparative data 
where appropriate, to enable objective assessment of the Group’s ESG performance.

Consistency:  ESG data presented in this Report are prepared using consistent 
methodologies over time, unless otherwise specified (either in text or in footnote).

Balance: this Report aims to provide an unbiased picture of the Company’s ESG 
performance, while avoiding selection, omission or presentation formats that may mislead 
the reader.

1	 For more information regarding the change in classification of GR Realty and consolidation method, please 
visit https://www1.hkexnews.hk/listedco/listconews/sehk/2020/0731/2020073100498.pdf
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ESG Aspiration

We recognise the importance of ESG issues to our business operations, and aspire to 
continuously enhance our operating efficiency with prudent policies and initiatives, so as to 
make our business sustainable. With strong determination, we expect to gradually improve 
our overall ESG performance and exert greater positive influence to the community. In 
particular, to achieve our ESG aspiration, we focus on being a responsible service supplier, 
responsible employer and responsible corporate citizen:

Responsible  
service supplier  
who puts customers’ 
interests at heart of its 
business 

Responsible  
employer 
who cares for its 
employees’ wellbeing and 
development

Responsible  
corporate citizen  
who protects the 
environment and strives to 
improve social harmony

ESG Governance

We are committed to fulfilling stakeholders’ expectations on our ESG performance, with 
sufficient and appropriate policies and initiatives implemented throughout our operations. 
The chart below shows our ESG governance structure.

The Board
Formulates ESG strategies, determines ESG risks, ensures effective  

risk management and internal control systems

ESG Working Group
Executes ESG strategies, monitors ESG-related risks and internal controls;

Incorporates ESG elements to business operations

Accounting & Other Departments
Facilitate ESG reporting process, collect and report information

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) is responsible for our ESG strategy 
and reporting including evaluating and determining our ESG-related risks and ensuring 
that appropriate and effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are in 
place. Chaired by an executive director and comprising heads of different key operation 
departments, the ESG Working Group executes the ESG strategies and practices 
determined by the Board, as well as directly monitors ESG-related risks and internal 
controls. In addition, it is responsible for incorporating ESG elements into our business 
operations. The ESG Working Group reports to the Board regularly on ESG issues, including 
ESG policies, practices and performance, for the Board to review and make adjustments 
on the Group’s ESG strategies accordingly. Meanwhile, the accounting department of the 
Company works closely with other relevant departments to facilitate the ESG reporting 
process. Both the Board and the ESG Working Group have to review the ESG Report so as 
to ascertain the information disclosed in the ESG Report.



Annual Report 2020     Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited 43

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

As part of the Company’s enterprise risk management, a professional adviser has been 
engaged to assist in identifying and prioritising key business and operational risks (including 
ESG-related risks) in terms of their vulnerability and impact, risk owners are assigned 
and risk mitigation plans are designed accordingly to ensure effective risk management. 
The professional adviser will also conduct annual assessment of our Group’s internal 
controls so as to identify potential control deficiencies. The adviser will make improvement 
recommendations where necessary. Our Management has provided a confirmation to the 
Board on the effectiveness of our risk management and internal control systems.

Stakeholder Engagement

In order to achieve our ESG aspiration, it is essential for us to truly understand our 
stakeholders’ concerns and expectations, and act accordingly in response. We have 
been constantly engaging our stakeholders, to receive feedback, reflect on it and provide 
updates. Both internal and external stakeholders are involved continuously throughout 
our day-to-day operations, with various channels deemed effective. The table below 
summarises our major stakeholder groups that the Management considers will affect or 
will be impacted by the Company’s ESG issues, and respective engagement channels:

Stakeholder Groups Engagement Channels

Employees •	 Internal Emails and Publications
•	 Meetings and Briefings
•	 Training
•	 Employee Activities
•	 Performance Appraisal

Clients •	 Corporate Website
•	 Client Meetings

Investors and Stockholders •	 Annual General Meeting
•	 Annual and Interim Report
•	 Press Release and Announcements

Suppliers and Business Partners •	 Business Meetings

Government and Supervising Authorities •	 Email and Phone Communications

Social Groups and Public •	 Email and Phone Communications

Media •	 Press Release

Stakeholder engagement is an enduring process, we wil l continue to involve our 
stakeholders in the future. Meanwhile, it is believed that this Report serves as a valuable 
channel for us to address our stakeholders’ concerns regarding our ESG and sustainability 
related practices.
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Materiality Assessment

To determine the relative importance of different ESG issues related to our business 
operations, for reporting and strategy formulation purposes, we have conducted a 
materiality assessment exercise. The below chart shows the process of such assessment:

Issue Identification
Screen out the initial issues with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide 
of the Stock Exchange as well as input obtained during day-to-day 
communications with stakeholders

1

Stakeholders Questionnaire 
Understand and analyse the issues of concern to stakeholders via 
questionnaires and interviews

2

Materiality Ranking
Prepare the ESG materiality ranking based on the results of the 
questionnaire

3

Verification
Confirm the material issues after verification by management and an 
external consultant

4

A total of 30 material issues were identified. Both internal and external stakeholders 
were then invited to complete a questionnaire for ranking the issues. The results are 
mapped into a materiality matrix shown below. Out of which 9 issues are classified as 
highly important, with a majority of them related to our aspiration of being a responsible 
employer; 14 issues are classified as important and the remaining 7 as partially important. 
The issue ‘Biodiversity’ is excluded from reporting due to immateriality after review by 
management.

Compared to previous year, there were changes in the relative importance of certain ESG 
issues. Please see below for details:

Upgrade To Highly Important
#2	 Promotion and Compensation
#12	 Advertising and Labelling
#15	 Environmental and Social Practices of Suppliers/ Contractors

Downgrade To Important To Partially Important
#3	 Working Hours and Holiday #18	 Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emission
#10	 Product Safety
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Materiality Matrix

Importance to Internal Stakeholders 
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Material Issues   

Responsible Employer Responsible Service Supplier Responsible Corporate Citizen

1	 Recruitment and 
Dismissal

2	 Promotion and 
Compensation

3	 Working Hours and 
Holiday

4	 Employee Benefits and 
Welfare

5	 Equal Opportunity and 
Anti-discrimination

6	 Diversity
7	 Occupational Health and 

Safety
8	 Development and 

Training
9	 Anti-Child and Forced 

Labour

10	 Product Safety
11	 Service Quality
12	 Advertising and Labelling
13	 Customer Data Privacy
14	 Supply Chain 

Management
15	 Environmental and Social 

Practices of Suppliers/ 
Contractors

16	 Air Emission
17	 Sewage
18	 Greenhouse Gas 

(“GHG”) Emission
19	 Hazardous Waste
20	 Non-hazardous Waste
21	 Use of Energy
22	 Use of Water Resources
23	 Climate Change
24	 Green Building
25	 Environmental Impact
26	 Biodiversity
27	 Noise Pollution
28	 Compliance
29	 Anti-corruption, Fraud 

and Money Laundering
30	 Community Investment
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Responsible Employer

We aspire to be the choice of employer to our employees, both existing and potential. We 
recognise them as our valuable assets as we rely upon them to provide quality services 
and products. Thus, we take strong care of their wellbeing both at work and off work, to 
ensure that they have the required resources to perform their duties while maintaining a 
healthy balance with other aspects of life.

Occupational Health and Safety

We are committed to providing and maintaining a healthy, safe, and hygienic workplace 
for all employees and related parties that are likely to be affected by our operations and 
activities. Health and safety issues are given prime consideration in our operations, and 
regulatory compliance is strongly upheld. Employees at every level are committed to and 
accountable for the delivery of the safety initiatives in order to maintain a vigorous and 
injury-free environment. Such standards are set forth in our employee handbook, and are in 
compliance with the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) of Hong Kong. 
Measures set forth in these guidelines are constantly reviewed and taken to continuously 
improve the health and safety conditions in the workplace.

In parallel, we take the same precautions for our business 
operations in the U.S. We recognise the relatively higher 
health and safety risks at construction site of property 
development project, and adopt necessary measures 
to mitigate the risks. When screening for construction 
manager, track record in worker safety and effectiveness 
of in-house safety programs are examined carefully. 
Those with unsatisfactory performance in this regard will 
be viewed negatively. As such, the construction manager 
we have appointed has excel lent t rack records in 
providing safe job sites in full compliance with the New 
York City (“NYC”) Building Code and Safety regulations, 
as well as the NYC Building Code Chapter 33 “Safeguards 
During Construction or Demolition” and Occupational 
Safety and Health Act (“OSHA”) Regulations (Standards 
— 29CFR).

Our construction manager 
has built its environmental, 
health & safety program 
covering

	 Health & Safety Policy 

	 Standards of conduct

	 Substance abuse test

	 Crisis management

	 Hazard communication

Furthermore, during construction phase, we assign designated site safety personnel to 
support implementation of safety work practices and perform regular on site monitoring. 
Meanwhile, we have purchased our own supply of hard hats, googles, and gloves to 
ensure that all staff have the appropriate and required protective equipment when visiting 
construction site. In addition, regular trainings are provided to onsite personnel to ensure 
familiarity of the processes and procedures and full compliance with the aforementioned 
regulations.

While the operations of our investment properties in the U.S. incur lower health and safety 
risks, we focus on providing proper safety training and equipment, safe working conditions 
and access to resources to maintain and improve employee’s wellbeing. Through clear 
expectations, ongoing education, communication, and engagement, we reduce the number 
of injuries and accidents that happen in our workplace.
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There was an accident noted in relation to health and safety measures during the 
Reporting Period. The instance was related to our property development project in the 
U.S., where a large glass curtain wall panel was crimped during the installation due to 
a miscommunication between the crane operator and the setter. No injury was caused 
and the issue was reported to the NYC Department of Buildings immediately. Remedial 
work plan had been submitted to the NYC Department of Buildings and the construction 
site was allowed to resume operations in two days, with a fine of US$10,000 imposed. 
We had flagged the issue with our construction manager and requested resolution by the 
subcontractor immediately. The subcontractor created a new sequence of procedures that 
was reviewed and approved by the NYC Department of Buildings Inspector before allowing 
work to continue. The new work procedure requires a fully independent foreman/radio 
operator to give instructions to the crane operator during the operation. The foreman/radio 
operator is not allowed to be involved in the manoeuvring of the glass panels, thereby 
reducing the chance of miscommunication. There was no non-compliance cases noted 
during the Reporting Period other than the aforementioned case.

Compensation, Recruitment, Promotion, and Termination

We recognise our employees as our valuable assets. We constantly strive to attract 
and retain talents, and reconcile economical imperatives with employee wellbeing so 
as to reinforce satisfaction, loyalty and commitment towards our human capital. We 
have developed a human resource policy as part of our employee handbook to govern 
compensation, dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, equal opportunity, 
diversity, anti-discrimination and other welfare benefits in accordance with respective laws 
and regulations.

The level of compensation of our employees is reviewed annually on a performance basis 
with reference to their qualifications, performance and experience, meanwhile subjecting 
to market standards and legal requirements. Such mechanism ensures employees are 
rewarded fairly according to their capabilities and external conditions. We strictly abide to 
relevant employment rules and regulations stipulated in the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 
57) and Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282) of Hong Kong, as well as the Fair 
Labour Standards Act of the U.S., and such policies are also highlighted in our employee 
handbook. Working hours, leaves, remuneration and other employment practices are 
reviewed regularly to ensure compliance with latest labour laws and regulations and the 
norms of the markets where our Group operates.
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Compensation Determination Mechanism

Performance

Qualification

Experience

Internal Factor

Market Standards

Legal Requirements

External Factor

Compensation

Result

For our property development projects in the U.S., our subsidiary has entered into a 
management agreement as the property owner (“Owner”) with an agent (“Owner’s 
Agent”), where the Owner’s Agent retains staff as necessary for the efficient running of 
the projects, subject to the approval of the Owner.
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of 155 employees employed in Hong 
Kong and the U.S., in which 125 employees were employed under GR Realty. As for the 
employee data of GR Realty, we are in progress of establishing data collection mechanism, 
which the data are expected to be included in the report from FY2021. Detail breakdown 
of the total workforce excluding GR Realty’s operation as below:

Total Workforce (excluding GR Realty)

Gender

47%

53%

Male Female

Age

23%

10%

67%

Below 30 30-50 Over 50

Employment Type

3%

97%

Full-time Part-time

Geographical Region

10%

90%

the U.S. Hong Kong

During the Reporting Period, total employee turnover was 3, of which 2 are female 1, is 
male and all are within the age range of 30-50.

Development and Training

We acknowledge the importance of training for the personal and professional development 
of our employees, as well as to maintaining and improving our Group’s operations. 
Therefore, we strongly encourage and support our employees by sponsoring training 
programmes, seminars, workshops and conferences, regular sharing sessions, peer 
learning, and on-the-job coaching. We expect that through these activities, our employees 
will acquire valuable knowledge and skills. We also provide reimbursement for certain 
external training courses which aim at enhancing their competencies in performing their 
jobs more effectively and efficiently. We believe this is a mutually beneficial practice for 
achieving both their personal goals and our corporate goals.

In terms of our property development in the U.S., ample time has been dedicated to 
ensure that relevant personnel of the GR Realty office have the proper certifications 
and trainings required to enter the job site. All relevant personnel are required to hold 
the OSHA 10 Hour Safety Training certificate in order to be eligible for new building 
construction works. In addition, construction agent has set the goal to require key 
personnel to obtain the OSHA 40 Hour Safety Training certificate.
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For our investment properties operations in the U.S., we deploy the Yardi Learning system 
named GR University to deliver work safety and business related coursework, with the 
aim to nurture leaders with strong business acumen who can consistently perform at a 
high level and effectively coach, teach and train others. Meanwhile, web based training 
sessions are also offered on areas such as employee benefits, goal planning, safety and 
anti-discrimination.
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Employee Benefits, Welfare, Working Hours and Holiday

We provide various 
benefits to our 

employees including

We appreciate the contributions of our employees to 
the Group’s business development and are committed 
to improving their welfare in return. On top of basic 
monthly salary, a wide range of benefits are provided to 
employees as part of the employee benefits package, 
which are tailored to cater the needs of employees in 
different operational regions.

We have a lso been fu l ly in compl iance with each 
domestic regulation allowing eligible employees leaves of 
absence for medical reasons or their beloved family who 
is under serious health condition. We do not require and 
encourage employees to work excessive overtime as we 
advocate work-life balance. We also offer the paid time 
off program, which increases flexibility in managing time 
off.

Meanwh i le ,  o the r  f r i nge benef i t s  i nc lud ing mea l 
s u b s i d i e s ,  t r a v e l l i n g  a l l o w a n c e s ,  m e d i c a l  a n d 
compensat ion work in ju ry insurance and pens ion 
schemes are offered for all employees. We also offer 
early release for staff on major festivals, allowing them 
to spend time with their beloved family and friends. The 
degree and content may vary across different operational 
regions with reference to its culture and value.

Meal subsidies	

Travel allowance	

Insurance policy	

Paid time off program	

Furthermore, we understand the importance of maintaining work-life balance to both the 
mental and physical health for our employees. As such, social and recreational activities 
are regularly arranged for them, with an aim to relieve their pressure at work. In the 
long term, it will also enhance their productivity and efficiency, making our operations 
more sustainable. With this in mind, we organise engagement activities such as festival 
luncheon and dinner to keep our employees in touch after work regardless of department, 
team and seniority. However, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, as a responsible employer, 
we cancelled large group activities to prevent our employees from crowded infection.

Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-Discrimination

We believe cultural and individual diversity fosters innovation and enhances productivity. 
Thus, we strongly advocate cultural diversity, value and respect individual differences. 
We aim at creating an inclusive workplace by adopting non-discriminatory hiring and 
employment practices, with the principle that no one should be treated less favourably 
because of their personal characteristics, including but not limited to gender, pregnancy, 
marital status, disability, family status and race. Opportunities for employment, training, 
and career development are equally opened to all qualified employees, where they are 
assessed by experienced personnel through objective criteria.
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Any forms of discrimination and harassment by any of our employees are strictly forbidden 
regardless of their seniority, as explicitly stated in our employee handbook. We take 
complaints in this regard seriously and will initiate investigation accordingly; employees 
found to have engaged in such unethical acts are subject to disciplinary actions. To ensure 
complaints are being dealt fairly, consistently and efficiently, we have established a 
dispute resolution procedure for resolving complaints alleging discriminatory practices in 
employment relations.

By adopting the above practices, we comply with, in all material respects, the following 
ordinances and the relevant codes of practice issued by the Equal Opportunities 
Commission of Hong Kong: Sex Discr iminat ion Ordinance (Cap. 480), Disabi l i ty 
Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487), Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527), 
and Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602). In relation to our operations in the U.S., we 
are aligned with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act, under which employees could 
seek extra accommodation of needs with their respective supervisors.

There were no non-compliance cases noted in relation to employment laws and regulations 
during the Reporting Period.

Anti-child and Forced Labour

We prohibit the use of any child and forced labour in any of our operations and services. 
Labour being forced to work by means of physical punishment, abuse, involuntary 
servitude, peonage or trafficking is strictly forbidden. Children who are below the legal 
working age as set by the local Labour Law should not be employed. We also avoid 
engaging vendors of administrative supplies and services, especially contractors, that 
are known to employ child or forced labour in their operations. In the construction 
management agreement with our construction manager for our property development 
projects in the U.S., there contains specific language subjecting the agreement to be 
governed by the laws of the State of New York, providing an extra safeguard against the 
use of child or forced labour by contractors. In case such unethical labour practices are 
discovered, we require immediate corrective actions including dismissal of such labour 
with appropriate compensations.

With the above measures, we ensure strict compliance with the Labour Law in Hong 
Kong and Federal Fair Labour Standards Act (FLSA) monitored by the U.S. Department 
of Labour. Meanwhile, we regularly review our employment practices to ensure effective 
control measures are in place (e.g. identity and age verification process) to prevent child 
and forced labour.

There were no non-compliance cases noted in relation to labour standards laws and 
regulations during the Reporting Period.
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COVID-19 Pandemic

The outbreak of COVID-19 throughout the year of 2020 has created a serious global public 
health crisis and caused significant disruption to economic activities worldwide. As a 
responsible employer, we have taken various measures to safeguard the health and safety 
of our employees. For instance, we advised employees to work remotely as possible; 
increased cleaning frequency at our office premises and reconfigured office workstations 
to maintain social distancing; provided face masks, hand sanitiser and sanitising wipes 
to employees; and established procedures for tracking employees’ health status and risk 
exposure. Same attention has also been devoted to construction workers, in which our 
construction manager has established formal plan to communicate the responsibilities 
of site managers, supervisors and personnel explicitly, as well as implemented various 
precaution measures at construction site including temperature check and physical 
distancing. While COVID-19 is expected to remain in place in the near future, we will 
continue to monitor the situation and take necessary actions to protect our employees.

Responsible Service Supplier

We aspire to be the trusted service supplier of our customers and generate long-lasting 
value for them, customer satisfaction is one of the main assessment criteria when we 
evaluate our performance. Thus, we endeavour to act in a responsible manner when 
dealing with our clients, both existing and prospective, and when producing products and 
services. We are determined to treat our customers fairly, with fairly produced products 
and services.

During the Reporting Period, there were no non-compliance cases noted in relation to 
product and service responsibilities. Our practices on customer data privacy, product 
safety and service quality, advertising and labelling, as well as intellectual property right 
were strictly compliant with all relevant local laws and regulations.

Customer Data Privacy

We respect data privacy of our customers and take responsibilities in protecting our 
customers, both existing and prospective, in this respect. In our business operations, 
we maintain a high standard of security and confidentiality in handling the sensitive 
information we receive and possess, including but not limited to personal data and bank 
account information. With great prudence, we ensure strict compliance with relevant data 
privacy laws and regulations, such as the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486) 
in Hong Kong, as well as statutory requirements of the U.S. such as the Federal Trade 
Commission Act (15 U.S.C., 41-58).
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To provide our employees with clear instructions and support them on customer data 
protection matter, we have established relevant policies and procedures on data collection, 
data usage, data transfer and data security, with fundamental principles as follows:

Data Collection
Collect customer 
data only when 
necessary for 
conducting 
business

Data Usage
Use customer 
data only for 
the purpose of 
collection unless 
new consent is 
obtained 

Data Transfer
Prohibit transfer 
or disclosure of 
customer data 
to other parties 
unless required 
by law or was 
previously notified

Data Security
Maintain 
appropriate 
security systems 
and measures 
to prevent 
unauthorised 
access

Further, within our Group, access right to customer data is defined by departments, 
positions and projects, to ensure only relevant personnel can access to sensitive customer 
information.

Product Safety and Service Quality

We are committed to providing customers with quality products and services. We aim at 
building good corporate reputation by delivering high quality property projects which bring 
a comfortable living environment and satisfaction to our customers, thereby developing 
customer loyalty. In light of that, we have established a set of quality standards to govern 
different aspects of construction work including the construction work procedures, 
construction materials and quality of finished components. We are especially concerned 
with product safety issues of our properties, and we take responsibilities to ensure they 
are in good conditions before delivery to customers. Property development projects that 
fail to meet the standards will not be accepted by the Group. On top of strict enforcement, 
these standards have also been regularly reviewed to maintain awareness and conformance 
to national and local laws as well as voluntary codes. As for our investment properties in 
the U.S., we perform regular inspection and maintenance of building equipment including 
lifts, lighting and fire extinguishers to ensure they are operating safely and effectively. 
Periodic fire drills are also conducted to enhance the familiarity with emergency policy and 
procedures of property workers and tenants.

Advertising and Labelling

We believe customer loyalty is the basis of long-term success of a corporate, where 
such loyalty is built through continuous, sincere and truthful interaction. Therefore, we 
adopt ethical sales and marketing practices with customers’ interest at heart of the whole 
process. All information on our advertisements and labelling is reviewed before publication 
to ensure no false or misleading information is included. We strictly comply with relevant 
regulations and standards in this respect, and also require all of our property development 
agents to be compliant during the stage of property sales. Such regulations related to 
property sales include but not limited to the Regulations Governing Real Estate Syndication 
Offerings, Conversion of Occupied Residential Property to Cooperative Ownership, Newly 
Constructed, Vacant or Non-Residential Condominiums and Newly Constructed and Vacant 
Cooperatives (Part 16, and 20 of Title 13 New York Codes, Rules and Regulations).
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Intellectual Property Rights

We respect intellectual property rights. At corporate level, to protect our Group from 
potential harms due to abuse of intellectual property rights by other parties, we have 
registered our trademarks in different regions. Specific to our property development 
project, our agent has carefully negotiated with architects for an irrevocable license to use 
their design, including any elements and images. Meanwhile, we require our employees in 
all departments to avoid breaching intellectual property rights while performing job duties, 
for instance, when drafting documents.

Supply Chain Management

We encourage asset managers, suppliers, consultants and contractors alike to maintain 
high standards on business ethics and conduct, and strive for constant satisfactory 
environmental and social performance. During the selection and evaluation processes, we 
adopt a fair basis with defined assessment criteria to ensure that only qualified suppliers, 
consultants and contractors are engaged with no conflict of interest. Such high standard 
is also extended to management of our subcontractors, where our construction manager 
(representing our stake) for the property development project in the U.S. has been involved 
in the process of subcontractor selection, initiated by our construction manager, at various 
points to ensure quality and efficiency.

Environmental and Social Performance of Suppliers

Further to product quality and pricing, ESG performance is one of the main evaluation 
criteria throughout our engagement with suppliers. Before initiating contractual relationship 
with suppliers, we evaluate their ESG performance. Using our property development 
project as an example, our construction manager has aligned with our values on ESG and 
established the environmental, health and safety program covering different environment 
and safety protocols including health and safety policy, standards of conduct and project 
site substance abuse test etc., to ensure construction work is carried out properly with 
satisfactory ESG performance. After completion of contract and delivery of products and 
services, we also take into account the ESG performance of suppliers for consideration of 
future cooperation opportunities. Such practices allow us to engage with environmentally 
and socially responsible suppliers. For instance, our construction manager has developed 
an environmental management plan to monitor waste, water quality, air quality and other 
related environmental controls set upon to its respective subcontractors.

With the mechanism stated above regarding supply chain management, we are confident 
in producing quality products and services in a responsible manner. We will continue to 
improve and extend our supply chain management practices for the purpose of effectively 
addressing environmental and social risks.
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Responsible Corporate Citizen

We aspire to be a responsible corporate citizen in the community where we operate. While 
we have the mandate to generate profits for our stockholders, we also aim at providing 
positive values to community members so to achieve inclusive growth. As such, we 
endeavour to protect the environment, and support the social and economic development 
of our community.

Emissions

In accordance with the Group’s business segments, we do not have direct and significant 
air emissions and discharges into water, besides the greenhouse gases emissions and 
solid wastes (which will be addressed in the subsequent section) generated in our office 
and investment properties.

Regarding our property development projects in the U.S., they were at different stages 
ranging from demolition to early construction. While one of the major concerns is dust 
migration, various control measures have been adopted including the covering of trash 
removal vehicles, proper storage of dust generating materials and use of water sprinkler 
system to reduce blowing dust. As for water discharges, the foundations subcontractor 
employed a holding tank to treat and recycle water on site, in order to prevent site 
groundwater from being pumped into the city sewer system. As the construction works 
are outsourced to professional contractors, our group has no direct control on the 
construction works and thus the emission data from construction activities are not included 
in the scope of this Report.

The total greenhouse gases generated by the Group during the Reporting Period, mainly 
comprising of our electricity used by offices, and petrol consumption for commuting 
purposes, were as below:

Greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emission1 (excluding GR Realty)
(in tonnes CO2e) 2020 2019

Direct (Scope 1) Emissions 8.1 8.0
Direct (Scope 1) Emissions Intensity by Headcount2 0.3 0.3
Indirect (Scope 2) Emissions 27.8 27.8
Indirect (Scope 2) Emissions Intensity by Headcount 0.9 1.1
Other Indirect (Scope 3) Emissions 276.6 245.4
Other Indirect (Scope 3) Emissions Intensity by Headcount 9.2 9.4

1	 Carbon emissions are calculated with reference to the “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued 
by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, the emission factor published by the electricity provider as well 
as the “UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company Reporting” issued by the Department for 
Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy of the United Kingdom.

2	 Unless otherwise specified, intensity in this ESG Report represents the average amount of emission 
generated/ energy consumed per headcount.
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Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions were mainly resulted from the consumption of petrol by 
vehicle. Indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions were mainly resulted from the consumption of 
electricity. Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions were mainly resulted from construction 
waste generated by the contractors, with use of paper having a tiny amount contribution. 
Both Scope 2 and Scope 3 GHG emissions’ intensity demonstrated a decrease, which 
testified the Group’s efforts in reducing GHG.

Despite having only minimal direct emissions, our Group strives to reduce the greenhouse 
gases generated from our operations so as to relieve the climate change. Our Hong Kong 
operations are monitored under the controls of the Environment Bureau, while our U.S. 
operations are fully aligned with the monitoring under the U.S. Environmental Protection 
Agency. In line with the Group’s stance in this respect, our construction manager has 
implemented different measures as mentioned above to ensure full compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations including the NYC Building Code.

Wastes

We uphold the principles of waste management. Practices established for proper handling 
and disposal of all wastes from our business activities comply with relevant laws and 
regulations, such as the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354) of Hong Kong and the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA) Regulations of the U.S. in handling  
non-hazardous waste, in all material respects. There were no non-compliance cases noted 
in relation to environmental laws and regulations for the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, the major non-hazardous waste generated directly by the 
Group was paper. Whereas a limited amount of hazardous wastes, including batteries, 
fluorescence tubes and wastes from electronic and electrical equipment, were produced 
by our offices, and thus disclosure is considered unnecessary. Total non-hazardous wastes 
disposed and recycled were shown as below:

Office Non-hazardous Waste (in kg) (excluding GR Realty) 2020 2019

Total Disposal1 70 274
Total Recycling 293 320

1	 The purchase quantity, excluding the amount recycled, of the above item by our Group during the Reporting 
Period is considered as the amount disposed.

Significant decrease in disposal of non-hazardous waste was seen during the Reporting 
Period due to the lower office resources usage under the flexible working arrangement, 
and total amount of non-hazardous waste recycled was thus also reduced.

We will continue to reduce, reuse and recycle throughout our operations to minimise the 
disposal of wastes to the landfill. Green office practices such as encouraging double-
sided printing and copying and promoting the use of recycled papers are implemented to 
minimise the disposal of wastes. In addition, appropriate facilities such as recycling bins 
are provided in our offices to facilitate source separation and waste recycling. For our 
office in Manhattan co-working space, administrative wastes are limited through leveraging 
on pooled resources, such as shared printers and other common facilities, and use of 
recycled paper, metal and plastics. As for our investment properties in the U.S., we also 
recycle lamp and batteries where possible.
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Regarding our property development projects in the U.S., major construction wastes 
generated during the Reporting Period were card board, masonry, timber, gypsum, metal 
and other residual trash. Our construction manager has implemented a construction 
waste program to reduce and segregate wastes during the construction process, with 
most of the wastes diverted from landfill. Details of construction wastes produced by the 
contractors during the Reporting Period are shown below:

Property Development Project in the U.S. (excluding GR Realty)
Construction Waste (in tonnes) 2020 2019

Card Board 45 N/A
Masonry 57 N/A
Timber 266 161
Gypsum 48 N/A
Metal 39 12
Residual Trash 20 N/A
Earth N/A 6,298
Concrete N/A 188
Debris N/A 56

As the construction work progresses, certain demolition wastes such as earth, concrete 
and debris were no longer generated from the site.

In addition, in compliance with the requirements by the Resource Conservation and 
Recovery Act (RCRA) Regulations of the U.S. in handling non-hazardous waste, we will hire 
soil engineer consultant to test and characterise all soil being removed from the project 
site during the excavation and foundations period. The consultant will establish a plan for 
the removal of soil from the project that complies with all City, State and Federal laws.

Use of Resources

We recognise the scarcity of resources and we are committed to conserve resources for 
environmental and operating efficiency purposes. We have implemented multiple measures 
to enhance energy efficiency, minimise the use of papers, reduce water consumption and 
drive behavioural changes of employees. Through actively monitoring and managing the 
use of resources, we aim to reduce our operating costs as well as our carbon footprints. 
Use of packaging materials is not relevant to our businesses, while details of energy and 
water consumptions will be discussed below.

During the Reporting Period, the types of energy we consumed directly for operations 
were mainly electricity and petrol:

Electricity (in kWh) (excluding GR Realty) 2020 2019

Consumption 34,345 34,762
Consumption Intensity by Headcount 1,145 1,337
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Total electricity consumption across the Group in 2020 was 34,345 kWh which was 
comparable with the consumption in year 2019. The decrease in electricity intensity 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the current energy efficiency initiatives. As for our 
property development projects in the U.S., since we have no direct control over the 
consumption of electricity used for construction by the contractors, relevant data are not 
in the scope of this Report.

Fuel (excluding GR Realty) 2020 2019

Petrol Consumption (litre) 2,998 2,966
Petrol Consumption Intensity by Headcount (litre) 100 114

Consumption of petrol in 2020 was 2,998 l itre, which was comparable with the 
consumption in year 2019. Such petrol consumption was contributed by vehicle usage of 
Hong Kong office. The decrease in petrol consumption intensity was attributable to the 
reduced usage of vehicles, which aligns with the Group’s avocation of green operation. As 
for other fuels, while our property development project in the U.S. did use gasoline and 
diesel powered generators, vehicles and machinery, since construction work was planned 
and carried out by construction manager, we have no direct control over the consumption 
of these fuels during construction and thus relevant data are not in the scope of this 
Report.

Our Group has executed various initiatives throughout our operations. For offices in Hong 
Kong, we have implemented policy on switching off idle lightings and electrical appliances, 
as well as deploying energy efficient devices which carry Energy Label issued by the 
Electrical and Mechanical Services Department. These initiatives successfully reduced 
electricity consumption from our business activities. For our investment properties in 
the U.S., we have replaced inefficient incandescent and fluorescent lighting with LED 
lighting, installed occupancy sensors and day-light harvesting ballasts to reduce electricity 
consumption. In addition, we sought to limit energy use during the construction period 
through deploying low energy-use LED fixtures for temporary lightings as possible. We 
have sought to design new buildings that will conserve energy through its lifecycle in 
meeting the requirements of the 2016 Energy Conservation Code.

Regarding the use of water, while our offices in Hong Kong and the U.S. incurred water 
consumption, the amount of which could be considered immaterial due to limited number 
of staff and the nature of our Group’s businesses. Further, as we operate in office 
premises of which both of the water supply and discharge are solely controlled by the 
building management of the office premises, it is considered that provision of water 
withdrawal and discharge data or sub-meter for individual occupant not feasible. However, 
in order to build the awareness on water conservation, our Group promotes water saving 
practices in the workplace. We encourage employees to reduce water use by placing 
reminder signs in the pantry as well as toilets. We also advocate reuse of water for  
non-edible purposes, for example, watering plants with the same water used for washing 
produce, collecting used water for floor cleaning, etc. These endeavours have achieved 
satisfactory results in water conservation. Meanwhile, the same set of measures applies 
to our U.S. operations which meet the requirement of the Plumbing and NYC Water 
Conservation Code. As for our property development projects in the U.S., since we have 
no direct control over the consumption of water used for construction by the contractors, 
relevant data are not in the scope of this Report.
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Environmental Impact

As an ongoing commitment to good corporate citizenship, we recognise the responsibility 
in minimising the negative environmental impact of our business operations and our 
investment portfolio, in order to achieve a sustainable development for generating long-term 
values to our stakeholders and community as a whole.

We regularly assess the environmental risks of our business, review the environmental 
practices and adopt preventive measures as necessary to reduce the risks. For our U.S. 
operations, we have also required our contractors and subcontractors to implement the 
following policies in managing the impacts to the environment for the following factors:

Noise: All construction activities are required to be performed during normal day time 
work hours (generally 7am to 5pm), in compliance with all the laws and ordinances 
of the NYC Construction Code. In event of construction activities needed outside of 
normal work hours, the construction manager will request for permit (After Hours 
Variance Permit) from the NYC Building Department and provide noise mitigation plan 
accordingly.

Safety: Temporary lights are also provided at all locations of the sidewalk bridging to 
ensure sufficient lighting.

Coordination with NYC Agencies: the Owner’s Agent consults extensively with all 
City Agencies and requires all contractors to meet all agency requirements throughout 
the construction period.

Construction Pollution: The potential for construction pollution to the immediately 
adjacent sites and streets via dust, mud and debris is a noted concern. Our construction 
manager is required to fully address these issues, maintain a clean work site and 
meet all the requirements of the NYC Building Code which delineates requirements in 
specific details.

Climate Change

We recognise that climate change poses risks to our business operations, especially 
for our property development projects and investment properties in the U.S.. Specific 
risks include potential flooding events, storm/high wind events and potential loss of 
electrical power. Each of these events has the potential for property damage, and injury 
to construction workers or the public. Measures to mitigate these risks are implemented 
in different phases of project development including building design, construction work 
planning and during construction to protect the properties and construction workers. For 
instance, to mitigate the potential impact of flooding, all new construction projects are 
designed to be above the flood plane; in response to potential storms/high wind events, 
façade engineers are hired to document project requirements for the façade of the building 
including wind loads and pressures.
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Anti-Corruption, Fraud and Money Laundering

We aim to maintain the highest standards of openness, uprightness and accountability, 
and such high standards of ethical, personal and professional conduct are reflected upon 
all our employees. We do not tolerate corruption, bribery, extortion, money-laundering and 
other fraudulent activities in connection with any of our business operations. These are 
strictly enforced in our employee handbook, and in full compliance with the Prevention 
of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201) enforced by the Hong Kong Independent Commission 
Against Corruption in Hong Kong, and with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act in the U.S.. 
Established control, such as a whistle-blowing mechanism, is in place as a private and 
confidential communication channel for external and internal parties to report suspicious 
fraudulent actions to the our management directly. Ongoing review of the effectiveness of 
the internal control systems is conducted on a regular basis in preventing the occurrence 
of corruption activities.

There were no non-compliance cases noted in relation to corruption-related laws and 
regulations during the Reporting Period.

Community Investment

As a responsible corporate cit izen, we promote social contributions to the local 
communities in which we operate. We pride ourselves as industry players that contribute 
positively to the local community. We place great emphasis on cultivating social 
responsibility awareness among our staff and encouraging them to better serve our 
community at work and during their personal time. We will continuously support our 
employees to organise and participate in charitable activities that align with our core 
values.

In addition, we fully support our employees in fulfilling civic responsibilities and social 
obligations through serving jury duty and witness duty when required. Employees are 
also encouraged to participate in voting and polling in expressing their political interests 
and views. Further, we have been involved in cultural preservation. During the demolition 
stage of our property development project in the U.S., the Owner’s Agent had engaged 
with preservation contractors in the preservation of a piece of historic artwork that 
was originally part of the area slated for demolition. The preserved art piece was later 
transferred for permanent preservation. We will continue to identify positive ways to 
engage the community. As a convention, we participate in the annual community service 
day every year. However, due to the outbreak of COVID-19, we have placed the event on 
hold for this year.
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Content Index for HKEX ESG Reporting Guide

General Disclosures 
and KPIs

Reference
(Page Number)

Remarks

Environmental

Aspect A1: Emissions

General Disclosure Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

KPI A1.1 Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

KPI A1.2 Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

KPI A1.3 N/A No significant hazardous waste 
produced

KPI A1.4 Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

KPI A1.5 Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

KPI A1.6 Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

General Disclosure Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

KPI A2.1 Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

KPI A2.2 N/A Refer to explanation given in 
section Responsible Corporate 
Citizen (56-61)

KPI A2.3 Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

KPI A2.4 Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

KPI A2.5 N/A Packaging material used is an 
immaterial issue to the Group

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

General Disclosure Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

KPI A3.1 Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

Aspect A4: Climate Change

General Disclosure Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

KPI A4.1 Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

Social

Aspect B1: Employment

General Disclosure Responsible Employer (46-53)

KPI B1.1 Responsible Employer (46-53)

KPI B1.2 Responsible Employer (46-53)

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

General Disclosure Responsible Employer (46-53)

KPI B2.1 N/A No such case concluded or 
noted during Reporting Period

KPI B2.2 N/A No such case concluded or 
noted during Reporting Period

KPI B2.3 Responsible Employer (46-53)
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General Disclosures 
and KPIs

Reference
(Page Number)

Remarks

Social

Aspect B3: Development and Training

General Disclosure Responsible Employer (46-53)

KPI B3.1 Responsible Employer (46-53)

KPI B3.2 Responsible Employer (46-53)

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

General Disclosure Responsible Employer (45-53)

KPI B4.1 Responsible Employer (45-53)

KPI B4.2 Responsible Employer (45-53)

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

General Disclosure Responsible Service Supplier (53-55)

KPI B5.1 N/A Number of suppliers will be 
dislcosed in FY2021 Report

KPI B5.2 Responsible Service Supplier (53-55)

KPI B5.3 Responsible Service Supplier (53-55)

KPI B5.4 Responsible Service Supplier (53-55)

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility 

General Disclosure Responsible Service Supplier (53-55)

KPI B6.1 N/A Not applicable

KPI B6.2 Responsible Service Supplier (53-55) No such case concluded or 
noted during Reporting Period

KPI B6.3 Responsible Service Supplier (53-55)

KPI B6.4 Responsible Service Supplier (53-55)

KPI B6.5 Responsible Service Supplier (53-55)

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

General Disclosure Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

KPI B7.1 N/A No such case concluded or 
noted during Reporting Period

KPI B7.2 Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

KPI B7.3 Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

Aspect B8: Community Investment

General Disclosure Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

KPI B8.1 Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)

KPI B8.2 Responsible Corporate Citizen (56-61)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors (the “Director(s)” or the “Board”) of Gemini Investments (Holdings) 
Limited (the “Company”) is committed to establish and maintain high standards of 
corporate governance — the process by which the Company is directed and managed, 
risks of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are identified and controlled, and 
accountability to all shareholders of the Company is assured.

This corporate governance report (the “Corporate Governance Report”) is to outline the 
major principles of the Company’s corporate governance. Shareholders of the Company 
are encouraged to make their views known to the Group if they have issues with the 
Company’s corporate governance and to directly raise any matters of concern to the 
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman” or the “Chairman of the Board”).

For the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year”), the Company has complied with the 
applicable code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) of the Corporate Governance Code (the 
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the 
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) 
as and when they were/are in force, except for Code Provisions A.2.1, A.2.7 and E.1.2.

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of the chairman and 
chief executive officer (“CEO” or “Chief Executive Officer”) should be separated and 
performed by different individuals. Following the resignation of Mr. LI Ming as a non-
executive Director and the Honorary Chairman of the Board on 30 July 2020, Mr. SUM 
Pui Ying (“Mr. SUM”), an executive Director, had been appointed as the Chairman of the 
Board and had performed the roles of both Chairman and CEO since 30 July 2020. On 31 
December 2020, Mr. SUM was no longer the CEO of the Company but remained as the 
Chairman, and Mr. LAI Kwok Hung, Alex, an executive Director, was appointed as the new 
CEO of the Company to replace Mr. SUM.

The Board believes that although Mr. SUM performed the roles of both Chairman and 
CEO from 30 July to 31 December 2020 (the “Relevant Period”), this did not impair 
the balance of power and authority of the Board during the Relevant Period as the Board 
comprised experienced and high caliber individuals, with strong independent elements, 
namely the presence of three independent non-executive Directors out of eight members 
of the Board. In addition, material decisions were collectively made by members of the 
Board.

Code Provision A.2.7 requires that the Chairman should at least annually hold meetings 
with the independent non-executive Directors without other Directors present. Although 
the Chairman did not hold a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without 
the presence of other Directors during the Year, the Chairman delegated the CEO to 
gather any concerns and/or questions that the independent non-executive Directors might 
have and report to him for setting up follow-up meetings, whenever necessary, in due 
course.
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The Chairman should attend the annual general meeting of the Company under Code 
Provision E.1.2. Due to boundary restriction under COVID-19 and other pre-arranged 
business commitments which had to be attended, Mr. LI Ming (being the then Honorary 
Chairman of the Board) was unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company 
held on 29 April 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

As at 31 December 2020, the Board consisted of a total of eight members, including three 
executive Directors whereas one of whom was the Chairman, two non-executive Directors, 
and three independent non-executive Directors.

During the Year, a total of nine board meetings (including four regular board meetings), 
one annual general meeting (the “AGM” which was held on 29 April 2020) and one 
extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM” which was held on 19 May 2020) of the 
Company were held. The individual attendance record of each Director at such meetings is 
tabulated as follows:

Number of meetings attended /held
Board Meetings AGM EGM

Directors
Mr. SUM Pui Ying (ED) (Chairman) 5/9 0/1 0/1
Mr. LAI Kwok Hung, Alex (ED)  

(Chief Executive Officer) 9/9 1/1 1/1
Ms. LAM Yee Lan (ED) (appointed 

with effect from 15 June 2020) 7/7 N/A N/A
Mr. TANG Runjiang (NED) 5/9 1/1 1/1
Mr. ZHOU Yue (NED) (appointed with 

effect from 10 December 2020) 1/1 N/A N/A
Mr. LAW Tze Lun (INED) 9/9 1/1 1/1
Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry (INED) 9/9 1/1 1/1
Ms. CHEN Yingshun (INED) 6/9 0/1 1/1

Notes:

ED Executive Director
NED Non-Executive Director
INED Independent Non-Executive Director

All the Directors have access to relevant and timely information. They also have access 
to the advice and services of the company secretary of the Company (the “Company 
Secretary”), who is responsible for providing the Directors with Board papers and related 
materials. Where queries are raised by the Directors, prompt and full responses will be 
given if possible.
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Should a potential material conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder of the 
Company or a Director arise, the matter will be discussed in a physical Board meeting, as 
opposed to being dealt with by a written resolution. Independent non-executive Directors 
with no conflict of interest will be present at meetings dealing with such conflict issues.

Independent non-executive Directors are identified in all corporate communications 
containing the names of the Directors. An updated list of the Directors identifying the 
independent non-executive Directors and the roles and functions of the Directors is 
maintained on the website of the Company at www.geminiinvestments.com.hk and the 
website of the Stock Exchange.

Roles and responsibilities

The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the success and interest of the Group 
through its leadership and supervision. The principal tasks of the Board are to:

—	 provide entrepreneurial leadership for the Company with a framework of prudent and 
effective controls which enable risks to be assessed and managed;

—	 set the Company’s strategic aims, ensuring that the necessary financial and human 
resources are in place for the Company to meet its objectives and review its 
management performance; and

—	 set the Company’s values and standards and ensure that its obligations to its 
shareholders and others are understood and met.

No event or condition of material uncertainties was found that may cast significant doubt 
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern during the Year. The Directors 
were responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the financial 
statements of the Company, in all material respects, in accordance with applicable 
regulatory requirements.

Division of responsibilities between the Board and management

While the Board is responsible for directing and approving the Group’s overall strategies, 
the Group also has formed strong management teams in its business areas, with authority 
and responsibility for developing and exercising both operational and non-operational 
duties. The management team members of the Group have a wide range of skills, 
knowledge and experience necessary to govern the Group’s operations. All management 
team members are required to report directly to the Chief Executive Officer on a regular 
basis to report business performance and operational and functional issues of the Group. 
This will allow the Group’s management to allocate resources more efficiently for its 
decision-making and facilitate its daily operations.

The Board and the Group’s management fully appreciate their respective roles and are 
committed to good corporate governance. The Board is responsible for overseeing the 
processes by which the management identifies business opportunities and risks. The 
Board’s role is not to manage the day-to-day business operations of the Group. The Board 
delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing the day-to-day operations, 
business strategies and management of the Group’s businesses to the executive Directors, 
senior management and certain specific responsibilities to the Board committees.
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The Board has set up a formal schedule for the Board’s decisions, which include 
establishment of the Group’s long term objectives and commercial strategy, changes of 
the Group’s corporate structure, approval of material transactions, corporate governance 
and internal control. Matters which the Board considers suitable for delegation to its 
committees are contained in the specific terms of reference of its committees. The terms 
of reference clearly define the powers and responsibilities of the Board committees. In 
addition, the Board will receive reports and/or recommendations from time to time from 
the Board committees on any matter significant to the Group.

Training

Each newly appointed Director, executive or non-executive, is required to undertake 
an induction program to ensure that he has a proper understanding of his duties and 
responsibilities.

Pursuant to the CG Code, all Directors should participate in continuous professional 
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. During the Year, the 
Directors participated in the following continuous professional development activities:

Directors
Type of 

trainings(note 1)

Mr. SUM Pui Ying (ED) (Chairman) a, b

Mr. LAI Kwok Hung, Alex (ED) (Chief Executive Officer) a, b

Ms. LAM Yee Lan (ED) (appointed with effect from 15 June 2020) a, b

Mr. TANG Runjiang (NED) a, b

Mr. ZHOU Yue (NED) (appointed with effect from 10 December 2020) b

Mr. LAW Tze Lun (INED) a, b

Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry (INED) a, b

Ms. CHEN Yingshun (INED) a, b

Note 1:

a.	 attending seminar or training session

b.	 reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to economy, general business or directors’ duties and 

responsibilities etc.

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance and indemnity

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify its Directors and 
officers in respect of legal actions against the Directors and officers. Throughout the Year, 
no claim had been made against the Directors and the officers of the Company.

Independent advice

The Board and its committees may seek advice from independent professional advisors 
whenever it considers appropriate. Each Director, with the consent of the Chairman 
of the Board and/or the chairman of the audit committee of the Company, may seek 
independent professional advice on matters connected with the Company to perform his/ 
her responsibilities, at the Group’s expense. No Director had exercised his/her right for 
independent professional advice during the Year
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Independence of Non-Executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors were considered to be independent in accordance 
with the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has received 
a written confirmation of independence from each of the independent non-executive 
Directors. They were free from any business relationship or other circumstances that could 
materially interfere with the exercise of their independent or objective judgments. Also, 
the three independent non-executive Directors, representing over one-third of the Board, 
constituted a proper balance of power maintaining full and effective control of both the 
Group and its executive management.

Relationships and associations among the Directors

There was no relationship between members of the Board (including financial, business, 
family or other material/relevant relationship(s)).

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of the Chairman of the 
Board and the Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should not be performed by 
the same individual, and that the division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the 
Chief Executive Officer should be clearly stated. The Company supports such a division of 
responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer in order to ensure 
a balance of power and authority. The positions of the Chairman and the Chief Executive 
Officer are segregated and are currently held by Mr. SUM Pui Ying and Mr. LAI Kwok 
Hung, Alex respectively. These positions have clearly defined separate responsibilities.

The main responsibility of the Chairman is to lead the Board and manage its work to 
ensure that it effectively operates and fully discharges its responsibilities. Supported by 
the members of committees of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for 
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business, recommending strategies to the 
Board, and determining and implementing operational decisions.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The current service agreement of Mr. SUM Pui Ying as an executive Director has a term 
of 1 year commencing from 9 August 2020, subject to early termination by either party 
giving the other not less than 2 months’ prior notice in writing. Under the above service 
agreement, the remuneration of Mr. SUM is HK$180,000 per annum.

The current service agreement of Mr. LAI Kwok Hung, Alex as an executive Director has 
a term of 1 year commencing from 9 August 2020, subject to early termination by either 
party giving the other not less than 2 months’ prior notice in writing. Under the above 
service agreement, the remuneration of Mr. LAI is HK$180,000 per annum.

The current service agreement of Ms. LAM Yee Lan as an executive Director has a term 
of 1 year commencing from 15 June 2020, subject to early termination by either party 
giving the other not less than 2 months’ prior notice in writing. Under the above service 
agreement, the remuneration of Ms. LAM is HK$180,000 per annum.
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The current service agreement of Mr. TANG Runjiang as a non-executive Director has a 
term of 1 year commencing from 1 March 2021, subject to early termination by either 
party giving the other not less than 2 months’ prior notice in writing. Under the above 
service agreement, the remuneration of Mr. TANG is HK$180,000 per annum.

The current service agreement of Mr. ZHOU Yue as a non-executive Director has a term of 
1 year commencing from 10 December 2020, subject to early termination by either party 
giving the other not less than 2 months’ prior notice in writing. Under the above service 
agreement, the remuneration of Mr. ZHOU is HK$180,000 per annum.

Mr. LAW Tze Lun and Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry as independent non-executive Directors 
renewed their appointment letters with the Company for a term of 1 year commencing 
from 2 January 2021, subject to early termination by either party giving the other not 
less than 1 month’s prior notice in writing. Under the above appointment letters, the 
remuneration of each of them is HK$180,000 per annum.

Ms. CHEN Yingshun as independent non-executive Director renewed her appointment 
letter with the Company for a term of 1 year commencing from 21 April 2020, subject to 
early termination by either party giving the other not less than 1 month’s prior notice in 
writing. Under the above appointment letter, the remuneration of Ms. CHEN is HK$180,000 
per annum.

All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM at least once 
every three years pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”). 
Pursuant to Article 116 of the Articles, Mr. LAI Kwok Hung, Alex and Ms. CHEN Yingshun 
will retire from office of the Board by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and offer 
themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 99 of the Articles, the Board shall have power from time to time and 
at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an 
addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office only until 
the next following general meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a casual vacancy) 
or until the next following annual general meeting of the Company (in the case of an 
addition to the Board) and shall then be eligible for re-election at the general meeting of 
the Company, but he/she shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or 
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation in case he/she retires at an annual 
general meeting. Ms. LAM Yee Lan, being an executive Director, was appointed by the 
Board as an addition to the Board with effect from 15 June 2020, and shall hold office until 
the forthcoming AGM. Ms. LAM Yee Lan, being eligible, will offer herself for re-election at 
the forthcoming AGM. Mr. ZHOU Yue, being a non-executive Director, was appointed by 
the Board as an addition to the Board with effect from 10 December 2020 following the 
posting of the composite offer and response document dated 10 December 2020 jointly 
issued by the Company and Estate Spring International Limited (as offeror) in respect of a 
mandatory general offer for the securities of the Company, and shall hold office until the 
forthcoming AGM. Mr. ZHOU Yue, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election at the 
forthcoming AGM.



Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited     Annual Report 202070

Corporate Governance Report

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up four board committees, namely, the audit committee, the 
remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the investment committee 
(collectively the “Board Committees”), for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s 
affairs. The table below provides membership information of these committees on which 
each Board member serves.

Board Committee
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Investment 
Committee

Directors
Mr. SUM Pui Ying (ED) — — C C
Mr. LAI Kwok Hung, Alex (ED) — — — M
Mr. TANG Runjiang (NED) M — — M
Mr. ZHOU Yue (NED) M — — M
Mr. LAW Tze Lun (INED) C C M M
Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry (INED) M M M —

Ms. CHEN Yingshun (INED) M M M —

Notes:

C	 Chairman of the relevant Board Committee
M	 Member of the relevant Board Committee
ED	 Executive Director
NED	 Non-Executive Director
INED	 Independent Non-Executive Director

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, 
upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate 
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.

The attendance of each individual committee member at the Board Committee meetings 
held during the Year is summarised below.

Number of meetings attended/held

Board Committee
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Investment 
Committee

Directors
Mr. SUM Pui Ying (ED) — — 2/3 1/1
Mr. LAI Kwok Hung, Alex (ED) — — — 1/1
Mr. TANG Runjiang (NED) 

(appointed as member on  
15 June 2020) 2/2 — — 1/1

Mr. ZHOU Yue (NED)  
(appointed as member on  
10 December 2020) 1/1 — — N/A

Mr. LAW Tze Lun (INED) 3/3 2/2 3/3 1/1
Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry (INED) 3/3 2/2 3/3 —

Ms. CHEN Yingshun (INED) 3/3 1/2 2/3 —
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Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination Committee”) meets formally 
at least once a year.

The Nominat ion Committee leads the process and makes recommendat ions for 
appointments to the Board, whether as additional appointment or to fill up the casual 
vacancy of directorship as and when they arise, in the light of the business development 
and requirements of the Company. In evaluating and selecting candidate(s) for directorship, 
the Nomination Committee considers the criteria of nomination and appointment of the 
directors as sets out in the director nomination policy of the Company, which include but 
not limited to the character and integrity; skills and expertise; professional and educational 
backgrounds; potential time commitment for the board and/or committee responsibilities; 
and the elements of the board diversity policy of the Company etc.. If the nomination 
process yields one or more desirable candidates, the Nomination Committee will rank them 
by order of preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check of each 
candidate (where applicable). The Nomination Committee will then make recommendation 
to the Board to appoint the appropriate person among the candidates nominated for 
directorship. Suitable candidate(s) shall be appointed by the Board in accordance with the 
Articles and the Listing Rules.

In case of re-appointments of members of the Board at general meetings of the Company, 
the Nomination Committee will review the overall contribution and service to the 
Company of the retiring Director and his/her level of participation and performance on 
the Board, as well as whether the retiring Director continues to meet the nomination and 
appointment criteria as set out in the director nomination policy of the Company, prior to 
making recommendations to the Board for its consideration and recommendations to the 
shareholders of the Company.

Three Nomination Committee meetings were held during the Year. The following is a 
summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee during the Year:

(a)	 reviewing and evaluating the structure, size and composition (including the skills, 
knowledge and experience) of the Board to complement the Company’s corporate 
strategy;

(b)	 reviewing and recommending the re-appointment of the retiring Directors at the 
annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 April 2020;

(c)	 assessing independence of the independent non-executive Directors;

(d)	 reviewing and recommending the appointment of Mr. SUM Pui Ying (executive 
Director) as Chairman of the Board, Mr. LAI Kwok Hung, Alex (executive Director) 
as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Ms. LAM Yee Lan as an executive 
Director, Mr. ZHOU Yue as a non-executive Director and Mr. WANG Xiao (resigned 
on 31 December 2020) as a non-executive Director;
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(e)	 reviewing and recommending the renewal of (i) the director’s service agreement of 
Mr. SUM Pui Ying, Mr. LAI Kwok Hung, Alex, Mr. TANG Runjiang and Mr. LI Hongbo 
(resigned on 15 June 2020); and (ii) the appointment letters of Mr. LAW Tze Lun, 
Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry and Ms. CHEN Yingshun; and

(f)	 reviewing and recommending the director’s service agreement of Ms. LAM Yee Lan, 
Mr. WANG Xiao (resigned on 31 December 2020) and Mr. ZHOU Yue respectively.

According to the written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee which can 
be viewed on the website of the Company at www.geminiinvestments.com.hk and the 
website of the Stock Exchange, the major responsibilities of the Nomination Committee 
include:

(a)	 to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and 
experience) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations on any 
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b)	 to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board and select 
or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for 
directorships;

(c)	 to assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors; and

(d)	 to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of 
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman of the 
Board and the Chief Executive Officer.

As the Company recognises that having a board diversity policy can enhance the quality 
of its performance and is an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive 
advantage, under the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, the Board has 
adopted a board diversity policy in compliance with the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the 
board diversity policy of the Company, in designing the Board’s composition so as to 
achieve board diversity, a number of elements, including but not limited to gender, age, 
cultural and educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and 
industry and regional experience of the candidates, will be taken into account. Whilst the 
Company is conscious of maintaining an appropriate proportion of female members on 
the Board, all Board appointments will ultimately be based on merits in the context of the 
Company’s businesses and strategies, and candidates will be considered against objective 
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Company 
currently has two female Directors, and the Board will take opportunities to increase the 
proportion of female members over time as and when suitable candidates are identified. 
The Nomination Committee will discuss and where necessary, agree on the measureable 
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and make recommendation to the Board.
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Board (the “Remuneration Committee”) had met 
twice during the Year. Its primary objective is to ensure that the Company can recruit, 
retain and motivate high-calibre staff in order to reinforce the success of the Company and 
create value for its shareholders.

According to the written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee which can 
be viewed on the website of the Company at www.geminiinvestments.com.hk and the 
website of the Stock Exchange, the Remuneration Committee has adopted the model to 
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive 
Director(s) and senior officers of the Company including benefits in kind, pension rights 
and compensation payment comprising any compensation payable for loss or termination 
of their office or appointment. It also makes recommendations to the Board on the 
remuneration of non-executive Directors. Its principal role is to assist the Board to oversee 
the policy and structure of the remuneration of the executive Director(s) of the Company 
and senior officers of the Group.

The following is a summary of work performed by the Remuneration Committee during the 
Year:

(a)	 reviewing and recommending the policy and structure of the remuneration of the 
Directors and senior officers of the Group to the Board;

(b)	 assessing individual performance of the Directors and senior officers of the Group;

(c)	 reviewing specific remuneration packages of the Directors and senior officers of 
the Group with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives as well as 
individual performances;

(d)	 reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on compensation-related 
issues; and

(e)	 reviewing and recommending the renewal of (i) the director’s service agreement of 
Mr. SUM Pui Ying, Mr. LAI Kwok Hung, Alex, Mr. TANG Runjiang and Mr. LI Hongbo 
(resigned on 15 June 2020); and (ii) the appointment letters of Mr. LAW Tze Lun, 
Mr. LO Woon Bor, Henry and Ms. CHEN Yingshun; and

(f)	 reviewing and recommending the director’s service agreement of Ms. LAM Yee Lan, 
Mr. WANG Xiao (resigned on 31 December 2020) and Mr. ZHOU Yue respectively.
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Principles of remuneration policy

The principles of the Group’s remuneration policy:

—	 were applied to all Directors and senior officers of the Group for the Year and, so far 
as practicable, shall be applied to them for subsequent years;

—	 were sufficiently flexible taking into account future changes in the Company’s 
business environment and remuneration practice;

—	 allowed remuneration arrangement to be designed to support the business strategy 
of the Group and to align with the interests of the Group’s shareholders;

—	 aimed at setting appropriate reward levels to reflect the competitiveness in the 
market in which comparable companies and the Group had been operating during 
the Year so as to retain individuals with outstanding performance;

—	 maintained performance-related remuneration basis for the executive Directors and 
senior officers of the Group; and

—	 required that performance-re lated remunerat ion be subject to sat isfactory 
performance over short and long term targets, and the targets be set and assessed 
in the context of the Group’s prospects, the prevailing economic environment in 
which it operates and the relative performance of comparable companies.

Remuneration structure

Under the above remuneration policy, the remuneration package of each executive Director 
and senior officer of the Group during the Year was structured to include:

—	 an appropriate rate of base compensation for the job of each executive Director and 
senior officer of the Group;

—	 competitive benefit programs; and

—	 sets of performance measures and targets for performance-related annual and 
long-term incentive plans based on the appropriate independent advice and/or an 
assessment of the interests of shareholders of the Company and taking into account 
an appropriate balance of risk and reward for the Directors and other participants.
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Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”) had met thrice during the 
Year. The external auditors, the executive Directors and the Group’s financial controller 
and accounting manager were invited to attend these three Audit Committee’s meetings.

In order to perform its duties, the Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources 
and is empowered to examine all matters relating to the Group’s adopted accounting 
principles and practices and to review all material financial, operational and compliance 
controls. Latest terms of reference of the Audit Committee can be viewed on the 
website of the Company at www.geminiinvestments.com.hk and the website of the Stock 
Exchange.

The major roles of the Audit Committee include the following:

(a)	 to act as the key representative body for overseeing the relationship with the 
external auditors;

(b)	 to review the Company’s annual and interim financial statements; and

(c)	 to evaluate the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems.

The Audit Committee had performed the following work (in summary) for the Year:

—	 The Audit Committee assisted the Board in assuring the integrity of the Company’s 
financial statements. It evaluated and made recommendations to the Board about the 
appropriateness of accounting policies and practices, areas of judgment, compliance 
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and other legal requirements, and the 
results of external audit. It reviewed interim and annual financial statements of the 
Company, reported its work and findings to the Board and made recommendations 
on specif ic act ions or decision for the Board to consider after each Audit 
Committee’s meeting. Minutes of the Audit Committee’s meetings were kept by the 
Company Secretary and made available to all Directors.

—	 The Audit Committee also managed the relationship with the external auditors on 
behalf of the Board. It made recommendation to the Board on the appointment of 
the external auditors and the relevant terms of engagement, including remuneration. 
The Audit Committee was required to review the integrity, independence and 
objectivity of the external auditors. Also, it examined the external auditors’ 
independence including its engagement of non-audit services. Based on the review 
of the Audit Committee, the Board was satisfied that the external auditors were 
independent. The external auditors had also expressed an opinion on their reporting 
responsibilities in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” set out on pages 82 to 87 of 
this annual report.
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—	 The Audit Committee was required to ensure that the risk management and internal 
control systems of the Group were in place for identifying and managing risks. The 
Audit Committee had reviewed the risk management and internal control systems 
of the Group and the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function for the 
Year. The process used in such review includes discussions with management 
on risk areas identified by management and principal divisions of the Group, and 
review of findings and/or reports arising from internal and external audits. The Audit 
Committee reviewed and concurred with the management’s confirmation that the 
Group’s risk management and internal control systems were effective and adequate 
for the year ended 31 December 2020. The management’s confirmation was 
endorsed by the Audit Committee and submitted to the Board.

—	 The Audit Committee reviewed and was satisfied with the adequacy of the 
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of 
the Group’s accounting, financial reporting and internal audit functions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate governance duties as 
required under the CG Code:

(a)	 to develop and review the Company’s pol ic ies and pract ices on corporate 
governance;

(b)	 to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of the 
Directors and senior officers of the Group;

(c)	 to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with 
legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)	 to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct applicable to employees and 
the Directors; and

(e)	 to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this 
Corporate Governance Report.

During the Year, the Board considered the following corporate governance matters:

—	 review of the compliance with the CG Code; and

—	 review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of 
the Group through the Audit Committee.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a written dividend policy setting out the principles for the Board 
to determine the appropriate amount of dividend to be distributed. In recommending or 
declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its 
working capital requirements and future growth of the Group as well as its shareholders’ 
value. Subject to dividends payable on the outstanding convertible preference shares of the 
Company, the Company intends to distribute no less than 30% of its annual consolidated 
net profits attributable to the owners of the Company as dividends to its shareholders 
subject to and after taking into consideration of the factors stated in the dividend policy 
including, inter alia, (i) general financial conditions and financial results; (ii) liquidity position 
and cash flow situation; (iii) business conditions and strategies; (iv) current and future 
operations and earnings; (v) capital requirements and expenditure plans; and (vi) any legal 
restrictions on payment of dividends. The declaration of dividends or recommendation on 
such payment shall be subject to compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and 
the Articles.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The main features of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group are 
to provide a clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting 
mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks across business operations.

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists of the Board, 
the Audit Committee and the senior management of the Group. The Board determines the 
nature and extent of risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, 
and has the overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation and the overall 
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems. The Board, through the 
Audit Committee, conducts reviews of the effectiveness of such systems as least annually, 
covering all material controls including financial, operational and compliance controls.

The Group engaged an independent professional adviser to assist the Board and the Audit 
Committee in formulating its risk management policy in providing directions in identifying, 
evaluating and managing significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the senior 
management of the Group identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of 
the Group’s objectives, and assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to a set 
of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then established for those 
risks considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional advisor to assist the Board 
and the Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring of internal control systems of the Group’s 
operations (excluding operation in the U.S.) and in performing the internal audit functions 
for the Group. The internal audit functions for operations in the U.S. is assessed by the 
internal audit department of Gemini-Rosemont Realty LLC. Any deficiencies in the design 
and implementation of internal controls are identified and recommendations are proposed 
for improvement. Internal control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the 
Board on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are taken.
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Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to the Audit Committee 
and the Board at least once a year. The Board, through the Audit Committee, had 
performed annual review on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal 
control systems, including but not limited to the Group’s ability to cope with its business 
transformation and changing external environment; the scope and quality of management’s 
review on risk management and internal control systems; result of internal audit work; 
the extent and frequency of communication with the Board in relation to result of risk 
and internal control review; significant failures (if any) or weaknesses identified and their 
related implications; and status of compliance with the Listing Rules. The Board considers 
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems were effective and adequate 
during the Year.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Group are designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR 
THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE 
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”) 
and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside information to the public as soon as 
reasonably practicable unless the information falls within any of the safe harbours as 
provided in the SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group 
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the 
necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may have 
been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the information to the public. The 
Group is committed to ensure that information contained in announcements or circulars are 
not false or misleading as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission 
of a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which 
requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the shareholders of the Company as 
required to be disclosed pursuant to the mandatory disclosure requirements under the CG 
Code.

Convening a general meeting on requisition by shareholders of the 
Company

Shareholder(s) of the Company representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all 
the shareholders of the Company having a right to vote at general meetings can submit 
a written request to the Company to call a general meeting pursuant to section 566 of 
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “Companies 
Ordinance”)).
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The written request must:

(a)	 state the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting; and

(b)	 be authenticated by the shareholder(s) making the request.

The written request may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and 
is intended to be moved at the meeting, accompanied by a statement of not more than 
1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in the proposed resolution or the 
business to be dealt with at that general meeting.

The shareholder(s) of the Company can send the written request to the Company’s 
registered office at Room 3902, 39th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre, No. 89 Queensway, 
Hong Kong for the attention of the Company Secretary. If the Directors do not within 21 
days from the date of the deposit of the written request proceed to call a general meeting 
for a day not more than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the general 
meeting, the shareholder(s) who requested the meeting, or any of them representing 
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves call a general 
meeting, but any such general meeting must be called for a date not more than 3 months 
after the date on which the Directors become subject to the requirement to call the 
general meeting.

Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders can put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by 
post to the registered office of the Company at Room 3902, 39th Floor, Tower One, Lippo 
Centre, No. 89 Queensway, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

Moving a resolution at an AGM

Shareholder(s) of the Company can submit a written request to move a resolution at an 
AGM of the Company pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance if:

(a)	 they represent at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all shareholders of the 
Company having a right to vote at the AGM; or

(b)	 the number of such shareholders represent at least 50 shareholders who have a 
right to vote at the AGM.

The written request must:

(a)	 state the resolution, which may be accompanied by a statement of not more than 
1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in the proposed resolution or the 
business to be dealt with at the AGM; and

(b)	 be authenticated by the shareholder(s) making the request.
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The written request can be sent to the Company’s registered office at Room 3902, 39th 
Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre, No. 89 Queensway, Hong Kong for the attention of the 
Company Secretary, and it must be received by the Company not later than 6 weeks 
before the AGM or if later, the time at which notice is given of that AGM.

Proposing Directors for election at general meetings

In respect of proposing a person for election as a director of the Company at general 
meetings, please refer to the procedures available on the website of the Company at 
www.geminiinvestments.com.hk.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there had been no change to the Articles.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements 
of the Company for each financial year, which should give a true and fair view of the state 
of affairs, results and cash flow of the Group for that year in compliance with relevant 
laws and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. In preparing the financial statements 
for the Year, the Directors adopted appropriate and consistent accounting policies and 
made prudent and reasonable judgments and estimations.

The financial statements for the Year have been prepared by the Directors on a going 
concern basis. There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. A 
statement by the external auditors of the Company regarding their reporting responsibilities 
on the accounts of the Group is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 
82 to 87 in this annual report.

Auditors’ Remuneration

The Board, based on the recommendation of the Audit Committee, approved the 
appointment of BDO Limited (“BDO”) as the Group’s external auditor to perform audit 
services for the Group for the Year. During the Year, total fees in respect of statutory 
audit, other audit and non-audit services to BDO amounted to HK$6,946,000, of which 
HK$2,046,000, or 29.46%, was fee for non-audit services.

During the Year, non-audit services fees payable to BDO include fees relating to 
advisory services and corporate exercise reporting services of HK$900,000, and review 
of interim financial information of the Group for the six months ended 30 June 2020 of 
HK$1,146,000.

Note:	 The total amount of auditors’ remuneration as disclosed in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements 
of the Group is HK$5,365,000 which also includes audit services provided by other auditors excluding BDO 
in the total amount of HK$465,000, but does not include any fees in respect of non-audit services.
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CODES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTION BY DIRECTORS 
AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of 
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its 
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the directors of the Company. All 
Directors, following specific enquiries made by the Company, have confirmed that they 
have complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code during the Year.

The Company has also adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by 
relevant employees on terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the 
Model Code. All the relevant employees who, because of office or employment, are likely 
to be in possession of inside information in relation to the Company’s securities has been 
requested to follow such code when dealing in the securities of the Company.
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TO THE MEMBERS OF GEMINI INVESTMENTS (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gemini Investments (Holdings) 
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set 
out on pages 88 to 208, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance 
with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) 
issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described 
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of 
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Investment properties
(Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements)

The Group’s investment properties, which are located in Hong Kong and the United 
States of America (the “U.S.”), mainly comprise commercial offices, residential properties 
(including car parking spaces) and office building.

The aggregate fair values of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2020 
amounted to HK$11,363,561,000, among which investment properties with fair value of 
HK$9,857,886,000, representing 54.9% of the Group’s total assets as at that date, were 
held by Gemini-Rosemont Realty LLC (“GR Realty”), one of the Company’s subsidiaries, in 
the U.S..

The fair value of investment properties held by GR Realty was estimated using income 
approach. The valuation of the investment properties are conducted by a dedicated 
valuation team reporting to the management. The appropriateness of the valuation is 
dependent on determination of certain key assumptions that require an exercise of 
management judgement include capitalisation rates and estimated rental value.

We identified valuation of the Group’s investment properties as a key audit matter due to 
the size of the balance and determination of the fair values involves inherent judgement 
and estimation.

Our response:

GR Realty is a significant component of the Group. We have carried out in-depth 
discussion with the component auditor and give audit instruction to them for audit 
approach including audit risk assessment. We involved with the work of component auditor 
by reviewing their working papers and discussing with them the results of their work. 
We have interviewed with the Group’s management and have discussed with them and 
evaluated any probable impacts on the Group financial statements of the key audit matters 
relating to the valuation of investment properties held by GR Realty.

The procedures performed on the valuation of investment properties included:

•	 Understanding the facts and circumstances of the underlying investment properties 
valuations from GR Realty’s internal valuation team;

•	 Assessing the methodologies used and the appropriateness of the key assumptions 
based on the component auditor’s knowledge of the property industry and using the 
component auditor’s in-house valuation experts; and

•	 Checking, on a sample basis, the accuracy and relevance of the input data used in 
the valuation.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Fair value measurement of unlisted fund investments
(Refer to Notes 21(c)(iv) & (v) and 48(h) to the consolidated financial statements)

As at 31 December 2020, the Group held several unlisted fund investments with aggregate 
value of HK$1,655,230,000, representing 9.2% of the Group’s total assets as at 31 
December 2020.

Management engages an independent qualified valuer to estimate the valuation of 
these unlisted fund investments. The appropriateness of the valuation is dependent on 
determination of different valuation techniques and certain key assumptions.

As the unlisted fund investments are considered significant due to the size of the balance 
and the inherent judgement involved in determining the fair value measurement. It is 
considered as a key audit matter.

The fair value was determined using the asset-based approach. The determination of fair 
value measurement requires the management to exercise their judgement to ensure the 
appropriateness of the estimates and assumptions.

Our response:

Our procedures in relation to management’s fair value measurement of unlisted fund 
investments included:

•	 Evaluating the independent professional valuer’s competence, capabilities and 
objectivity;

•	 Focusing on the valuation methodologies and assumptions of unl isted fund 
investments that were classified as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy and involving 
our valuation specialists in evaluating and assessing:

(i)	 the valuation techniques through comparison with the valuation techniques 
that are commonly used in the market;

(ii)	 the validation of observable inputs using external market data; and

(iii)	 the reasonableness of management’s assumptions such as a discount or a 
premium for quality of properties held by the funds;

•	 Checking the accuracy and reasonableness of the input data provided by 
management to the independent professional valuer; and

•	 Reviewing sensitivity analysis in consideration of the potential impact of reasonably 
possible upside or downside changes in these key assumptions.
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Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information 
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Director’s Responsibilities for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong 
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for 
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. The 
Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to 
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to 
any other person for the contents of this report.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

•	 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

•	 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

•	 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of 
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with the 
directors all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, action taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Chow Tak Sing, Peter 
Practising Certificate Number P04659

Hong Kong, 12 March 2021
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Revenue 4, 5 603,856 115,499
Operating expenses 6 (193,293) (46,917)  

410,563 68,582
Other income, gains/losses 7 (26,734) 35,961
Administrative and other expenses 8 (129,153) (84,829)
Changes in fair value of financial instruments held for 

trading 58,403 (4,270)
Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 3,419 23,217
Changes in fair value of investment properties 17 (404,775) (14,289)
Provision for impairment loss on financial assets (5,636) (58,659)

Share of results of joint ventures 19 (98,993) (1,150)
Gain on effective settlement of loan receivables 22, 42 60,787 —

(38,206) (1,150)

Share of results of associates 20 (1,500) —
Finance costs 10 (191,122) (17,211)
Loss attributable to limited partners and puttable 

instrument holders 187,285 —  

Loss before income tax 11 (137,456) (52,648)
Income tax (expenses)/credit 12 (95,780) 687  

Loss for the year (233,236) (51,961)
  

Loss for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company (233,036) (94,713)
Non-controlling interests (200) 42,752  

(233,236) (51,961)
  

Loss per share for loss attributable to owners 
of the Company 15
— basic (HK dollar) (0.41) (0.21)
— diluted (HK dollar) (0.41) (0.21)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year (233,236) (51,961)  

Other comprehensive income:
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign  
operations (4,533) (8,042)

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Gain on revaluation upon transfer of properties from property,  

plant and equipment to investment properties — 20,256  

Other comprehensive income for the year (4,533) 12,214  

Total comprehensive income for the year (237,769) (39,747)
  

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company (237,569) (82,499)
Non-controlling interests (200) 42,752  

(237,769) (39,747)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Investment properties 17 11,363,561 1,522,774
Property, plant and equipment 18 75,176 11,423
Interests in joint ventures 19 — 861,678
Investments in associates 20 5,393 —
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21 2,161,047 2,221,354
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 23 110,412 —
Loan receivables 22 — 37,674
Other financial assets 31 420,191 —
Restricted bank deposits 26 1,328 1,486
Deferred tax assets 36 128,429 9,722  

14,265,537 4,666,111  

Current assets
Properties under development 24 1,563,839 685,918
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 23 69,290 46,618
Loan receivables 22 — 335,735
Financial instruments held for trading 25 545,854 286,286
Tax recoverables 39,807 —
Restricted bank deposits 26 309,005 7,070
Cash and bank balances 27 1,162,189 975,181  

3,689,984 2,336,808  

Total assets 17,955,521 7,002,919  

Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued charges 28 717,832 61,386
Financial instruments held for trading 25 5,465 —
Amounts due to shareholders 29 488,763 491,758
Tax payables 1,903 2,005
Borrowings 30 2,271,354 246,486
Other financial liabilities 31 150,345 —  

3,635,662 801,635  

Net current assets 54,322 1,535,173  

Total assets less current liabilities 14,319,859 6,201,284
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Capital and reserves
Share capital 32 371,191 185,453
Reserves 33 5,021,132 5,260,630  

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 5,392,323 5,446,083
Non-controlling interests 41 1,794,362 300,764  

Total equity 7,186,685 5,746,847  

Non-current liabilities
Other payables and accrued charges 28 31,219 —
Amounts due to shareholders 29 891,538 —
Borrowings 30 5,783,203 426,094
Other financial liabilities 31 375,663 —
Deferred tax liabilities 36 51,551 28,343  

7,133,174 454,437  

Total equity and non-current liabilities 14,319,859 6,201,284
  

The financial statement on pages 88 to 208 were approved and authorised for issue by the 
Board of Directors on 12 March 2021 and are signed on its behalf by

Sum Pui Ying Lai Kwok Hung, Alex
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Cash flows from operating activities 
Net cash used in operations 39(a) (84,744) (332,308)
Income tax paid (1,239) (4,972)   

Net cash used in operating activities (85,983) (337,280)  

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,415) (1,791)
Capital expenditure for investment properties (88,312) —
Acquisition of financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss — (1,650)
Redemption of financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss — 255
Proceed from disposal of financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss — 2,227
Consolidation of GR Realty 42 585,668 —
Disposal of a subsidiary 43 (1,459) —
Interest received 19,233 35,507  

Net cash generated from investing activities 512,715 34,548  

Cash flows from financing activities
New bank borrowings 39(b) 394,201 241,423
Repayment of bank borrowings 39(b) (562,084) —
Distribution paid to limited partner interests 39(b) (3,135) —
Repayment of lease liabilities 39(b) (11,423) (3,273)
Interest paid 39(b) (200,582) (20,218)
Distribution paid to non-controlling interests (39,003) (18,819)
Distribution paid to the holder of perpetual bond (226) (452)
Increase in amounts due to shareholders 39(b) — 264,804
Proceed from issue of share arising from exercise of 

share option 32 3,479 —
Proceeds from issue of shares 32 180,556 —  

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (238,217) 463,465  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 188,515 160,733

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 975,181 816,569
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (1,507) (2,121)  

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 1,162,189 975,181
  

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents:

Short term deposits 27 220,622 477,097
Cash and bank balances 27 941,567 498,084  

1,162,189 975,181
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

1.	 GENERAL

Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is a public limited company 
incorporated in Hong Kong and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of its registered office and 
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the section of Corporate 
Information of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of 
its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are set out in Notes 46, 20 and 19 
respectively.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also 
the functional currency of the Company. In addition, the functional currencies of 
certain group entities that operate outside Hong Kong are determined based on the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the group entities operate.

The expenses presentation of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 
to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2020 in the consolidated 
income statement has been reclassified from the analysis by nature to the analysis 
by function. The management considered that the current presentation is more 
appropriate for the results of the Group following the changes in the Group’s 
operation after the consolidation of Gemini-Rosemont Realty LLC (“GR Realty”) as 
detailed in note 42. The comparative amounts in the consolidated income statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2019 are re-presented accordingly, which are 
summarised below:
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1.	 GENERAL (Continued)

Effect of consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2019

As previously 
reported

Reclassified 
from analysis 
by nature to 

analysis 
by function

Reclassified 
from 

administrative 
and other 

expenses to 
operating 
expenses As restated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 115,499 — — 115,499
Operating expenses — — (46,917) (46,917)    

115,499 — (46,917) 68,582
Other income, gains/losses 35,961 — — 35,961
Administrative and other 

expenses — (131,746) 46,917 (84,829)
Employee costs (25,542) 25,542 — —
Depreciation (3,231) 3,231 — —
Other expenses (102,973) 102,973 — —
Changes in fair value of 

financial instruments held 
for trading (4,270) — — (4,270)

Changes in fair value of 
financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss 23,217 — — 23,217

Changes in fair value of 
investment properties (14,289) — — (14,289)

Provision for impairment loss 
on financial assets (58,659) — — (58,659)

Share of results of joint 
ventures (1,150) — — (1,150)

Finance costs (17,211) — — (17,211)    

Loss before income tax (52,648) — — (52,648)
Income tax credit 687 — — 687    

Loss for the year (51,961) — — (51,961)    
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2.	 APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a)	 Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs – effective on 1 January 2020

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to HKAS 1  

and HKAS 8 
Definition of Material

Amendments to HKAS 39, 
HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Other than the amendments to HKFRS 3, none of these new or amended 
HKFRSs has a material impact on the Group’s results and financial position 
for the current or prior period.  The Group has not early applied any new or 
amended HKFRSs that is not yet effective for the current accounting period. 
Impact on the applications of the amended HKFRS effective on 1 January 2020 
is summarised below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 – Definition of a Business

The amendments clarify the definition of a business and introduce an optional 
concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired 
set of activities and assets is not a business. The election to apply the 
concentration test is made for each transaction. The concentration test is met 
if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated 
in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. If the 
concentration test is met, the set of activities and assets is determined not to 
be a business. If the concentration test is failed, the acquired set of activities 
and assets is further assessed based on the elements of a business.

The Group has applied the amendments prospectively to transactions for which 
the acquisition date is on or after 1 January 2020. As described in note 42, the 
Group acquired a set of activities and assets in July 2020 and has elected to 
apply the concentration test to that acquisitions but the transaction failed the 
concentration test. Based on the assessment of elements of a business, the 
Group concluded that the acquired set of activities and assets is a business.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)	N ew/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 
effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s financial 
statements, have been issued, but are not yet effective and have not been 
early adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these 
changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions2

Amendments to HKAS 39, 
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7,  
HKFRS 9, and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 23

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before 
Intended Use4

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling  
a Contract4

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework5

Annual Improvements to 
HKFRSs 2018–2020 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 
and HKFRS 16 Leases4

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or  
Non-Current6

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts6

1	 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption.
2	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.
3	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
4	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
5	 Effective for business combinations for which the date of acquisition is on or after the 

beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
6	 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 – Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there is a sale or contribution 
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. When the 
transaction with an associate or joint venture that is accounted for using the 
equity method, any gains or losses resulting from the loss of control of a 
subsidiary that does not contain a business are recognised in the profit or loss 
only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or 
joint venture. Similarly, any gains or losses resulting from the remeasurement 
of retained interest in any former subsidiary (that has become an associate 
or a joint venture) to fair value are recognised in the profit or loss only to 
the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new associate or joint 
venture.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)	N ew/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 – COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions

The amendment is issued in June 2020 and is effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier application is permitted, 
including interim or annual financial statements not authorised for issue as at 
4 June 2020, the date of the amendment is issued.

The amendment introduces a new practical expedient for lessees to elect not 
to assess whether a COVID19-related rent concessions is a lease modification. 
The practical expedient only applies to rent concessions occurring as a direct 
consequence of the COVID-19 that meets all of the following conditions:

(a)	 the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the 
lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration 
for the lease immediately preceding the change;

(b)	 any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on 
or before 30 June 2021; and

(c)	 there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the 
lease.

A lease applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease 
payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it would account for 
the changes applying HKFRS 16 if the changes were not lease modifications. 
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for as variable lease 
payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts 
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or 
loss in the period in which the event occurs.

Amendments to HKAS 16 – Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds 
before Intended Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant 
and equipment any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that 
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating 
in the manner intended by management.  Instead, the proceeds from selling 
such items, and the cost of producing those items, is recognised in profit or 
loss.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)	N ew/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16 – 
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2

The amendments address issues that might affect financial reporting when 
a company replaces the old interest rate benchmark with an alternative 
benchmark rate as a result of the interest rate benchmark reform (the 
“Reform”). The amendments complement those issued in November 2019 
and relate to (a) changes to contractual cash flows in which an entity will not 
have to derecognise or adjust the carrying amount of financial instruments 
for changes required by the Reform, but will instead update the effective 
interest rate to reflect the change to the alternative benchmark rate; (b) hedge 
accounting in which an entity will not have to discontinue its hedge accounting 
solely because it makes changes required by the Reform, if the hedge meets 
other hedge accounting criteria; and (c) disclosures in which an entity will be 
required to disclose information about new risks arising from the Reform and 
how it manages the transition to alternative benchmark rates.

Amendments to HKAS 37 – Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a 
Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract comprises 
the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs that relate directly to a 
contract can either be incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct 
labour and materials) or an allocation of other costs that relate directly to 
fulfilling contracts (e.g. the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of 
property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

Amendments to HKFRS 3 – Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers to the revised Conceptual 
Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 instead of the version issued in 2010. 
The amendments add to HKFRS 3 a requirement that, for obligations within 
the scope of HKAS 37, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 to determine whether at 
the acquisition date a present obligation exists as a result of past events. For 
a levy that would be within the scope of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, the acquirer 
applies HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 to determine whether the obligating event that 
gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has occurred by the acquisition date. 
The amendments also add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not 
recognise contingent assets acquired in a business combination.
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2.	 APPLICATION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b)	N ew/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 
effective (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle – Amendments to 
HKFRS 9 – Financial Instruments

The amendments issued under the annual improvements process make small, 
non-urgent changes to standards where they are currently unclear. They 
include amendments to HKFRS 9 Financial Instrument, clarifying that the fees 
included in the ‘10 per cent’ test in paragraph B3.3.6 of HKFRS 9 in assessing 
whether to derecognise a financial liability, explaining that only fees paid or 
received between the entity and the lender, including fees paid or received by 
either the entity or the lender on other’s behalf are included.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle – Amendments to 
HKFRS 16 – Leases

The amendments issued under the annual improvements process make small, 
non-urgent changes to standards where they are currently unclear. They 
include amendments to HKFRS 16 – Leases, amending Illustrative Example 
13 to remove the illustration of reimbursement of leasehold improvements by 
the lessor in order to resolve any potential confusion regarding the treatment 
of lease incentives that might arise because of how lease incentives are 
illustrated in that example.

Amendments to HKAS 1 – Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current is based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting 
period, specify that classification is unaffected by expectations about whether 
an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability and explain 
that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with at the end of the 
reporting period. The amendments also introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ 
to make clear that settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of 
cash, equity instruments, other assets or services.

HKFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 17 will replace HKFRS 4 as a single principle-based standard for the 
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance contracts 
in the financial statements of the issuers of those contracts.

The above new/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but not yet effective 
are unlikely to have material impact on the Group’s consolidated results and 
consolidated financial statements upon application.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)	 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements on pages 88 to 208 have been prepared 
in accordance with all applicable, HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards 
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the 
HKFRSs) and the provisions of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance which 
concern the preparation of financial statements. In addition, the financial 
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of 
these financial statements are summarised below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis 
except for certain properties and financial instruments, that are measured at 
fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions are used in 
preparation of the financial statements. Although these estimates are based on 
management’s best knowledge and judgement of current events and actions, 
actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 49.

(b)	 Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of 
the Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and balances 
between group companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated in 
full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are 
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the 
asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included 
in the consolidated income statement from the dates of acquisition or up to 
the dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made 
to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies 
into line with those used by other members of the Group.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(b)	 Business combination and basis of consolidation (Continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the acquisition 
method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the 
acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity 
interests issued by the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. 
The Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured 
at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or losses are recognised 
in profit or loss. The Group may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, 
to measure the non-controlling interests that represent present ownership 
interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or at the proportionate share 
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling interests 
are measured at fair value unless another measurement basis is required 
by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they are 
incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are deducted 
from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised 
at acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are 
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from new 
information obtained within the measurement period (a maximum of 12 
months from the acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition date. 
All other subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration classified as an 
asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of 
control are accounted for as equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is 
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the 
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the 
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of 
the subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for 
in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities 
were disposed of.

The carrying amount of non-controlling interests that represent present 
ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those interests at initial 
recognition plus such non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent changes 
in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to such non-controlling 
interests even if this results in those non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(c)	S ubsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control. 
The Company controls an investee if all three of the following elements are 
present: power over the investee, exposure, or rights, to variable returns from 
the investee, and the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. 
Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there 
may be a change in any of these elements of control.

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement of 
financial position at cost (including deemed capital contribution), less any 
identified impairment loss. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the 
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

(d)	 Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to 
the customer, at the amount of promised consideration to which the Group is 
expected to be entitled, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties 
and is after deduction of any trade discount.

Services rendered to customers

Revenue from service is recognised over time as those services are rendered 
or at the point of service completed.

Rental income

Rental income, including rentals invoiced in advance from properties let under 
operating leases, is recognised on a straight-line basis over the terms of 
the relevant leases. The difference between recognised rental income and 
rental cash receipts is recorded as accrued rental income receivable in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

Dividend income

Dividend income from investments including financial asset at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised when the shareholder’s rights to receive 
payment have been established (provided that it is probable that the economic 
benefit will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured 
reliably).
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(d)	 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income can 
be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference 
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on 
initial recognition.

(e)	 Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital 
appreciation, and that are not occupied by the Group.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly 
attr ibutable expenditure. Subsequent to init ial recognit ion, investment 
properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of investment property are included in profit or loss 
for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment 
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits 
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of 
the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period 
in which the item is derecognised.

(f)	 Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently carried at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value.

Properties under development

The cost of properties under development comprises the acquisition cost 
of land, development expenditure, other direct expenses and capitalised 
borrowing costs (see Note 3(p)).

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business less estimated cost of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to complete a sale.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(g)	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the statement of financial position 
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses, if any. Freehold land is stated at cost less accumulated impairment 
loss.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property, 
plant and equipment (other than freehold land) less their residue value over 
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, as follows:

Furniture, fixtures and equipment	 3 to 10 years
Computer equipment	 3 years
Buildings	 23 to 40 years
Leasehold improvements	 3 to 5 years or over the lease term, 

whichever is shorter

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes 
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or 
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued 
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item 
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between 
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in 
profit or loss.

The accounting policy of right-of-use assets is set out in Note 3(o).
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(h)	 Impairment of tangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts 
of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that these 
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss (if any).

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of 
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual 
cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of 
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis 
can be identified.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to 
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is 
recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at 
a revalued amount under another standard, in which case the impairment loss 
is treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of 
the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of 
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) 
in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income 
immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under 
another standard, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increases under that standard to the extent of the decrease 
previously charged.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(i)	 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and 
that is neither a subsidiary nor a joint arrangement. Significant influence is 
the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the 
investee but not control or joint control over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method whereby they are 
initially recognised at cost and thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted 
for the Group’s share of the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net 
assets except that losses in excess of the Group’s interest in the associate 
are not recognised unless there is an obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group and its 
associates are recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests 
in the associate. The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses 
resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the carrying value of 
the associate. Where unrealised losses provide evidence of impairment of the 
asset transferred they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Group’s share 
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is 
capitalised and included in the carrying amount of the associate. Where there 
is objective evidence that the investment in an associate has been impaired, 
the carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the same 
way as other non-financial assets.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in associates 
are carried at cost less impairment losses, if any. The results of associates 
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and 
receivable during the year.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(j)	 Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where there is a contractual 
arrangement that confers joint control over the relevant activities of the 
arrangement to the Group and at least one other party. Joint control is 
assessed under the same principles as control over subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interests in joint arrangements either as

•	 Joint ventures: where the Group has rights to the net assets of the joint 
arrangement; or

•	 Joint operations: where the Group has both the rights to assets and 
obligations for the liabilities of the joint arrangement.

In assessing the classification of interests in joint arrangements, the Group 
considers:

•	 The structure of the joint arrangement;

•	 The legal form of joint arrangements structured through a separate 
vehicle;

•	 The contractual terms of the joint arrangement agreement; and

•	 Any other facts and circumstances (including any other contractual 
arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interests in joint ventures using the equity method 
whereby they are initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the joint ventures. When 
the Group’s share of losses of a joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in 
that joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, 
form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint venture), the Group 
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are 
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or made payments on behalf of that joint venture.

Any premium paid for an investment in a joint venture above the fair value of 
the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
acquired is capitalised and included in the carrying amount of the investment 
in joint venture. Where there is objective evidence that the investment in 
a joint venture has been impaired the carrying amount of the investment is 
tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial assets.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(k)	 Financial instruments

(i)	 Financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement 
categories:

—	 Financial assets at fair value (either through other comprehensive 
income or through profit or loss); and

—	 Financial assets at amortised cost.

The classification is generally based on two criteria:

—	 the business model under which the financial asset is managed; 
and

—	 the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

Measurement

Investments in financial assets are recognised on the date the Group 
commits to purchase the investment.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair 
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit 
or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair 
value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their 
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their 
classification as follows:
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(k)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)	 Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s 
business model for managing the financial asset and the cash flow 
characteristics of the financial asset. There are three measurement 
categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

—	 Amortised cost

Financial assets that are held within a business model whose 
objective is to hold the financial assets in order to col lect 
contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial 
assets give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and 
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss.

—	 Fair value through other comprehensive income

Financial assets that are held within a business model whose 
objective is to be achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling the financial assets and the contractual terms 
of the financial assets give rise on specified dates to cash 
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding are measured at fair value though 
other comprehensive income. Interest income calculated using 
the effect ive interest method, foreign exchange gains and 
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other 
net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in other 
comprehensive income are recycled to profit or loss.

—	 Fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or 
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 
are measured at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in fair 
value and interest income are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(k)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)	 Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

—	 Fair value through profit or loss

Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss are 
subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in fair value, 
dividend income and interest income are recognised in profit or 
loss.

—	 Fair value through other comprehensive income

For equity investment which is not held for trading purposes 
and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes 
an election to designate the investment at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, they are subsequently measured 
at fa i r  va lue and changes in fa i r  va lue are recognised in 
other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made if the 
investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s 
perspective. Where such an elect ion is made, the amount 
accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the fair 
value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. 
At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair value 
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained profits. It is not 
recycled through profit or loss. Dividend income is recognised 
in profit or loss unless the dividend income clearly represents a 
recovery of part of the cost of the investments. Other net gains 
and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income and 
are not reclassified to profit or loss. Equity instruments at fair 
value through other comprehensive income are not subject to 
impairment assessment.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(k)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)	 Impairment loss of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit 
losses (the “ECLs”) associated with its debt instruments carried at 
amortised cost (including rental receivables, other receivables and 
deposits, loan receivables, restricted bank deposits and cash and bank 
balances) and measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses which are 
measured at the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference 
between the cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with 
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive) over 
the expected life of the financial instrument. The maximum period to 
consider when measuring ECLs is the maximum contractual period over 
which the entity is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are measured at the end of each reporting period to reflect 
changes in the debt instrument’s credit risk since initial recognition. Any 
change in the amount of ECLs is recognised as an impairment gain or 
loss in profit or loss. Loss allowances for debt instruments measured 
at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the 
assets. For debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive 
income, loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in fair value reserve (recycling), instead of reducing the 
carrying amount of the financial assets.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either 
partially or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of 
recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the 
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate 
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

For rental receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach to 
measure the loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs 
on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix based on 
the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that 
are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the current and 
forecast general economic conditions at the end of the reporting period. 
For other debt financial assets, the Group measures the loss allowance 
either based on 12-month ECLs or l i fet ime ECLs, depending on 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(k)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)	 Impairment loss of financial assets (Continued)

However, when there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs. 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has 
increased significantly since initial recognition and when estimating 
ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that 
is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes 
both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on 
the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and 
including forward-looking information. The Group’s loan receivables and 
rental receivables at amortised cost are considered to have low credit 
risk since there was no recent history of default of the debtor and it has 
good settlement record with the Group.

The Group assumes that the credit r isk on a financial asset has 
increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when: (1) the 
borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, 
without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if 
any is held); or (2) the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum 
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated based on 
the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) 
of the financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets interest 
income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(k)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)	 Financial liabilities

A financial liability is classified as (i) financial liabilities at amortised cost; 
or (ii) financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial l iabilities at amortised cost including other payables and 
accrued charges, amounts due to shareholders and subsidiaries and 
borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of directly attributable 
costs incurred and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The related interest expense is accounted for 
in accordance with the accounting policy as set out in Note 3(p).

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

A financial liability may be designated irrevocably as at fair value through 
profit or loss upon initial recognition if:

—	 s u c h  d e s i g n a t i o n  e l i m i n a t e s  o r  s i g n i f i c a n t l y  r e d u c e s  a 
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise 
arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains 
and losses on them on different bases; or

—	 the financial liability forms part of a group of financial liabilities, 
which are managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair 
value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or 
investment strategy, and information about the group is provided 
internally on that basis to the Group’s key management personnel.

If a financial liability forms part of a contract containing one or more 
embedded derivatives, the entire combined contract is allowed to be 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

The accounting policy of lease liabilities is set out in Note 3(o).
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(k)	 Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv)	 Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest 
income or interest expense over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial asset or 
liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(v)	 Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

(vi)	 Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when, and only when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or 
the financial asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the 
criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the 
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(l)	O ther financial assets/liabilities

Limited Partner Interests

Limited partner interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets 
not held by the Group and are presented separately in the consolidated 
income statement and within assets/liabilities and equity in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. The limited partner interests associated with 
those limited partnerships that have a fixed term are recorded as long term 
assets/liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position and the 
related income/(loss) allocated to the limited partner is recorded as loss or 
income relating to limited partner in the consolidated income statement. The 
limited partner interests associated with those limited partnerships that have 
a perpetual term are recorded as non-controlling interests within equity in 
the consolidated statement of financial position and the related income/(loss) 
allocated to non-controlling interests is presented as profit or loss attributable 
to non-controlling interests in the consolidated income statement.

The percentage of capital contribution is not necessarily representing the 
profit or loss sharing percentage applicable at each subsidiary. The profit or 
loss sharing based on a waterfall structure. A waterfall structure provides 
for the allocation of profit or loss and cash distributions on an other than pro 
rata basis providing for preferential returns. For those subsidiaries containing 
a waterfall structure, the distribution provisions vary and therefore the 
ownership percentages do not effectively represent the profit or loss sharing 
percentage or economic interest that the limited partners will receive from the 
subsidiaries.

Limited partner interests represent interests held by third parties in certain 
real estate limited partnerships that are consolidated for financial reporting 
purposes. Limited partner interests at 31 December 2020 consist primarily of 
limited partnership interests in subsidiaries.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(l)	O ther financial assets/liabilities (Continued)

Interests of Class B members with put option

Interests of Class B members with put option represent portion of shares of 
the Group, which contain an option to sell all or any portion of the units of 
shares to the Group, at the purchase price representing their fair value.

The ownership by a member of the relevant shares shall entitle such members 
to allocations of net income and net loss and other items of income, gain, 
loss or deduction, and distributions of cash and other property of the Group 
in proportion to their respective distribution percentage interests, after 
repayment of loans made by the members or their affiliates to the Group and 
relevant tax payment.

The put option is a contract to purchase the Group’s own equity instruments 
and recorded as financial liability. On initial recognition, a gross financial 
l iability is recognised at the present value of estimated exercise price. 
Subsequently, the changes arising from the fair value of the financial liability 
be recongised in consolidated income statement.

(m)	S hare-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates equity-settled share-based compensation plans for 
remuneration of its directors and employees.

Al l  serv ices received in exchange for the grant of any share-based 
compensation are measured at their fair values. The fair value of services 
received determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted 
at the grant date is recognised as an expense in full at the grant date when 
the share options granted vest immediately, with a corresponding increase in 
equity (share option reserve).

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share 
option reserve will be transferred to share capital. When the share options are 
forfeited or cancelled after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the 
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be 
transferred to retained profits.  
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(n)	T axation

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted for 
items that are non-assessable or disallowable for income tax purposes and is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 
the corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except for goodwill and 
recognised assets and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable 
profits, deferred tax l iabil it ies are recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax 
rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the carrying amount of 
the asset or liability is realised or settled and that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

An exception to the general requirement on determining the appropriate 
tax rate used in measuring deferred tax amount is when an investment 
property is carried at fair value under HKAS 40 Investment Property. Unless 
the presumption is rebutted, the deferred tax amounts on these investment 
properties are measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale of 
these investment properties at their carrying amounts at the end of the 
reporting period. The presumption is rebutted when the investment property 
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to 
consume substantially all the economic benefits embodied in the property over 
time, rather than through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising 
on investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, except where the Group is 
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they relate to 
items recognised in other comprehensive income in which case the taxes are 
also recognised in other comprehensive income or when they relate to items 
recognised directly in equity in which case the taxes are also recognised 
directly in equity.

(o)	 Leasing

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance leases) are 
required to be capitalised in the statement of financial position as right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an entity 
to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/or (ii) 
leases for which the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected 
not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value assets 
and leases for which at the commencement date have a lease term less than 
12 months. The lease payments associated with those leases have been 
expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(o)	 Leasing (Continued)

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would comprise: (i) 
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability (see below for the 
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (ii) any lease payments made 
at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) 
any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of costs to 
be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset to 
the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those 
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under 
the cost model, the Group measures the right-of-use assets at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liability.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease payments 
that are not paid at the date of commencement of the lease. The lease 
payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that 
rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the 
Group uses the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying asset during 
the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date of the lease 
are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease 
incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease payments that depend on an index 
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at commencement 
date; (iii) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual 
value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is 
reasonably certain to exercise that option and (v) payments of penalties for 
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option 
to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the lease 
liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; 
and (iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease 
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments arising from change 
in an index or rate, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance 
fixed lease payments or a change in assessment to purchase the underlying 
asset.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(o)	 Leasing (Continued)

Accounting as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment property to a number of tenants. 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs 
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on the 
straight-line basis over the lease term.

When the Group acts as an intermediate lessor in a sublease arrangement, the 
group is required to classify the sublease as a finance lease or an operating 
lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, 
instead of by reference to the underlying asset.

(p)	 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take 
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, 
are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned 
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure 
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 
they are incurred.

(q)	S egment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment information 
based on the regular internal financial information reported to the executive 
directors for their decisions about resources allocation to the Group’s business 
components and for their review of the performance of those components.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial 
reporting purpose unless the segments have similar characteristics and 
are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature of 
production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used 
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the 
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually material 
may be aggregated if they are share a majority of these criteria.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(r)	 Foreign currencies

In preparing the f inancial statements of each individual group entity, 
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity 
(foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) 
at the rate of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions at the end 
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried 
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the 
retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in 
which they arise, except for exchange differences arising on a monetary item 
that forms part of the Company’s net investment in a foreign operation, in 
which case, such exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity and will be reclassified from equity to profit 
and loss on disposal of foreign operation.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items 
carried at fair value, are included in profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the 
assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated into HK$ 
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income 
and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the year. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in equity (the translation reserve) under the heading 
of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest 
in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary 
that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of joint control 
over a joint venture that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange 
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to 
the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss. In addition, in 
relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that does not result in the Group 
losing control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated 
exchange differences are reattributed to non-controlling interests and are not 
recognised in profit or loss.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(s)	 Provision and contingent liabilities

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a 
provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the future 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase 
in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is 
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, 
or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a 
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is 
remote.

Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence 
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within 
the control of the Group, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the 
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(t)	E mployee benefits

(i)	 Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than 
termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 
twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the 
employees render the related service. Short term employee benefits are 
recognised in the year when the employees render the related service.

(ii)	 Defined contribution retirement plan

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and other defined 
contribution retirement schemes are recognised as an expense when 
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

(iii)	 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when the Group 
can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group 
recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination 
benefits.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(u)	 Related parties 

(a)	 A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the 
Group if that person:

(i)	 has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)	 has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)	 is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the 
Company’s parent.

(b)	 An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

(i)	 The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which 
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related 
to the others).

(ii)	 One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or 
an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the 
other entity is a member).

(iii)	 Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)	 One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity 
is an associate of the third entity.

(v)	 The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the 
employees of the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)	 The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified 
in (a).

(vii)	 A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity 
or is a member of key management personnel of the entity (or of 
a parent of the entity).

(viii)	 The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, 
provides key management personnel services to the Group or to 
the Group’s parent.
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3.	S UMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(Continued)

(u)	 Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may 
be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings 
with the entity and include:

(i)	 that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii)	 children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii)	 dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

4.	SE GMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to executive directors of the Company, being the chief 
operating decision makers, for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment 
of segment performance focuses on types of goods or services delivered or 
provided.

For better ref lect ion of the combined revenue structure and performance 
measurement after consolidation of GR Realty as disclosed in note 42, as well as 
enhance the comparability of the segment results, the operating segments were 
reallocated. The segment information in 2019 was restated accordingly.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments under HKFRS 8 
Operating Segment are as follows:

—	 Property investment in the United States of America (the “U.S.”)

	 Rental income and ancillary service income from leasing of office property and 
residential condominium which are managed by GR Realty.

—	 Property development in the U.S.

	 Income from sale of quality commercial and residential properties in the U.S. 
which are managed by GR Realty.

—	 Property investment in Hong Kong

	 Rental income from leasing of office and residential properties in Hong Kong.

—	 Fund investments

	 Investing in various investment funds and generating investment income.

—	 Securities and other investments

	 Investing in various securities and generating investment income.
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4.	SE GMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to 
the income generated from and the expenses incurred by those segments. Each of 
the operating segments is managed separately as the resources requirement of each 
of them is different.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results from operations by 
reportable and operating segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Managed by 
GR Realty

Property 
investment 
in the U.S.

Property 
development 

in the U.S.

Property 
investment 

in HK
Fund

 investments

Securities 
and other 

investments Elimination Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment revenue 590,322 — 10,646 — 2,888 — 603,856

Less: Inter-segment sales — — — — 5,196 (5,196) —       

Revenue as presented in consolidated 
income statement 590,322 — 10,646 — 8,084 (5,196) 603,856

       

Segment results 119,209 (4,906) (1,104) 3,066 64,531 180,796     

Interest income from bank deposits 4,844
Depreciation (10,137)
Provision for impairment loss on 

financial assets (5,636)
Corporate legal and professional fee (20,160)
Finance costs (191,122)
Unallocated corporate expenses (96,041) 

Loss before income tax (137,456)
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4.	SE GMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Managed by 
GR Realty

Property 
investment 
in the U.S.

Property
 development 

in the U.S.

Property 
investment 

in HK
Fund 

investments

Securities 
and other 

investments Elimination Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Segment revenue 102,299 — 11,314 3 1,883 — 115,499

Less: Inter-segment sales — — — — 4,704 (4,704) —       

Revenue as presented in consolidated 
income statement 102,299 — 11,314 3 6,587 (4,704) 115,499       

Segment results 6,088 (7,731) 7,104 23,303 (9,852) 18,912     

Interest income from bank deposits 9,955
Depreciation (3,231)
Corporate legal and professional fee (3,559)
Finance costs (17,211)
Unallocated corporate expenses (57,514) 

Loss before income tax (52,648) 

Segment result represents the profit or loss by each segment without allocation 
of interest income from bank deposits, depreciation, unallocated provision for 
impairment loss on financial assets, corporate legal and professional fee, unallocated 
corporate expenses (including central administration and staff costs and directors’ 
remuneration) and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the chief operating 
decision makers, the executive directors, for the purposes of resource allocation and 
performance assessment.
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4.	SE GMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)	S egment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable 
segments:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Assets
Segment assets

— Property investment in the U.S. 12,493,122 2,503,503
— Property development in the U.S. 1,660,888 722,405
— Property investment in HK 450,560 460,749
— Fund investments 2,215,529 2,215,674
— Securities and other investments 928,944 811,217

Unallocated assets 206,478 289,371  

Consolidated total assets 17,955,521 7,002,919
  

Liabilities
Segment liabilities

— Property investment in the U.S. 9,571,846 456,954
— Property development in the U.S. 629,963 1,011
— Property investment in HK 4,013 4,069
— Fund investments 268 268
— Securities and other investments 4,186 190

Unallocated liabilities 558,560 793,580  

Consolidated total liabilities 10,768,836 1,256,072
  

Segment assets include all assets are allocated to operating segments 
other than unallocated property, plant and equipment, deferred tax assets, 
unallocated deposits, prepayments and other receivables, tax recoverables, 
unallocated cash and bank balances which are not allocated to a segment.

Segment liabilities included all liabilities are allocated to operating segments 
other than tax payables, deferred tax liabilities, unallocated amounts due to 
shareholders, unallocated lease liabilities and unallocated other payables and 
accrued charges.

The information disclosed above represented the segments to be identified on 
the basis of annual reports about components of the Group that are regularly 
reviewed by the chief operating decision makers for the purpose of assessing 
their performance and allocating resources to segments.
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4.	SE GMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)	S egment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Other segment information

Managed by GR Realty

Property 
investment 
in the U.S.

Property 
development 

in the U.S.

Property 
investment 

in HK
 Fund 

investments

 Securities 
and other 

investments Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Amounts included in the 
measure of segment profit 
or loss or segment assets:

Changes in fair value of  
financial instruments held  
for trading — — — — 58,403 58,403

Changes in fair value of 
financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss — — — 3,148 271 3,419

Changes in fair value of 
investment properties (395,135) — (9,640) — — (404,775)

Loss on re-measurement of 
interests in joint ventures 
(Note 42) (50,339) — — — — (50,339)

Share of results of joint 
ventures 98,993 — — — — 98,993

Gain on effective settlement 
of loan receivables 60,787 — — — — 60,787
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4.	SE GMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)	S egment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Other segment information

Managed by GR Realty

Property 
investment 
in the U.S.

Property 
development 

in the U.S.

Property 
investment 

in HK
Fund 

investments

 Securities 
and other 

investments Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

Amounts included in the 
measure of segment profit 
or loss or segment assets: 

Changes in fair value of financial 
instruments held for trading — — — — (4,270) (4,270)

Changes in fair value of 
financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss — — — 23,789 (572) 23,217

Changes in fair value of 
investment properties (11,559) — (2,730) — — (14,289)

Provision for impairment loss 
on financial assets (58,659) — — — — (58,659)

Share of results of joint 
ventures (1,150) — — — — (1,150)
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4.	SE GMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b)	 Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong (place of domicile) and the 
U.S..

The Group’s revenue (excluded inter-segment sales) and its non-current assets, 
other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets by geographical 
location of the assets regarding its operations are detailed below:

Revenue (excluded  
inter-segment sales)

Non-current assets other than 
financial instruments and 

deferred tax assets

2020 2019 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated) (Restated)

Hong Kong 10,766 11,761 456,353 470,970
The U.S. 591,972 103,612 10,987,777 1,924,903
Others 1,118 126 — 2    

603,856 115,499 11,444,130 2,395,875
    

(c)	 Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 December 2020, there was revenue received from a 
tenant generated from the Group’s property investment in the U.S., whom 
contributed approximately HK$72,927,000 (2019: HK$78,758,000), represented 
approximately 12% (2019: 68%) of the Group’s total revenue.
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5.	 REVENUE

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Rental income 502,089 113,612
Dividend income 2,888 1,887
Revenue from contracts with customers

— Ancillary service income to property leasing 98,879 —  

603,856 115,499
  

6.	O PERATING EXPENSES

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Repairs, maintenance and utilities 127,335 20,998
Property insurance costs 9,004 1,607
Property management expenses 24,559 8,767
Real estate taxes 29,093 13,003
Others 3,302 2,542  

193,293 46,917
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7.	OT HER INCOME, GAINS/LOSSES

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Bank interest income 4,844 9,955
Other interest income 14,779 25,552
Loss on re-measurement of interests in joint ventures 

(Note 42) (50,339) —
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 43) 1,253 —
Sundry 2,729 454  

(26,734) 35,961
  

8.	 ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Auditors’ remuneration (Note 11) 5,365 2,505
Depreciation (Note 18) 10,137 3,231
Employee costs 55,276 25,542
Rental expenses on short term leases 549 3,854
Legal and professional fee 31,005 13,419
Others 26,821 36,278  

129,153 84,829
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9.	S HARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Equity-settled share option scheme of the Company:

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was adopted pursuant to a 
resolution passed on 23 June 2011 for the primary purpose of providing incentives 
to directors and eligible employees, and will expire on 22 June 2021. Under 
the Scheme, the directors of the Company may grant share options to eligible 
employees, including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for 
shares in the Company.

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price

26 August 2011 26 August 2011 to 22 June 2021 HK$1.40

9 August 2013 9 August 2013 to 22 June 2021 HK$0.96

9 August 2013 16 September 2013 to 22 June 2021 HK$0.96

9 March 2015 9 March 2015 to 22 June 2021 HK$1.27

No share-based compensation was recognised by the Group and the Company for 
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

At 31 December 2019, the number of shares in respect of which share options 
had been granted and remained outstanding under the Scheme was 34,510,000, 
representing 7.65% of the shares of the Company in issue at that date.

Share options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share 
options to 22 June 2021. The exercise price is determined by the directors of 
the Company, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the 
Company’s shares on the date of grant and (ii) the average closing price of the 
shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.
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9.	S HARE-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)

Movements in share options are as follows:

2020 2019

Number

Weighted
average
exercise

price Number

Weighted
average
exercise

price

HK$ HK$

Outstanding at 1 January 34,510,000 1.02 34,510,000 1.02
Exercised (3,624,000) 0.96 — —
Forfeited or cancelled (30,886,000) — — —    

Outstanding at 31 
December — — 34,510,000 1.02    

Exercisable at 31 
December — — 34,510,000 1.02

    

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the share options outstanding at 
31 December 2019 was approximately 1.47 years.

The fair value was calculated using the Binomial model.

10.	 FINANCE COSTS

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on bank and other borrowings 194,747 20,643
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note 37) 3,488 881  

Total interest expenses for financial liabilities  
that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss 198,235 21,524

Amortisation of arrangement fee 3,643 —
Others — 347
Less: Amount capitalised (Note) (10,756) (4,660)  

191,122 17,211
  

Note:

Borrowing costs have been capitalised during the year at various applicable rates ranging from 2.8% to 
4.4% per annum (2019: from 4.5% to 5.2% per annum) and included in the additions to properties under 
development (Note 24).
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11.	 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging and (crediting):

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Auditors’ remuneration (Note 8)
— Statutory audit service 2,000 1,740
— Other audit service 3,365 765  

5,365 2,505  

Gross rental income from investment properties (502,089) (113,612)
Direct operating expenses arising from investment 

properties that generate rental income 193,293 46,917  

(308,796) (66,695)  

Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss (3,712) 9,438
Retirement benefits scheme contributions (excluding 

amounts paid under directors’ emoluments) 1,497 1,204
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12.	 INCOME TAX (EXPENSES)/CREDIT

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

The taxation attributable to the Group’s operation 
comprises:

Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax
Provision for the year 165 233
Over-provision in respect of prior years (102) —  

63 233  

Current tax — People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) 
Enterprise Income Tax
Provision for the year 2 —

Current tax — Overseas tax
Provision for the year 1,870 1,287
Under-provision in respect of prior years 8,023 —  

9,893 1,287  

Deferred tax expenses/(credit) (Note 36) 85,822 (2,207)  

Income tax expenses/(credit) 95,780 (687)
  

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on 
the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the year, except for one 
subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax 
rates regime. The first HK$2 million of assessable profits of the qualifying entity is 
taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%.

All of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are subject to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax 
rate of 25% for the year (2019: 25%).

Overseas tax is calculated at the rates applicable in the respective jurisdictions in 
which the Group operates.
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12.	 INCOME TAX (EXPENSES)/CREDIT (Continued)

Income tax expenses/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the loss before 
income tax per the consolidated income statement as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax (137,456) (52,648)
  

Tax calculated at the rate applicable to loss  
in the respective jurisdictions (27,437) (23,300)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 165,404 23,238
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (90,099) (19,929)
Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures 31,471 8,154
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses 5,979 5,713
Tax effect on temporary difference not recognised (5,080) (1,681)
Others (223) (110)
Under-provision in respect of prior years 7,921 —
Withholding tax 7,844 7,228  

Income tax expenses/(credit) 95,780 (687)
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13.	 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to Section 383 of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) and the Companies (Disclosure of Information about 
Benefits of Directors) Regulation (Cap.622G) is as follows:

Li Ming△
Sum

Pui Ying

Lai Kwok
Hung,

Alex
Lam

Yee Lan*

Li
Hongbo#

Law
Tze Lun

Lo Woon
Bor, Henry

Tang
Runjiang

Chen
Yingshun

Wang
Xiao^

Zhou
Yue@ Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

2020
Fees — 180 180 98 83 180 180 180 180 98 10 1,369
Other emoluments

— Salaries and 
other benefits — — 1,573 1,074 — — — — — — — 2,647

— Contributions 
to retirement 
benefits 
schemes — — 149 107 — — — — — — — 256            

Total emoluments — 180 1,902 1,279 83 180 180 180 180 98 10 4,272            

2019
Fees — 180 180 — 180 180 180 180 180 — — 1,260
Other emoluments

— Salaries and 
other benefits 30 30 1,560 — 30 30 30 30 30 — — 1,770

— Contributions 
to retirement 
benefits 
schemes — — 149 — — — — — — — — 149            

Total emoluments 30 210 1,889 — 210 210 210 210 210 — — 3,179            

△	 resigned as a non-executive director on 30 July 2020
*	 appointed as an executive director on 15 June 2020
#	 resigned as a non-executive director on 15 June 2020
^	 appointed as a non-executive director on 15 June 2020 and resigned on 31 December 2020
@	 appointed as a non-executive director on 10 December 2020

Notes:

(a)	 No directors waived any emoluments for each of the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

(b)	 No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining 
the Group or as compensation for loss of office during each of the years ended 31 December 2020 
and 2019.



Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited     Annual Report 2020140

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

14.	 FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals for the year include one (2019: 
one) director whose emolument is reflected in Note 13 above. The emoluments of 
the remaining four (2019: four) highest paid individuals are as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 6,317 3,899
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 33 296  

6,350 4,195
  

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2020 2019

No. of
employees

No. of
employees

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 3 —
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 2
Nil to HK$1,000,000 — 2

  

The emoluments paid or payable to members of senior management personnel were 
within the following bands:

2020 2019

No. of
individuals

No. of
individuals

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 3
Nil to HK$1,000,000 1 3

  

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the emoluments of the highest paid individuals excluded a 
director are all employees of GR Realty, their emoluments are determined with reference to the salary 
standard in the U.S.

Except for an emolument of approximately HK$331,000 was paid to one of the five highest paid individual 
(employee) as a compensation of loss of office during the year ended 31 December 2019, no emoluments 
were paid by the Group to the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the 
Group or as compensation for loss of office during each of the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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15.	 LOSS PER SHARE

(a)	 Basic loss per share

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to owners of the 
Company is based on the adjusted loss for the year attributable to owners of 
the Company of approximately HK$233,262,000 (2019: loss of approximately 
HK$95,165,000) and on the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 
569,652,000 (2019: 451,390,000) in issue during the year.

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Loss attributable to owners of the Company (233,036) (94,713)
Less: Distribution paid to the holder of  

perpetual bond (226) (452)  

Adjusted loss attributable to the owners of the 
Company (233,262) (95,165)

  

(b)	 Diluted loss per share

No adjustment was made to the basic loss per share amount presented for 
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 in respect of a dilution as the 
impact of share options and convertible preference shares outstanding had an 
anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share amount presented.
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16.	 DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed in respect of the convertible preference shares 
and the ordinary shares of the Company during the years ended 31 December 2020 
and 2019, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period.

17.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties comprise:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Properties in Hong Kong 450,560 460,200
Properties in the U.S. 10,913,001 1,062,574  

11,363,561 1,522,774
  

Notes:

(a)	 All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation purposes are measured using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for 
as investment properties.

The revaluation of investment properties during the current year gave rise to a net loss arising from 
changes in fair value of approximately HK$404,775,000 (2019: approximately HK$14,289,000) which 
has been recognised in profit or loss. Approximately 74% (2019: 87%) of the investment properties 
of the Group were rented out under operating leases as at 31 December 2020. 

As at 31 December 2020, investment properties in the U.S. of approximately HK$10,578,093,000 
(2019: approximately HK$717,261,000) were pledged as collateral for bank borrowings of 
approximately HK$6,922,096,000 (2019: approximately HK$422,880,000) (Note 30).

(b)	 The fair value of investment properties is a level 3 recurring fair value measurement. A 
reconciliation of the opening and closing fair value balance is summarised below.

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of the year 1,522,774 1,469,245
Additions through consolidation of GR Realty (Note 42) 10,220,027 —
Capital expenditure 88,312 —
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 43) (61,540) —
Transfer from owner-occupied property (Note 18) — 74,000
Changes in fair value (404,775) (14,289)
Exchange realignment (1,237) (6,182)  

At the end of the year 11,363,561 1,522,774  

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group reclassified one of its owner-occupied office 
in Hong Kong with net book value of approximately HK$53,744,000 as an investment property (Note 
18). As a result, gain on revaluation of properties of approximately HK$20,256,000 was recognised 
in other comprehensive income upon transfer from property, plant and equipment to investment 
properties.
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17.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)	 Included in total investment properties are assets in which the Group is a lessee for certain ground 
leases. These ground leases have been recognised with the corresponding investment properties at 
fair value and recorded as investment properties.

A reconciliation of the ground leases is as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of the year — —
Additions through consolidation of GR Realty 102,102 —
Disposal of a subsidiary (7,635) —
Changes in fair value 158 —
Exchange realignment 39 —  

At the end of the year 94,664 —  

The significant unobservable inputs into the valuation technique include:

Estimated rental value Based on the actual view, type and quality of the 
proper t ies and supported by the terms of any 
existence lease, other contracts and external evidence 
such as current market rents for similar properties 

Discount rate Ref lec t ing cur rent  market  assessments o f  the 
uncertainty in the amount and timing of cash flows

Premium or discount for 
quality of  properties

Quality of properties, such as view, location, size, 
level and condition of the properties

Terminal capitalisation rate Indicating the potential rate of return, nature of the 
property and prevailing market condition
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17.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements of the investment properties are 
as follows:

31 December 2020

Properties and location
Fair value
HK$’000

Valuation 
techniques

Significant 
unobservable 
inputs

Range of 
significant 
unobservable 
inputs

Interrelationship 
between key 
unobservable 
inputs and fair 
value measurement

Office premises situated 
in Hong Kong (Note (i))

421,500 Income 
capitalisation 
approach 

Estimated rental 
value

HK$48 – HK$55  
per month  
per square feet

The higher the rental 
value, the higher 
the fair value 

Discount rate 2.0% – 2.4% The higher the 
discount rate, the 
lower the fair value

Residential properties 
and carparking space 
situated in Hong Kong 
(Note (i))

29,060 Income 
capitalisation 
approach 

Estimated rental 
value

HK$20 – HK$22  
per month  
per square feet

The higher the rental 
value, the higher 
the fair value 

Discount rate 2.1% – 2.6% The higher the 
discount rate, the 
lower the fair value

Residential properties 
situated in the U.S. 
(Note (ii))

168,229 Market 
comparison 
approach

Premium or 
discount for 
quality of 
properties (e.g. 
view, level and 
condition of 
the residential 
properties)

-5% – 5% The higher the quality 
of properties 
with reference to 
comparables, the 
higher the fair value

Office building situated in 
the U.S. (Note (ii))

886,886 Market 
comparison 
approach

Premium or 
discount for 
quality of 
properties (e.g. 
location, size 
and condition 
of the office 
building)

-20% – 13% The higher the quality 
of properties 
with reference to 
comparables, the 
higher the fair value

Other office premises 
situated in the U.S.  
and held by GR Realty 
(Note (iii))

9,857,886 Income approach 
– discounted 
cash flow 
method

Discount rate 6% – 14% The higher the 
discount rate, the 
lower the fair value 

Terminal 
capitalisation 
rate

4% – 10.25% The higher the 
terminal 
capitalisation rate, 
the lower the fair 
value
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17.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

31 December 2019

Properties and 
location

Fair value
HK$’000

Valuation 
techniques 

Significant 
unobservable 
inputs

Range of 
significant 
unobservable 
inputs 

Interrelationship 
between key 
unobservable 
inputs and fair 
value measurement

Office premises  
situated in  
Hong Kong (Note (i))

 428,900 Income 
capitalisation 
approach

Estimated rental 
value

HK$57 – HK$65  
per month  
per square feet

The higher the rental 
value, the higher 
the fair value

Discount rate 2.6% – 3.1% The higher the 
discount rate, 
the lower the fair 
value

Residential properties 
and carparking space 
situated in Hong Kong 
(Note (i))

31,300 Income 
capitalisation 
approach

Estimated rental 
value

HK$19 – HK$20  
per month  
per square feet

The higher the rental 
value, the higher 
the fair value

Discount rate 2.3% The higher the 
discount rate, 
the lower the fair 
value

Residential properties 
situated in the U.S. 
(Note (ii))

179,432 Market 
comparison 
approach

Premium or 
discount for 
quality of 
properties (e.g. 
view, level and 
condition of 
the residential 
properties)

-6.0% – 1.0% The higher the 
quality of 
properties with 
reference to 
comparables, the 
higher the fair 
value

Office building  
situated in the U.S. 
(Note (ii))

883,142 Market 
comparison 
approach

Premium or 
discount for 
quality of 
properties (e.g. 
location, size 
and condition 
of the office 
building)

-20% – 17% The higher the 
quality of 
properties with 
reference to 
comparables, the 
higher the fair 
value
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17.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Notes:

(i)	 As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the fair values of the office premises, residential properties 
and car parking space situated in Hong Kong have been arrived at on the basis of valuation carried 
out on that dates by BMI Appraisals Limited (“BMI Appraisals”), which is an independent qualified 
professional valuer not connected with the Group. The valuation reports on these properties are 
signed by a director of BMI Appraisals who are member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

The fair values of these properties are determined using income capitalisation approach, where the 
market rentals of all lettable units of the properties are assessed and discounted at the market yield 
expected by investors for this type of properties. The market rentals are assessed by reference to 
the rentals achieved in lettable units of the properties as well as other lettings of similar properties 
in the same location. The discount rate is determined by reference to the yields derived from 
analysing the sales transactions of similar commercial properties in Hong Kong and adjusting to 
take into account the quality and location of the properties.

(ii)	 As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the fair values of the residential properties and office buildings 
located in the U.S. have been arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out on that dates by BMI 
Appraisals, and the valuation reports on these properties are signed by a director of BMI Appraisals 
who are member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

The fair values of these properties are determined using market comparison approach by reference 
to recent sales price of comparable properties on a price per square feet basis, adjusted for a 
premium or a discount specific to the quality of the Group’s properties compared to the recent 
sales. Higher premium for higher quality buildings will result in a higher fair value measurement.

(iii)	 As at 31 December 2020, the valuation of the investment properties located in the U.S. and held 
by GR Realty are conducted by a dedicated valuation team reporting to the management. The fair 
value are determined based on the discounted cash flow (“DCF”) method under income approach 
by generating the DCF models via ARGUS Enterprise software (“Argus Model”). Argus Model is a 
global solution for commercial real estate valuation.

Under the Argus Model, the property’s fair value is estimated using assumptions regarding the 
benefits and liabilities of ownership over the asset’s estimated life, including an exit or terminal 
value. The DCF method involves the projection of a series of cash flows on a real property interest, 
and a market-derived discount rate is applied to the projected cash flow series to establish the 
present value of cash flows associated with the property.

The specific timing of cash inflows and outflows are determined by events, such as rent reviews, 
lease renewal and related lease up periods, re-letting, redevelopment, or refurbishment. The 
appropriate duration is typically driven by market behavior that is characteristic of the class of real 
property. Periodic cash flow is typically estimated as gross income less vacancy, non-recoverable 
expenses, collection losses, lease incentives, maintenance costs, agent and commission costs and 
other operating and management expenses. The series of periodic net cash inflows, along with an 
estimate of the terminal value anticipated at the end of the projection period, is then discounted.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year.

The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’ highest and best use, 
which does not differ from their actual use.
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18.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Freehold 
land Buildings

Leasehold 
improvements

Furniture, 
fixtures and

equipment
Computer 

equipment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST
At 1 January 2019 — 56,383 4,261 2,563 1,129 64,336
Transfer to investment properties  

(Note 17) — (55,318) — — — (55,318)
Additions — 9,329 — 1,791 — 11,120
Effect of lease modification — — — (44) — (44)
Exchange realignment — (4) — (7) (3) (14)      

At 31 December 2019 — 10,390 4,261 4,303 1,126 20,080

Additions — 13,250 856 2,337 135 16,578
Additions through consolidation of  

GR Realty (Note 42) 15,171 28,074 11,764 2,386 — 57,395
Effect of lease modification — — — (699) — (699)
Transfer — — (757) 757 — —
Exchange realignment 5 5 5 14 7 36      

At 31 December 2020 15,176 51,719 16,129 9,098 1,268 93,390      

DEPRECIATION
At 1 January 2019 — 1,349 2,759 2,062 868 7,038
Charged for the year (Note 8) — 2,590 344 180 117 3,231
Effect of lease modification — — — (26) — (26)
Transfer to investment properties  

(Note 17) — (1,574) — — — (1,574)
Exchange realignment — (3) — (6) (3) (12)      

At 31 December 2019 — 2,362 3,103 2,210 982 8,657
Charged for the year (Note 8) — 8,091 1,127 789 130 10,137
Effect of lease modification — — — (612) — (612)
Exchange realignment — (3) (1) 28 8 32      

At 31 December 2020 — 10,450 4,229 2,415 1,120 18,214      

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2020 15,176 41,269 11,900 6,683 148 75,176      

At 31 December 2019 — 8,028 1,158 2,093 144 11,423      
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18.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Note:

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets, included in the above property, plant and 
equipment, by class of underlying asset is as follows:

Buildings

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

equipment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Right-of-use assets
At 1 January 2019 — 300 300
Additions 9,329 — 9,329
Depreciation (1,300) (72) (1,372)
Effect of lease modification — (18) (18)
Exchange realignment (1) (1) (2)   

At 31 December 2019 8,028 209 8,237
Additions 13,250 913 14,163
Additions through consolidation of GR Realty 12,211 402 12,613
Depreciation (7,805) (326) (8,131)
Effect of lease modification — (87) (87)
Exchange realignment 3 (8) (5)   

At 31 December 2020 25,687 1,103 26,790
   

19.	 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets other than goodwill — 826,260
Goodwill — 35,418  

At the end of the year — 861,678
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19.	 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of the year 861,678 858,618
Share of post-acquisition losses, net of tax and other 

comprehensive income (98,993) (1,150)
Income tax paid 515 3,958
Exchange realignment 249 252
Consolidation of GR Realty (Note 42) (763,449) —  

At the end of the year — 861,678
  

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had interests in the following joint ventures:

Name of joint venture

Form of 
business 
structure

Country of 
incorporation

Principal  
place of 
operation

Class of 
shares held

Percentage of 
ownership interests/

voting rights Principal activities

Gemini-Rosemont Realty LLC Limited liability 
company

The U.S. The U.S. Class A 
membership 
interests*

45% Property investment 
and management

Rosemont WTC Denver  
GPM LLC  
(“Denver GPM LLC”)

Limited liability 
company

The U.S. The U.S. Membership 
interests#

100% Property investment
and management

Rosemont Diversified  
Portfolio II LP  
(“Portfolio II LP”)

Limited 
partnership

The U.S. The U.S. Limited partnership 
interests#

37.19% Property investment
and management

*	 Class A membership interests represent the interests have control over the joint venture

#	 Membership interests and limited partnership interests are non-controlling interests

Notes:

(a)	 Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangement, these joint arrangements of the Group are classified as joint 
ventures and have been included in the Group’s consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method.
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19.	 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)	 On 31 December 2014, the Group entered into the purchase, sale and contribution agreement (the 
“Agreement”) with Neutron Property Fund Limited (the “Property Fund”), GR Realty JV Member 
LLC, Garfield Group Partners LLC (“Garfield Group”) and Rosemont Realty, LLC (“Rosemont”) 
to subscribe for 45%, 30%, 18.423%, 5.577% and 1% membership interests respectively in GR 
Realty, a limited liability company incorporated in the State of Delaware. GR Realty acquired the 
businesses, assets and liabilities of Rosemont (excluding certain equity interests owned directly 
by Rosemont which are not transferred to GR Realty) and the limited partnership interests in the 
limited partnerships of Rosemont (together with a promissory note evidencing a loan advance 
from Lone Rock Holdings, LLC (“Lone Rock”), one of the controlling shareholders of Rosemont, 
to Rosemont Dallas NCX LP, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Rosemont) owned by Lone Rock. The 
consideration is approximately US$69,152,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$536,234,000) in 
which approximately US$9,598,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$74,416,000) represented the 
directly attributable costs related to the transaction.

(c)	 Apart from the subscription of the 45% membership interests in GR Realty, the Group acquired 
100% membership interest and 37.19% limited partnership interests in Denver GPM LLC and 
Portfolio II LP at considerations of approximately US$15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$116,319,000) and approximately US$34,388,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$266,661,000) 
respectively. Denver GPM LLC and Portfolio II LP represented the syndicated projects under the 
portfolio of Rosemont (the “Syndicated Projects”).

In addition, the Group provided a working capital facility of US$10,000,000 to GR Realty.

The details as described above represented the transactions contemplated under the Agreement 
(the “Transactions”).

As mentioned above, the Group acquired direct interests in the Syndicated Projects which are 
controlled by GR Realty upon completion of the Transactions. Accordingly, the Syndicated Projects 
interests are accounted for as part of the Group’s interest in GR Realty.

GR Realty was formed under the laws of state of Delaware, domiciled in the U.S. on 22 April 2015. 
It has no operations until it acquired the businesses, assets and liabilities of Rosemont as explained 
above. GR Realty is primarily engaged in the ownership and the management of commercial office 
properties after the acquisition.

The Group and the Property Fund held 45% and 30% of Class A membership interests of GR Realty 
respectively. Both have collective control over GR Realty and decisions on the relevant activities of 
GR Realty require the unanimous consent of the Class A members. Therefore, GR Realty is a joint 
arrangement. As GR Realty is a limited liability company, the joint arrangement is classified as a 
joint venture.

Denver GPM LLC, a Delaware limited liability company domiciled in the U.S., was formed on 16 
April 2013 to act as the limited partner of Rosemont WTC Denver GP Member LP (“Member 
LP”). Member LP, a Delaware partnership domiciled in the U.S., was formed on 27 March 2013 to 
invest in companies which acquire, hold, operate, develop, improve, sell and manage investment 
properties.

Portfolio II LP, a Delaware limited partnership domiciled in the U.S., was formed on 12 December 
2012 to acquire, hold, operate, develop, improve, sell, and otherwise manage investment properties 
in the U.S.
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19.	 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)	 (Continued)

On 21 August 2015, the Group acquired the entire membership interests of Denver GPM LLC from 
Rosemont at a consideration of approximately US$5,500,000 together with additional contribution of 
approximately US$9,500,000. On the same date, the Group also subscribed approximately 37.19% 
limited partnership interest in Portfolio II LP at a consideration of approximately US$34,388,000. The 
Transactions were completed on 22 August 2015 and the Group had no outstanding commitment as 
at 31 December 2019.

On 31 March 2017, the Property Fund further acquired 18.423% of Class B membership interests of 
GR Realty from GR Realty JV Member LLC. As a result, the Property Fund held 30% and 18.423% 
of Class A and Class B membership interests respectively in GR Realty as at 31 December 2019.

On 31 July 2020, the Group and other members of GR Realty entered into an agreement to revise 
provisions regarding proceedings of the operating committee in the operating agreement of GR 
Realty (the “Operating Agreement”), a summary of key provisions of the Operating Agreement is 
set out below:

•	 the operating committee of GR Realty (the “Operating Committee”) comprises six 
managers, (i) three of whom shall be appointed by the Company as Class A membership; (ii) 
one of whom shall be appointed by Property Fund as Class A membership; (iii) one of whom 
shall be appointed by Property Fund as Class B membership; and (iv) one of whom shall be 
appointed by Garfield Group as Class B membership;

•	 all actions of the Operating Committee require the approval of simple majority vote of the 
managers; and

•	 in the event of a deadlock in respect of any actions of the Operating Committee, the 
managers designated by a majority in interest of the Class A members shall determine such 
action.

As a result of the Operating Agreement, the Group has obtained control in GR Realty. The Group’s 
underlying equity interest in GR Realty (i.e. 45%) remains unchanged. Details of the consolidation 
of GR Realty are disclosed in Note 42.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group shared the loss of GR Realty, Denver GPM 
LLC and Portfolio II LP, net of tax amounted to approximately US$9,379,000, US$1,167,000 
and US$2,217,000 respectively (equivalent to approximately HK$72,739,000, HK$9,054,000 and  
HK$17,200,000 respectively) (2019: profit of approximately US$174,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$1,359,000), loss of approximately US$6,305,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$49,241,000) 
and prof i t of approximately US$5,983,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$46,732,000) 
respectively).

There was no distribution received/receivable during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group paid income tax of approximately US$66,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$515,000) in respect of its direct obligation in GR Realty.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group paid income tax of approximately US$504,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$3,958,000) in respect of its direct tax obligation in Portfolio II LP.
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19.	 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information in respect of GR 
Realty:

HK$’000

As at 31 December 2019

Current assets 1,888,577
Non-current assets 10,706,712
Current liabilities (2,190,723)
Non-current liabilities (8,522,346) 

Net assets 1,882,220 

Included in the above amounts are:
Cash and cash equivalents 1,407,840
Restricted cash, escrows and reserves 318,663
Non-current financial liabilities  

(excluding limited partner interest) (7,953,115)
Current financial liabilities  

(excluding trade and other payables) (1,580,030) 

Reconciled to the Group’s interest in joint ventures

Gross amounts of GR Realty’s net assets 1,882,220 

Group’s share of GR Realty’s net assets 826,260
Goodwill 35,418 

Carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements 861,678 
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19.	 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

From 1
 January 2020 
to the date of 
consolidation 
of GR Realty

31 December
2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

For the period/year ended
Revenue 713,982 1,375,728  

(Loss)/profit for the period/year (137,141) 242,246
Other comprehensive income — 22,322  

Total comprehensive income (137,141) 264,568
  

Included in the above amounts are:
Depreciation (4,283) (6,131)
Interest income 4,709 23,533
Interest expense (286,379) (561,043)
Income tax expense (636) (1,328)
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20.	 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of the year — —
Addition – through consolidation of GR Realty  

(Note 42) 6,882 —
Contributions 3 —
Share of results (1,500) —
Exchange difference 8 —  

5,393 —
  

Detai ls of the Group’s interests in associates in the consol idated f inancial 
statements, are as follows:

Name of associates
Form of  
business structure

Place of 
business/country 
of incorporation

Percentage of ownership 
interests/voting rights Principal activity

2020 2019

Pyramid Plaza Member, LLC Limited liability 
company

The U.S 4.38% — Investment holding

BIG Pyramid Plaza, LLC Limited liability 
company

The U.S 1.73% — Investment holding

BIG One American Place, LLC Limited liability 
company

The U.S 2.82% — Investment holding

One American Place Member, 
LLC

Limited liability 
company

The U.S 1.34% — Investment holding

Gemini Business Consultancy 
Palo Alto LLC

Limited liability 
company

The U.S 25% — Dormant

All associates are considered as immaterial associates of the Group and are 
accounted for using the equity method. The aggregate carrying amount of the 
interest in all individually immaterial associates is US$695,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$5,393,000) (2019: Nil).
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21.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
PROFIT OR LOSS

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted equity investments (Note (a)) 71 109
Other assets (Note (b)) 6,110 5,800
Unlisted fund investments (Note (c)) 2,154,866 2,215,445  

2,161,047 2,221,354
  

The fair value of these investments as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were 
estimated by BMI Appraisals, details of the fair value measurement are set out in 
Note 48(h) to the consolidated financial statements.

Notes:

(a)	 At the end of the reporting period, the fair value of the Group’s investments in unlisted equity 
securities issued by a private entity incorporated outside Hong Kong was approximately RMB59,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$71,000) (2019: approximately RMB98,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$109,000)).

(b)	 Other assets represented the club debentures. At the end of the reporting period, the fair value of 
the club debentures held by the Group was HK$6,110,000 (2019: HK$5,800,000).

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the fair value measurement of the financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss (i.e. unlisted equity investments and club debentures) as mentioned above was categorised 
within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

(c)(i)	 At the end of the reporting period, the Group held approximately 341,000 (2019: 341,000) 
participating redeemable preference shares (“Participating Shares”) in an investment entity 
incorporated outside Hong Kong for diversifying the Group’s securities investment risk and 
further enhance the rate of return of the Group’s core business of securities investment. The fair 
value of the Participating Shares held by the Group as at 31 December 2020 was approximately 
HK$138,845,000 (2019: approximately HK$130,812,000).

(c)(ii)	 At the end of the reporting period, the Group held approximately 141,000 (2019: 141,000) 
participating redeemable preference shares in a sub-fund of an investment entity incorporated in the 
Cayman Islands (the “Sub-Fund A”). The Sub-Fund A is focus on, but not limited to, Asia (excluding 
Japan) equity to generate positive returns in all market conditions. The fair value of participating 
redeemable preference shares of the Sub-Fund A held by the Group as at 31 December 2020 was 
approximately HK$176,749,000 (2019: approximately HK$155,812,000).

(c)(iii)	 At the end of the reporting period, the Group also held approximately 110,000 (2019: 110,000) 
participating redeemable preference shares in another sub-fund of the above mentioned investment 
entity (the “Sub-Fund B”). The Sub-Fund B invested the collected funds to generate positive 
returns in all market conditions by employing multi-strategy investment approach, to invest on, but 
not limited to, Asia Pacific equity by employing bottom-up approach and to invest in both long and 
short term of different asset classes. The fair value of participating redeemable preference shares 
of the Sub-Fund B held by the Group as at 31 December 2020 was approximately HK$184,042,000 
(2019: approximately HK$134,259,000).



Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited     Annual Report 2020156

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

21.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the fair value measurement of the financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss (i.e. unlisted fund investments) as mentioned in Notes (c)(i) to (c)(iii) above was categorised 
within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

(c)(iv)	 At the end of the reporting period, the Group held approximately 1,012,000 (2019: 1,012,000) non-
redeemable, non-voting participating shares of the Property Fund, which incorporated in Cayman 
Islands and 637,000 (2019: 637,000) non-redeemable, non-voting participating shares of an 
investment entity incorporated in the Cayman Islands (the “Private Equity Fund”). The fair value 
of the investments in the Property Fund and the Private Equity Fund as at 31 December 2020 
was approximately HK$496,329,000 (2019: approximately HK$765,281,000) and approximately 
HK$536,869,000 (2019: approximately HK$555,287,000) respectively. There was a return of capital 
of approximately HK$63,726,000 from the Property Fund for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The investment objective of the Property Fund is to achieve medium to long term capital 
appreciation through investing substantially all of its assets available for investment in residential, 
industrial, retail and commercial real estate and related investments primarily in Hong Kong, the U.S. 
and potentially to a lesser extent in Singapore and countries that are members of the Organisation 
for Economic Co-operation and Development.

The investment objective of the Private Equity Fund is to achieve medium to long term capital 
appreciation through investing in one or more collective investment schemes that invest 
predominantly in real estate and related investments in the U.S., Europe, Japan and/or Australia.

(c)(v)	 On 3 November 2015, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a 
subscription agreement with Prosperity Risk Balanced Fund LP (the “PRB Fund”), pursuant to 
which the Group agreed to contribute commitments for a total amount of US$60,000,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$465,000,000) as a limited partner to PRB Fund. The amount of the Group’s 
commitments represents 23.08% of the total commitments of US$260,000,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$2,025,000,000). As at 31 December 2020, the fair value of the investments in 
the PRB Fund was approximately HK$622,032,000 (2019: approximately HK$473,994,000).

The investment objective of the PRB Fund is to invest in debt instruments of special purpose 
vehicles which in turn hold shares in PRC companies established for the purpose of developing real 
estates in the PRC with an expected return of not less than 6% per annum on the debt instruments 
and to invest in other investment funds.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group has no outstanding commitments to make capital 
contribution.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the fair value measurement of the financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss (i.e. unlisted fund investments) as mentioned in Notes (c)(iv) and (c)(v) above was categorised 
within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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22.	 LOAN RECEIVABLES

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current:
Loans to a joint venture (Note (a)) — 335,735

Non-current:
Loans to a joint venture (Note (b)) — 37,674  

— 373,409
  

Notes:

(a)	 As at 31 December 2019, loan receivables with principal amount of US$50,128,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$390,389,000) in aggregate were due from the joint venture. The loan receivables 
were unsecured, interest-bearing at rates ranging from 5% to 6% per annum and repayable 
on demand or within one year. Accordingly, they were classified under current assets as at 31 
December 2019.

(b)	 In addition, loan receivables with principal amount of US$5,625,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$43,807,000) in aggregate were due from the joint venture as at 31 December 2019. The loan 
receivables were unsecured, interest-bearing at rate of 6% per annum and repayable within 2021. 
Accordingly, they were classified as non-current assets as at 31 December 2019.

As at 31 December 2019, the ECLs allowance of approximately HK$54,654,000 and 
approximately HK$6,133,000 was provided for the current portion of loan receivables 
and non-current portion of loan receivables respectively.

After the completion of consolidation of GR Realty as explained in Note 42, the loan 
receivables and ECLs allowance were eliminated as at 31 December 2020 and a gain 
on effective settlement of loan receivables upon the consolidation of GR Realty was 
recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2020.

ECLs 
allowance

HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 2019 2,183
Provision for ECLs allowance 58,604 

Balance at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 60,787

Gain on effective settlement of loan receivables (Note 42) (60,787) 

Balance at 31 December 2020 — 
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23.	 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Service income receivables (Note (a)) 12,117 —
Rental receivables 15,129 —
Accrued rental income receivables 58,878 31,611
Other receivables (Note (b)) 70,123 6,303
Prepayments and deposits 23,455 8,704  

179,702 46,618
  

Classified as:
Current assets 69,290 46,618
Non-current assets 110,412 —  

179,702 46,618
  

Notes:

(a)	 The service income receivables are due from tenants and are receivables from contracts with 
customers. Based on invoice date, the balances (net of ECLs) as at the end of the reporting period 
are aged within 0 – 30 days.

(b)	 The other receivables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand, except for 
a receivable due from a third party of US$8,219,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$63,718,000) 
which is unsecured, interest bearing at 3% per annum and repayable over one year (2019: Nil).
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24.	 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of the year 685,918 479,538
Additions 227,931 207,917
Additions through consolidation of GR Realty (Note 42) 653,056 —
Exchange realignment (3,066) (1,537)  

At the end of the year 1,563,839 685,918
  

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Properties under development comprised: 
Land 1,060,003 414,294
Construction costs and capitalised expenditures 491,665 267,650
Borrowing costs capitalised (Note 10) 15,416 4,660
Exchange realignment (3,245) (686)  

1,563,839 685,918
  

The Group’s properties under development are located in the U.S. They are expected 
to be completed within the normal operating cycle of the Group and classified as 
current assets.

The properties under development of approximately HK$875,139,000 is expected 
to be completed and available for sale within twelve months after the end of the 
reporting period while the remaining properties under development of approximately 
HK$688,700,000 are expected to be completed and available for sale for more than 
twelve months after the end of the reporting period.
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25.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS HELD FOR TRADING

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current assets
Listed investments:

— Investments listed in Hong Kong 47,736 45,623
— Investments listed in the PRC and overseas 498,118 240,663  

545,854 286,286
  

Current liabilities
Derivatives:

— Forward exchange contracts and futures contracts 3,991 —
— Interest rate swap contracts (Note) 1,474 —  

5,465 —
  

The fair values of the listed securities are determined by reference to the quoted 
market bid price available on the relevant exchanges.

The listed securities held by the Group are mainly listed in Hong Kong, the U.S., 
Europe, Japan, Korea, Sweden and the PRC. The Group maintains a portfolio of 
diversified investments in terms of industry distribution such as, finance, consumer 
goods and commodities.

Note:

The total notional principal amount of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts as at 31 December 2020 
was approximately HK$194,179,000, with interest rate of 2.10% per annum. The maturity dates of interest 
rate swap contracts are within 12 months from the end of the reporting period.
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26.	 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2020, restricted bank deposits represented pledged bank deposits 
amounted to approximately HK$34,992,000 (2019: approximately HK$8,556,000) and 
escrow and reserves of HK$275,341,000 (2019: Nil). Certain pledged bank deposits 
amounted to approximately HK$33,664,000 (2019: approximately HK$7,070,000) were 
classified as current assets and the remaining balance of pledged bank deposits of 
approximately HK$1,328,000 (2019: approximately HK$1,486,000) were classified as 
non-current assets as at 31 December 2020.

Escrow and reserves represented mandatory deposits to cover certain obligations as 
set forth in the mortgage loan agreement. These cash balances are used primarily 
to pay for insurance and real estate taxes over the next period and capital repairs as 
needed. Escrow and reserves are classified as current assets accordingly.

Pledged bank deposits have been secured for the borrowing as disclosed in Note 30.

27.	 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash and bank balances 941,567 498,084
Short term deposits 220,622 477,097  

Total cash and bank balances 1,162,189 975,181
  

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on the daily bank deposit rates.

As at 31 December 2020, the bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB 
amounted to approximately HK$77,967,000 (2019: approximately HK$33,624,000), 
which were deposited with the banks and financial institution in the PRC.  RMB is 
currently not a free convertible currency in the international market.  The conversion 
of RMB into foreign currencies and remittance of RMB out of the PRC are subject 
to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC 
government. 

The effective interest rates of short term bank deposits ranged from 0.01% to 0.25% 
per annum as at 31 December 2020 (2019: ranged from 1.19% to 2.5% per annum). 
These deposits have maturity period within three months. The Group considered 
that the fair value of the short term bank deposits is not materially different from its 
carrying amount because of the short maturity period on its inception.
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28.	OT HER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities

Other payables and accrued charges (Note) 180,732 56,639
Other taxes payable 98,969 —
Accrued interests 377,139 425
Tenant improvement payables 48,861 —
Rental deposits received 12,131 4,322  

717,832 61,386
  

Non-current liabilities

Rental deposits received 28,267 —
Other payables and accrued charges 2,952  

31,219 —
  

Note: 

It mainly consisted of rental income received in advance from the tenants in the U.S., staff costs payable 
and payables to services providers related to investment properties.

29.	 AMOUNTS DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities
Sino-Ocean Group Holding Limited (“Sino-Ocean”) (Note (a)) 488,763 	 491,758

  

Non-current liabilities
Grand Beauty Management Limited (“Grand Beauty”)  

(Note (b)) 891,538 —
  

Notes:

(a)	 The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(b)	 The amount due is unsecured, interest bearing at a rate of 4.25% per annum, matures on 1 April 
2023 and denominated in US. dollars. The related interest payable due to Grand Beauty amounted 
to approximately HK$181,000,000 is included in accrued interests (Note 28).



Annual Report 2020     Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited 163

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

30.	 BORROWINGS

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease liabilities (Note 37)
Within 1 year 9,287 5,062
After 1 year but within 2 years 6,984 3,096
After 2 years but within 5 years 10,842 118
Over 5 years 95,404 —  

122,517 8,276  

Bank loans and revolving loans (Note (a))
Within 1 year 2,152,365 241,424
After 1 year but within 2 years 398,851 —
After 2 years but within 5 years 3,751,773 —
Over 5 years 860,210 422,880  

7,163,199 664,304  

Notes payable (Note (b))
Within 1 year 109,702 —
After 1 year but within 2 years 241,708 —
After 2 years but within 5 years 417,431 —  

768,841 —  

Total borrowings 8,054,557 672,580

Amount due within 1 year included under current liabilities (2,271,354) (246,486)  

5,783,203 426,094
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30.	 BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)	 Bank loans and revolving loans

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Guaranteed loans — 241,424
Secured loans 6,980,240 422,880
Unsecured loans 182,959 —  

7,163,199 664,304  

All the bank loans and revolving loans are denominated in U.S. dollars.

The bank loans and revolving loans amounted to US$900,386,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$6,980,240,000) (2019: US$85,300,000 equivalent to approximately HK$664,304,000) were 
secured by way of legal charges over certain of the Group’s investment properties in the U.S. (Note 
17(a)), pledged bank deposits (Note 26), and the interests of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

(b)	 Notes payable

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Secured notes payable 768,841 —  

All the notes payable are denominated in U.S. dollars and were secured by way of legal charges 
over the interests of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

31.	OT HER FINANCIAL Assets/LIABILITIES

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Limited partner interests (Note (a)) 420,191 —

  

Current liabilities
Interests of Class B members with put option (Note (b)) 150,345 —

  

Non-current liabilities
Limited partner interests (Note (a)) 375,663 —
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31.	OT HER FINANCIAL Assets/LIABILITIES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)	 Limited partner interests are associated with those limited partnerships where GR Realty being the 
general partner. Limited partner interests represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets not 
held by the Group and are presented separately in the Group’s consolidated income statement and 
within assets/liabilities or equity in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The limited partner interests associated with those limited partnerships that have a perpetual term 
are recognised as non-controlling interests within equity in the consolidated statement of financial 
position. The related income or loss allocated to non-controlling interests is presented as profit or 
loss attributable to non-controlling interests in the consolidated income statement.

The limited partner interests associated with those limited partnerships that have a fixed term 
are recognised as non-current assets or non-current liabilities in the consolidated statements of 
financial position, and the related income or loss is recognised as the profit or loss attributable to 
limited partners in the consolidated income statement.

The Group allocates partnership income between the general partner interests and the limited 
partner interests by using the waterfall calculation (the “Waterfall”), which are based on the terms 
agreed in the limited partnership agreements. Where there are losses or where the value of entity 
is lower than the initial investment, losses are allocated pro rata basis on the capital invested in 
the subsidiary. The allocation represent the change in the liquidation value of the subsidiary which 
is composed of the finance costs in form of distributions to the non GR Realty interests, income or 
expenses allocated to non-controlling interest (equity) and the residual movement year over year.

The ownership by a member of the relevant units shall entitle such member to allocations of net 
income, net loss and other items of income, gain, loss or deduction, and distributions of cash 
and other property of GR Realty for each fiscal year, in proportion to their respective distribution 
percentage interests, after repayment of loans made by the members or their affiliates to GR Realty 
and relevant tax payments.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the loss allocated to the limited partners amounted to 
approximately HK$149,948,000 and recognised as loss attributable to limited partners and puttable 
instrument holders in the consolidated income statements.

(b)	 As explained in Note 19, GR Realty has three authorised classes of units and the Class A units are 
owned by the Group and Property Fund, Class B units are owned by Property Fund and Garfield 
Group, and Class C units are owned by Rosemont. As a result of the Agreement entered into by 
the Group and other members of GR Realty on 31 July 2020, the Group has obtained the control in 
GR Realty (Note 19(c) and Note 42).

Each of the Class B members has an option to sell all or any portion of the Class B units to GR 
Realty, at the purchase price representing their fair value as determined by a qualified appraiser. 
Accordingly, the interests of Class B members with a put option are classified as current liabilities 
in the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group.

The fair value of interests of Class B members with a put option was approximately US$19,415,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$150,345,000) at 31 December 2020. The change in fair value of 
the interests of Class B Members with a put option was approximately US$4,812,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$37,337,000) for the year ended 31 December 2020, and was included as 
loss attributable to limited partners and puttable instrument holders in the consolidated income 
statement. 
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32.	S HARE CAPITAL

2020 2019

Number HK$’000 Number HK$’000

Ordinary shares
At beginning of the year 451,390,000 185,453 451,390,000 185,453
Allotment and issue of 

shares 180,556,000 180,556 — —
Exercise of share option 3,624,000 5,182    

635,570,000 371,191 451,390,000 185,453
    

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the ordinary 
shares of the Company do not have a par value.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company completed the allotment 
and issue of 90,278,000 ordinary shares of HK$1 each under general mandate and 
90,278,000 ordinary shares of HK$1 each under specific mandate. These ordinary 
shares rank pari passu in all respects among themselves and with other existing 
ordinary shares. Details of the allotment and issue of these shares are set out in the 
announcements of the Company dated 3 April 2020, 17 April 2020 and 27 May 2020 
and the Company’s circular dated 28 April 2020.

During the year, the Company allotted and issued 3,624,000 ordinary shares of 
HK$0.96 each under the share option scheme.

As at 31 December 2020, Grand Beauty and Estate Spring International Limited 
directly owned approximately 24.86% and 39.86% issued ordinary shares of the 
Company respectively. Grand Beauty is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Sino-
Ocean.



Annual Report 2020     Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited 167

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2020

33.	 RESERVES

The Group

Details of the movements on the Group’s reserves are set out in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity.

The Company

Convertible 
preference

 shares 
reserves

Perpetual 
bond

Capital 
contribution 

reserve

Capital 
reduction

reserve

Share
 options 
reserve

Retained 
profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2019 2,355,533 2,259,504 308,190 — 22,336 539,611 5,485,174
Profit for the year — — — —   — 300,118 300,118       

At 31 December 2019 
and 1 January 2020 2,355,533 2,259,504 308,190 — 22,336 839,729 5,785,292

Distribution paid to the 
holder of perpetual 
bond — — — — — (226) (226)

Capital reduction  
(Note 34) (94,968) — — 94,968 — — —

Transfer arising from 
capital reduction  
(Note 34) — — — (94,968) — 94,968 —

Exercise of share 
option (1,703) — (1,703)

Vested share options 
forfeited/cancelled — — — — (20,633) 20,633 —

Profit for the year — — — — — 412,185 412,185       

At 31 December 2020 2,260,565 2,259,504 308,190 — — 1,367,289 6,195,548       
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34.	 CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES RESERVE

On 23 December 2014, the Company issued 1,300,000,000 non-voting convertible 
preference shares of HK$3 each (the “CPSs”) with total subscription price of 
HK$3,900,000,000 to its shareholder, Grand Beauty, after having obtained the 
approval from the independent shareholders of the Company at the extraordinary 
general meeting held on the same date.

All the CPSs are non-redeemable by the Company and the CPSs holder shall have 
no right to request the Company to redeem any of the CPSs. Also subject to 
certain limited exceptions, the CPSs holder is not permitted to attend or vote at 
meetings of the Company. The board of directors of the Company may, in its sole 
discretion, elect not to pay dividend on the CPSs in any year, and the dividend 
not paid shall be extinguished and not be carried forward (the “Discretionary Non-
payment Restriction”). Save for a non-cumulative floating preference dividend at 
the floating rate per annum determined with reference to the prevailing annualised 
yield-to-maturity rate of the 10-year Government Bonds issued by the Hong Kong 
Government (which is subject to the Discretionary Non-payment Restriction), the 
CPSs shall not entitle the CPSs holders thereof to any further or other right of 
participation in the profits of the Company.

During the term of the CPSs, subject to certain conversion restrictions, the holder 
of the CPSs shall only have right to convert all or part of any CPSs into new ordinary 
shares at any time after the end of the period of 5 years commencing from the issue 
date of the CPSs, at the initial conversion price of HK$3 per convertible preference 
share, subject to adjustments.

Details of the CPSs were set out in the announcements of the Company dated 
26 October 2014 and 24 November 2014, and the Company’s circular dated 27 
November 2014.

As the conversion option involves only a conversion of a fixed number of the 
Company’s ordinary shares (i.e. settled by the exchange of fixed amount of equity), 
the CPSs are classified as equity instruments accordingly.
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34.	 CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES RESERVE 
(Continued)

Amendments

On 26 January 2018, the Company entered into the second supplemental deed (the 
“Second Supplemental Deed”) with Grand Beauty, pursuant to which the parties 
conditionally agreed to amend certain terms of the CPSs (“Amendments”), which 
include: (i) acceleration of the commencement of the conversion period such that 
it will commence from the first business day immediately after the amendments 
effective date (instead of commencing from the end of a five-year period from the 
issue date of the CPSs as originally contemplated); (ii) increase of the conversion 
price from HK$3 to HK$6 (subject to adjustments); and (iii) adjustment of the 
dividends payable on the CPSs from a non-cumulative floating rate per annum to a 
fixed rate of 3% per annum, nevertheless the Discretionary Non-payment Restriction 
is remained effective after the Amendments. Furthermore, if the Company should 
issue, at any time on or before (and including) 30 June 2018, any new shares or 
convertible securities of the Company to any person other than a person who is a 
CPSs holder on the date of such new issuance (the “New Issuance”), the conversion 
price shall be reduced, concurrently with and effective from the completion of the 
New Issuance, to HK$3, provided that: (i) such conversion price shall only be HK$3 
in respect of such number of CPSs (in such integral multiple) (the “Adjusted CPSs”) 
which will enable the converting shareholder to increase its shareholding to no 
less than, but closest to, its equity shareholding (excluding its shareholding in any 
CPSs) in the Company (taking into account the New Issuance and any outstanding 
convertible and/or exchangeable securities of the Company (other than the CPSs) on 
an as converted and fully dilutive basis) immediately before completion of the New 
Issuance; and (ii) the number of Adjusted CPSs shall not exceed 203,466,429 (the 
“Adjustments to the revised conversion price”).

Details of the proposed amendments to the terms of the CPSs were set out in the 
Company’s announcement and circular dated 28 January 2018.

On 25 April 2018 (the “Effective Date”), the conditions precedent in the Second 
Supplemental Deed are fulfilled and the Amendments are effective on that date.
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34.	 CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES RESERVE 
(Continued)

Amendments (Continued)

The Amendments were accounted for as extinguishment of the Adjusted CPSs 
as the conversion options of the Adjusted CPSs do not meet the fixed-for-fixed 
criteria, that is, it will not be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash 
or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s ordinary shares by 
considering the adjustments to conversion price. Accordingly, the Adjusted CPSs 
should be accounted for as liability component and are measured at fair value at 
initial recognition. Subsequently, it is classified as a financial liability at fair value 
through profit or loss. The difference between the fair value of the Adjusted 
CPSs of approximately HK$77,301,000 and its carrying amount of approximately 
HK$610,399,000 at the Effective Date was recognised as “Other reserve” included 
in “Reserves” and as presented in the Group’s consolidated statement of changes 
in equity.

The Adjustments to the revised conversion price expired on 1 July 2018 (the 
“Expiry of Adjustments”). After the Expiry of Adjustments, the conversion price 
of the Adjusted CPSs was fixed at HK$6. Accordingly, the conversion option of 
the Adjusted CPSs involves only a conversion of a fixed number of the Company’s 
ordinary shares (i.e. settled by the exchange of fixed amount of equity), the Adjusted 
CPSs were reclassified as equity instruments at 1 July 2018. The balance of 
HK$533,098,000 recorded in the “Other reserve” was also reclassified as convertible 
preference shares reserve after the Expiry of Adjustments.

Capital reduction

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company at 
an extraordinary general meeting on 5 July 2017, the cancellation of 470,666,666 
CPSs was effective following the registration in the public record of the relevant 
statutory return filed with the Hong Kong Companies Registry (“Capital Reduction”) 
on 10 August 2017. The credit in the amount of approximately HK$1,411.5 million in 
the CPSs reserve account of the Company arising from this Capital Reduction was 
credited to the accumulated losses account of the Company during the year ended 
31 December 2017.

Details of the Capital Reduction were set out in the announcements of the Company 
dated 1 June 2017 and 10 August 2017 and the circular of the Company dated 13 
June 2017.

On 26 January 2018, Grand Beauty executed a second deed of cancellation in favour 
of the Company, pursuant to which Grand Beauty agreed to the implementation of 
the proposed capital reduction involving the further cancellation of 43,333,334 CPSs 
held by Grand Beauty (representing approximately 5.23% of all the CPSs in issue as 
at 31 December 2017 (“Second Capital Reduction”).
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34.	 CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES RESERVE 
(Continued)

Capital reduction (Continued)

Following completion of the Second Capital Reduction, the credit in the amount of 
approximately HK$130,000,000 in the CPSs reserve account of the Company arising 
from the Capital Reduction shall be transferred and credited to the capital reduction 
reserve account of the Company; and the credit in the amount of approximately 
HK$130,000,000 in the capital reduction reserve account of the Company shall be 
applied to set off against the accumulated losses of the Company.

Details of the Second Capital Reduction was set out in the announcements of the 
Company dated 28 January 2018 and 3 May 2018 and the circular of the Company 
dated 28 February 2018.

On 28 February 2020, Grand Beauty executed a third deed of cancellation in favour 
of the Company, pursuant to which Grand Beauty agreed to the implementation of 
the proposed capital reduction involving the cancellation of 31,666,667 CPSs held by 
Grand Beauty (representing approximately 4.03% of all the CPSs in issue as at 31 
December 2019 (“Third Capital Reduction”)).

Following completion of the Third Capital Reduction, the credit in the amount of 
approximately HK$95,000,000 in the CPSs reserve account of the Company arising 
from the capital reduction shall be transferred and credited to the capital reduction 
reserve account of the Company; and the credit in the amount of approximately 
HK$95,000,000 in the capital reduction reserve account of the Company shall be 
applied to set off against the accumulated losses of the Company.

Details of the Third Capital Reduction was set out in the announcement of the 
Company dated 28 February 2020 and circular of the Company dated 18 March 2020.
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35.	 PERPETUAL BOND

On 31 May 2017, the Company issued unsecured perpetual bond in an aggregate 
principal amount of approximately HK$2,259.5 million to Grand Beauty, the parent of 
the Company.

According to the subscription agreement, the consideration payable by Grand 
Beauty to the Company for the subscription of the perpetual bond shall be satisfied 
by offsetting against the entire outstanding principal amount of other borrowings 
provided by Grand Beauty in prior years and related interests accrued thereon as at 
the date of issue of the perpetual bond in an aggregate amount of approximately 
HK$2,259.5 million.

The perpetual bond confers a right to receive distribution at 0.01% per annum on 
the principal amount and has no fixed redemption date. The Company may elect to 
cancel or defer (in whole or in part) any distribution accrued on the perpetual bond at 
its sole and absolute discretion. The Company may elect to redeem (in whole but not 
in part) the perpetual bond at 100% of the outstanding principal amount, together 
with any distribution accrued thereon, on the date falling 10 years after the date 
of issue of the perpetual bond (the “First Call Date”) or any distribution payment 
date after the First Call Date. The perpetual bond constitutes direct, unconditional, 
unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the Company and ranks in priority 
over any shares or convertible preference shares of the Company in respect of any 
payment in the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding up (whether voluntary or 
involuntary) of the Company.

The carrying amounts of the other borrowings provided by Grand Beauty as stated 
above together with interest accrued thereon as at 31 May 2017 amounting to 
approximately HK$1,599.8 million in aggregate has been used to settle the above 
consideration payable. The capital contribution previously recognised through the 
other borrowings provided by Grand Beauty amounting to approximately HK$659.6 
million was derecognised and transferred to the perpetual bond. The perpetual bond 
is classified as an equity of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company paid a distribution of 
perpetual bond to Grand Beauty amounted to approximately HK$226,000 (2019: 
HK$452,000).
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36.	 DEFERRED TAXATION

The movement on the deferred tax (assets)/liabilities is as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 18,621 20,908
Additions through consolidation of GR Realty (Note 42) (180,737) —
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss (Note 12) 85,822 (2,207)
Exchange realignment (584) (80)  

At 31 December (76,878) 18,621
  

Accelerated
 tax 

depreciation/ 
(depreciation 

in excess 
of related 

depreciation 
allowance)

Temporary 
difference 

on accrued 
rental 

income

Fair value 
change of 

investment 
properties

Withholding 
tax on 

interest 
income Tax losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2019 (315) — — 21,223 — 20,908
(Credited)/charged to profit 

or loss (Note 12) (3,363) — — 7,228 (6,072) (2,207)
Exchange realignment 11 — — (108) 17 (80)      

At 31 December 2019 and  
1 January 2020 (3,667) — — 28,343 (6,055) 18,621

Additions through 
consolidation of  
GR Realty (Note 42) (128) (2,885) 8,334 — (186,058) (180,737)

Charged/(credited) to profit 
or loss (Note 12) 8,554 (292) 2,731 7,843 66,986 85,822

Exchange realignment 9 (1) — (468) (124) (584)      

At 31 December 2020 4,768 (3,178) 11,065 35,718 (125,251) (76,878)      
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36.	 DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting 
purposes:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax assets (128,429) (9,722)
Deferred tax liabilities 51,551 28,343  

(76,878) 18,621
  

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unrecognised and unused tax 
losses of approximately HK$258,874,000 (2019: approximately HK$228,200,000) 
available for offset against future profits. The tax losses are subject to the final 
assessment of Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department. No deferred tax assets have 
been recognised in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future profit 
streams. Such tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

No deferred tax l iabi l i ty has been recognised on temporary differences of 
approximately HK$12,434,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB9,319,000) (2019: 
approximately HK$12,587,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB9,453,000)) relating 
to the undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries because the Group is in a 
position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is 
probable that such difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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37.	 LEASES LIABILITIES

Buildings
Ground 

lease

Furniture, 
fixture 

and 
equipment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2019 1,072 — 293 1,365
Additions 9,322 — — 9,322
Interest expenses (Note 10) 840 — 41 881
Lease payment (3,169) — (104) (3,273)
Effect of lease modification — — (11) (11)
Exchange realignment (8) — — (8)    

At 31 December 2019 8,057 — 219 8,276
Additions 13,250 — 913 14,163
Additions through consolidation of  

GR Realty (Note 42) 13,225 102,600 425 116,250
Interest expenses (Note 10) 1,272 2,130 86 3,488
Lease payment (9,051) (1,985) (387) (11,423)
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 43) — (7,615) — (7,615)
Effect of lease modification — — (91) (91)
Exchange realignment (61) (467) (3) (531)    

At 31 December 2020 26,692 94,663 1,162 122,517    

The Group has certain investment properties on the ground leases at 31 December 
2020. The terms of the Group’s ground leases are typically over 20 years or more.
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37.	 LEASES LIABILITIES (Continued)

Future lease payments are due as follows:

Minimum 
lease

payments
31 December

 2020

Interest 
31 December 

2020

Present
value

31 December
 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 15,391 6,104 9,287
After 1 year but within 2 years 12,694 5,710 6,984
After 2 years but within 5 years 26,351 15,509 10,842
Over 5 years 310,243 214,839 95,404   

364,679 242,162 122,517
   

Minimum 
lease

payments Interest
Present

value
31 December

2019
31 December

2019
31 December

2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 5,921 859 5,062
After 1 year but within 2 years 3,203 107 3,096
After 2 years but within 5 years 232 114 118   

9,356 1,080 8,276   
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37.	 LEASES LIABILITIES (Continued)

Operating lease — the Group as lessor

Property rental income earned from leasing of the Group’s investment properties 
during the year is disclosed in Notes 4 and 5. The properties held by the Group have 
committed tenants for the lease term ranging from six months to eight years (2019: 
six months to eight years) and rentals are fixed over the lease terms.

At the end of the reporting period, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by 
the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants 
are as follows:	

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 1,119,036 74,193
After 1 year but within 2 years 950,119 71,436
After 2 years but within 3 years 812,120 68,671
After 3 years but within 4 years 687,272 65,963
After 4 years but within 5 years 598,470 67,422
After 5 years 1,547,965 67,461  

5,714,982 415,146
  

38.	 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditures contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet 
incurred are as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Properties under development (Note 24) 208,028 325,028
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39.	NOTE  TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 
STATEMENT

(a)	 Reconciliation of loss before income tax to net cash used in operations:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Loss before income tax (137,456) (52,648)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation 10,137 3,231
Changes in fair value of financial 

instruments held for trading (58,403) 4,270
Changes in fair value of financial assets 

at fair value through profit or loss (3,419) (23,217)
Changes in fair value of investment 

properties 404,775 14,289
Loss on re-measurement of interests in 

joint ventures 50,339 —
Loss on disposal on financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss — 685
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 101 —
Gain on effective settlement of loan 

receivables (60,787) —
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (1,253) —
Gain on interest rate swap contracts (993) —
Provision for impairment loss for 

financial assets 5,636 58,659
Share of results of joint ventures 98,993 1,150
Share of results of associates 1,500 —
Finance costs 191,122 17,211
Interest income from bank deposits (4,844) (9,955)
Other interest income (14,779) (25,552)
Loss attributable to limited partners and 

puttable instrument holders (187,285) —  

Operating profits/(losses) before working 
capital changes 293,384 (11,877)

Decrease/(increase) in deposits, 
prepayments and other receivables 7,288 (12,028)

Increase in properties under development (217,205) (201,720)
(Increase)/decrease in restricted bank 

deposits (11,370) 40,664
Increase in financial instruments held for 

trading (197,174) (120,074)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and 

accrued charges 40,333 (27,273)  

Net cash used in operations (84,744) (332,308)
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39.	NOTE  TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 
STATEMENT (Continued)

(b)	 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

Bank loans
and other

borrowings
Lease

liabilities

Amount
due to

shareholders
Interest
payable

Interest
rate swap
contracts

Other 
financial 

liabilities Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2020 664,304 8,276 491,758 425 — — 1,164,763

Changes from cash flows:

New bank borrowings 394,201 — — — — — 394,201
Repayment of bank 

borrowings (562,084) — — — — — (562,084)
Distribution paid to limited 

partner interests — — — — — (3,135) (3,135)
Repayment of lease 

liabilities — (11,423) — — — — (11,423)
Interest paid (171,804) — — (27,102) (1,676) (200,582)       

Total changes from 
financing cash flows (339,687) (11,423) — (27,102) (1,676) (3,135) (383,023)       

Exchange realignment 4,535* (531)* (2,708)* — — 143* 1,439

Other changes:

Consolidation of GR Realty 7,490,013* 116,250* 891,251* — 3,453* 637,838* 9,138,805
Fair value adjustment — — — — (1,979)* — (1,979)
Recognition of lease 

liabilities — 14,163* — — — — 14,163
Effect of lease modification — (91) — — — — (91)
Disposal of a subsidiary (57,162)* (7,615)* — — — — (64,777)
Loss attributable to limited 

partners and puttable 
instrument holders — — — — — (108,838)* (108,838)

Finance charges on 
obligations under lease 
liabilities (Note 10) — 3,488* — — — — 3,488

Interest on bank and other 
borrowings (Note 10) 170,037* — — 26,677* 1,676* — 198,390       

Total other changes 7,602,888 126,195 891,251 26,677 3,150 529,000 9,179,161       

At 31 December 2020 7,932,040 122,517 1,380,301 — 1,474 526,008 9,962,340
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39.	NOTE  TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 
STATEMENT (Continued)

(b)	 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: (Continued)

Bank 
borrowings

Lease
 liabilities

Amount 
due to a 

shareholders
Interest 
payable Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2019 425,327 1,365 226,954 — 653,646

Changes from cash 
flows:

New bank borrowings 241,423 — — — 241,423
Cash advance from 

shareholder — — 264,804 — 264,804
Repayment of lease 

liabilities — (3,273) — — (3,273)
Interest paid — — — (20,218) (20,218)     

Total changes from  
financing cash flows 241,423 (3,273) 264,804 (20,218) 482,736     

Exchange realignment (2,446)* (8)* — — (2,454)

Other changes:

Recognition of lease 
liabilities — 9,322* — — 9,322

Effect of lease 
modification (11)* (11)

Finance charges on 
obligations under 
finance lease (Note 10) — 881* — — 881

Interest on bank and 
other borrowings 
(Note 10) — — — 20,643* 20,643     

Total other changes — 10,192 — 20,643 30,835     

At 31 December 2019 664,304 8,276 491,758 425 1,164,763
     

*	 Non-cash transactions
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40.	 RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and other defined 
contribution retirement schemes for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The 
assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under 
the control of trustees. The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established 
outside Hong Kong are members of a state-managed retirement scheme operated 
by respective governments. These subsidiaries are required to contribute certain 
percentage of basic payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme. The only 
obligation of the Group with respect to these schemes is to make the required 
contributions under the scheme.

The Group maintains a retirement plan in the USA, pursuant to Section 401(k) of the 
Internal Revenue Code, for eligible participants to make voluntary contributions of 
a portion of their annual compensation to the retirement plan, on a deferred basis, 
subject to limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the retirement benefits cost charged 
to the consolidated income statement of HK$1,753,000 (2019: HK$1,353,000) 
represents contributions payable to the scheme by the Group at rates specified in 
the rules of the scheme.

41.	NON -CONTROLLING INTEREST

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group that 
have material non-controlling interests/limited partners as at 31 December 2020 and 
2019:

Subsidiaries

Place of 
incorporation 
and principal 
place of 
business

Proportion of ownership 
interest held by

non-controlling interests/
limited partners

2020 2019

Gemini-Rosemont Realty LLC  
(Note (i)) The U.S. 54% —

600 Clipper Investment 
Partnership LP (Note (ii)) The U.S. 80% 80%

Notes:

(i)	 The ownership interest of GR Realty included certain Class A units not held by the Group, Class B 
units and Class C units (Note 19).

(ii)	 As the Group is the general partner of 600 Clipper Investment Partnership LP (“600 Clipper”), the 
Group is able to direct the relevant activities and achieves control of 600 Clippers.
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41.	NON -CONTROLLING INTEREST (Continued)

Summarised financial information of certain non-controlling interest in GR Realty 
before intra-group eliminations is presented below:

HK$’000

For the period from date of consolidation of  
GR Realty to 31 December 2020

Revenue 491,775
Loss for the period (95,683)
Total comprehensive income (95,683)

 

Loss allocated to non-controlling interests* (34,130)
 

For the period from date of consolidation of  
GR Realty to 31 December 2020

Cash flows generated from operating activities 271,546
Cash flows generated from in investing activities 495,259
Cash flows used in financing activities (143,272) 

Net cash inflows 623,533
 

HK$’000

As at 31 December 2020

Current assets 1,680,075
Non-current assets 9,959,084
Current liabilities (3,001,571)
Non-current liabilities (6,853,456) 

Net assets 1,784,132
 

Accumulated non-controlling interests 1,478,424
 

*	 the loss allocated to non-controlling interests included limited partner interests classified as non-
controlling interests and excluded the loss attributable to Class B units as detailed in Note 31(b).
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41.	NON -CONTROLLING INTEREST (Continued)

Summarised financial information of 600 Clipper before intra-group eliminations is 
presented below:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

For the year ended 31 December

Revenue 73,067 78,758
Profit for the year 38,639 49,639
Total comprehensive income 38,639 49,639

  

Profit allocated to non-controlling interests 33,930 42,752
  

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 18,754 18,819
  

For the year ended 31 December

Cash flows generated from operating activities 36,505 2,141
Cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities (431) 31,945
Cash flows used in financing activities (23,444) (23,550)  

Net cash inflows 12,630 10,536
  

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December

Current assets 48,800 43,637
Non-current assets 734,016 733,287
Current liabilities (2,112) (1,659)
Non-current liabilities (420,961) (422,880)  

Net assets 359,743 352,385
  

Accumulated non-controlling interests 315,938 300,764
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42.	 BUSINESS COMBINATION

Consolidation of GR Realty

As detailed in the announcement issued by the Company dated 31 July 2020, 
the Group, through the revise provisions regarding proceedings of the Operating 
Committee in the operating agreement of GR Realty with other members of GR 
Realty, whereby the control in GR Realty was passed to the Group. Accordingly, it 
has been accounted for as acquisition of business using acquisition accounting under 
HKFRS 3.

GR Realty is engaged in the ownership and/or management of its property 
investment portfolio of commercial real estate in the U.S.. GR Realty is the Group’s 
joint ventures before the completion of above changes.

Non-controlling interests recognised at the acquisition date were measured at the 
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. In addition, the difference between the fair value of the 
existing interests in joint ventures and the carrying amount of interests in joint 
ventures amounting to HK$50,339,000 was recognised in profit or loss during the 
year.

The assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of the consolidation are as 
follows:

Total

HK$’000

Investment properties 10,220,027
Property, plant and equipment 57,395
Deferred tax assets 180,737
Investments in associates 6,882
Amounts due from related companies 1,573
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 92,438
Other financial assets 348,196
Properties under development 653,056
Tax recoverable 49,111
Restricted bank deposits 275,614
Cash and bank balances 585,668
Other payables and accrued charges (645,630) 
Financial instruments held for trading (2,441)
Other financial liabilities (637,838)
Borrowings (7,490,013)
Lease liabilities (116,250)
Amounts due to related companies (1,332,614) 

Net assets acquired 2,245,911
Non-controlling interests (1,532,801) 

713,110
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42.	 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Consolidation of GR Realty (Continued)

HK$’000

Cash consideration paid — 

Carrying amount of interests in joint ventures  
immediate before the date of consolidation of GR Realty (Note 19) 763,449

Loss on re-measurement of interests in joint  
ventures at date of consolidation of GR Realty at fair value (Note 7) (50,339) 

Fair value of interests in joint ventures held  
before the date consolidation of GR Realty 713,110 

713,110
 

Because the fair value of the net assets acquired is same as the fair value of the 
pre-existing investments in GR Realty, no goodwill is recognised from consolidation 
of GR Realty.

Loan payables due to the Group were included in amounts due to related companies, 
which were eliminated upon the consolidation of GR Realty and a gain on effective 
settlement of loan receivables upon the consolidation of GR Realty of HK$60,787,000 
(Note 22) was recognised in profit or loss during the year.

The fair value of deposits and other receivables approximates to their gross amount  
as of that date. For the period from the date of consolidation of GR Realty to 31 
December 2020, GR Realty has contributed revenue and loss of approximately 
HK$491,775,000 and HK$95,683,000 respectively. If the acquisition had occurred 
on 1 January 2020, the revenue and loss contributed by GR Realty would be 
approximately HK$1,205,757,000 and HK$232,824,000 respectively.

Total

HK$’000

Cash and bank balances acquired 585,668
Cash consideration paid — 

Net cash inflow on acquisition 585,668 
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43.	 Disposal OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group disposed of a subsidiary with 
the net liabilities at the date of disposal as follows:

HK$’000

Investment properties (Note 17) 61,540
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 1,377
Restricted bank deposits 8,527
Cash and bank balances 1,459

Other payables and accrued charges (9,113) 
Borrowings (57,162)
Other financial liabilities (266)
Lease liabilities (Note 37) (7,615) 

Net liabilities disposal of (1,253)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 7) 1,253 

Total consideration — 

Net cash outflows arising on disposal:
Cash consideration received —
Cash and bank balances disposal of (1,459) 

Net cash outflows (1,459) 
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44.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The compensation of key management personnel, representing remuneration of the 
Company’s directors is set out in Note 13.

In addition to those related party transactions disclosed elsewhere in the financial 
statements, the Group entered into the following transactions with its related 
parties during the year. The transactions were carried out at estimated market prices 
determined by the Group’s management.

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Transactions with fellow subsidiaries:
— Management service fee paid — 116  

— 116
  

Transaction with a joint venture:
— Asset management fee paid 1,909 4,373
— Building management fee paid 195 281
— Other loan interest income (Note (a)) (14,779) (25,552)  

(12,675) (20,898)
  

Transaction with a shareholder:
— Interest expenses (Note (b)) 18,772 —

  

Notes:

(a)	 As at 31 December 2019, as described in Note 22, loan receivables of US$55,753,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$434,196,000) in aggregate with interest-bearing at rates ranging from 5% to 
6% per annum were granted by the Group to GR Realty. The interest income derived from the 
loan receivables for the period from 1 January 2020 to the date of consolidation of GR Realty was 
approximately HK$14,779,000 (for the year ended 31 December 2019: HK$25,552,000).

(b)	 As at 31 December 2020, as described in Note 29, amount due to a shareholder of US$115,000,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$891,538,000) in aggregate with interest-bearing at rate of 
4.25% per annum. The interest expenses derived from the amount due to a shareholder for the 
period from the date of consolidation of GR Realty to 31 December 2020 was approximately 
HK$18,772,000.
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45.	 HOLDING COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION

2020 2019

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 46 2,190,797 2,087,520
Amounts due from subsidiaries 3,722,946 3,322,948  

5,913,743 5,410,468  

Current assets
Deposits and prepayments 762 51,848
Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,152,919 988,380
Cash and bank balances 8,345 155,887  

1,162,026 1,196,115  

Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued charges 7,220 5,221
Amount due to a shareholder 494,131 622,881
Amounts due to subsidiaries 7,679 7,736  

509,030 635,838  

Net current assets 652,996 560,277  

Total assets less current liabilities 6,566,739 5,970,745
  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 32 371,191 185,453
Reserves 33 6,195,548 5,785,292  

Total equity 6,566,739 5,970,745
  

On behalf of the directors

Sum Pui Ying Lai Kwok Hung, Alex
Director Director
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46.	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Company

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 3,113 3,113
Deemed capital contribution (Note) 2,187,684 2,084,407  

2,190,797 2,087,520
  

Note:

The amounts due are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

In the opinion of the directors, based on their assessment as at 31 December 
2020 of the estimated future cash flows from the subsidiaries, the amounts due 
from subsidiaries of HK$3,722,946,000 (2019: HK$3,322,948,000) will not be 
recovered within one year from the end of the reporting period, accordingly, these 
amounts are classified as non-current. During the year ended 31 December 2020, 
the principal amounts due from subsidiaries have been adjusted to their fair value 
with a corresponding increase of HK$2,187,684,000 (2019: HK$2,084,407,000) in 
investments in subsidiaries. These are regarded as deemed contribution by the 
Company to these subsidiaries. The effective interest rate on the amounts due 
from subsidiaries ranged at 2.26% to 12.51% (2019: 2.26% to 12.51%) per annum, 
representing the borrowing rates of the relevant subsidiaries.

The following is a list of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 which in 
the opinion of the directors, materially affect the results on assets of the Group:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/ 
registration

Principal 
place of 
operation

Issued/registered 
and fully paid 
capital

Percentage of issued/
registered capital held by 

the Group
Principal 
activities

2020 2019

% %

112th@Bellevue Operating 
LLC

The U.S. The U.S. US$101,978,000 9 — Property 
investment

171 North First Street LLC The U.S. The U.S. US$24,504,000 18 — Property 
development

531-539 Sixth Avenue LLC The U.S. The U.S. US$106,353,000 100 100 Property 
investment

600 Clipper Operating LLC The U.S. The U.S. US$91,666,000 20 20 Property 
investment
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Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/ 
registration

Principal 
place of 
operation

Issued/registered 
and fully paid 
capital

Percentage of issued/
registered capital held by 

the Group
Principal 
activities

2020 2019

% %

Bai Li Investments Limited BVI Hong Kong US$1 100 100 Investment 
holding

Billion Thrive Limited BVI/Hong Kong Hong Kong US$1 100 100 Property 
investment

Central Tech Park 
Operating LLC

The U.S. The U.S. US$81,000,000 46 — Property 
investment

Dawn City Global II LLC The U.S. The U.S. US$12,094,000 100 100 Property 
investment

Diamond Hill Operating 
LLC

The U.S. The U.S. US$4,200,000 23 — Property 
investment

Fame Gate Developments 
Limited

BVI Hong Kong US$1 100 100 Investment 
holding

Gemini Investment (HK) 
Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 100* 100* Securities 
investment 
and trading

Gemini-Rosemont Realty 
LLC

The U.S. The U.S. US$129,884,000 46 45 Investment 
holding

Glorious Field Investments 
Limited

BVI Hong Kong &  
The U.S.

US$1 100 100 Investment 
holding

Jian Feng Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong Hong Kong US$1 100 100 Property 
investment

Precise Bloom Limited BVI/Hong Kong Hong Kong US$1 100 100 Property 
investment

Rosemont Dulles View 
Operating LLC

The U.S. The U.S. US$0 38 — Property 
investment

46.	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation/ 
registration

Principal 
place of 
operation

Issued/registered 
and fully paid 
capital

Percentage of issued/
registered capital held by 

the Group
Principal 
activities

2020 2019

% %

Rosemont Federal 
Operating LLC

The U.S. The U.S. US$13,117,000 13 — Property 
investment

Rosemont Lakeview 
Operating LLC

The U.S. The U.S. US$12,000,000 38 — Property 
investment

Rosemont Summit 
Operating LLC

The U.S. The U.S. US$16,731,000 29 — Property 
investment

Rosemont Warren One 
Operating LLC

The U.S. The U.S. US$17,295,000 13 — Property 
investment

Rosemont Warren Two 
Operating LLC

The U.S. The U.S. US$17,295,000 13 — Property 
investment

Rosemont WTC Denver 
Operating LLC

The U.S. The U.S. US$54,186,000 28 — Property 
investment

Second and Second 
Property LLC

The U.S. The U.S. US$67,446,000 18 — Property 
development

Southcourt Operating LLC The U.S. The U.S. US$16,388,000 100 100 Property 
investment

Sunray City Investments 
Limited

BVI Hong Kong US$1 100 100 Investment 
holding

Swift Boom Investments 
Limited

BVI Hong Kong US$1 100 100 Investment 
holding

Talent Elite Holdings 
Limited

BVI/Hong Kong Hong Kong US$1 100 100 Property 
Investment

Ultimate Ventures Holdings 
Limited

BVI/Hong Kong Hong Kong US$1 100 100 Property 
investment

*	 Directly held by the Company

46.	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
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47.	 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to 
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through the 
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of total equity attributable to owners of 
the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure regularly. As a part of this review, 
the management considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with the 
issued share capital and will balance the Group’s overall capital structure through the 
payment of dividends or the issue of new debt.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The total equity to total assets ratio of the Group at the end of the reporting period 
was as follows:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Total equity attributable to owners of the Company 5,392,323 5,446,083
Total assets 17,955,521 7,002,919

Total equity to total assets ratio 0.30:1 0.78:1
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48.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(a)	 Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial 
position:

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
At fair value through profit or loss

— Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss 2,161,047 2,221,354

— Limited partner interests 420,191 —
— Financial instruments held for trading 545,854 286,286

At amortised cost
— Deposits and other receivables 162,408 37,914
— Loan receivables — 373,409
— Cash and bank balances 1,162,189 975,181
— Restricted bank deposits 310,333 8,556  

4,762,022 3,902,700
  

Financial liabilities
At fair value through profit or loss

— Limited partner interests 375,663 —
— Interest of Class B members with put option 150,345 —
— Financial instruments held for trading  5,465 —

At amortised cost
— Other payables and accrued charges 710,126 57,064
— Amounts due to shareholders 1,380,301 491,758
— Bank borrowings and notes payable 7,932,040 664,304
— Lease liabilities 122,517 8,276  

10,676,457 1,221,402
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48.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)	 Financial risk management objectives and policies

The management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the 
operations of the Group through various internal management reports which 
analyses exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include 
market risks (including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The management manages and monitors these 
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and 
effective manner.

There has been no significant change to the Group’s exposure to market risks 
or the manner in which it manages and measures such risks.

(c)	 Foreign currency risk management

Some of the Group’s transactions were conducted in foreign currencies other 
than the functional currency of the operations to which they related. Certain 
bank balances and deposits of the Group are also denominated in foreign 
currencies other than the functional currency of the group entities. Hence, 
exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. The Group manages its foreign 
currency risks by constantly monitoring the movement of the foreign exchange 
rates.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary 
assets and monetary liabilities other than the functional currency of the 
operations to which they relate at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Assets Liabilities

2020 2019 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

US$ 543,571 978,713 41,977 492,390
RMB 92,852 20,007 — —
Japanese Yen (“JPY”) 60,984 6 — —
Australian Dollar (“A$”) 491 45 — —
British Pound (“GBP”) — 174 — —
Euro (“EUR”) 39,326 1,495 — —    

737,224 1,000,440 41,977 492,390
    

The policies to manage the foreign currency risk have been followed by the 
Group since prior years and are considered to be effective.
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48.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)	 Foreign currency risk management (Continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity

As HK$ is currently pegged to US$, management considers that the exposure 
to exchange fluctuation in respect of US$ is limited as the relevant group 
entities have HK$ as their functional currency. The Group therefore mainly 
exposed to other currencies.

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Group’s profit or 
loss in response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates 
to which the Group have significant exposure at the end of reporting period.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the change in 
foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period and 
had been applied to each of the group entities’ exposure to currency risk for 
non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date.

The stated changes represent the management’s assessment of reasonably 
possible changes in foreign exchange rates over the next reporting period. 
Results of the analysis as presented in the below table represent an 
aggregation of the effects on each of the group entities’ profit or loss 
measured in the respective functional currencies, translated into HK$ at 
the exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation 
purposes. A positive/(negative) numbers represented a decrease/(an increase) 
in loss in 2020 and an decrease/(an increase) in loss in 2019.

2020 2019

Increase/ 
(decrease) 
in foreign 
exchange 

rate

Effect 
on profit 

or loss

Increase/ 
(decrease) 
in foreign

 exchange 
rate

Effect 
on profit 

or loss

HK$’000 HK$’000

RMB against HK$ 10% 9,285 10% 2,001
(10%) (9,285) (10%) (2,001)

JPY against HK$ 10% 6,098 10% 1
(10%) (6,098) (10%) (1)

A$ against HK$ 10% 49 10% 5
(10%) (49) (10%) (5)

GBP against HK$ 10% — 10% 17
(10%) — (10%) (17)

EUR against HK$ 10% 3,933 10% 150
(10%) (3,933) (10%) (150)
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48.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)	 Interest rate risk management

The Group’s bank borrowings as disclosed in Note 30 was issued at variable 
rates and fixed rates which expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk 
and fair value interest-rate risk for the bank borrowings respectively. To 
manage in a cost-effective manner, the Group enters into interest rate swaps, 
in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference 
between fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an 
agreed-upon notional principal amount.

The exposures of the Group’s borrowings (excluded lease liabilities) to interest 
rate changes and the contractual repayment dates of these borrowings at the 
end of the reporting period are as follows:

2020
% of total 

Loans 2019
% of total

Loans

HK$’000 HK$’000

Variable rate borrowings 3,152,964 40% 241,424 36%
Fixed rate borrowings – 

maturity dates
Less than 1 year 885,827 11% — —
1 – 5 years 3,033,039 38% — —
Over 5 years 860,210 11% 422,880 64%    

7,932,040 100% 664,304 100%
    

The Group’s bank balances and short-term bank deposits carry interest at 
market rates. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the impact of 
the change in the interest rate on short-term bank deposits is negligible. 
Accordingly, the sensitivity analysis below only includes analysis on bank 
borrowings.

The policies to manage the interest rate risk have been followed by the Group 
since prior years and are considered to be effective.

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure 
to interest rates for non-derivative financial instruments and the stipulated 
change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant 
throughout the reporting period. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used 
as it represents management’s assessment of the possible change in interest 
rate.

If interest rates of borrowings had been 50 basis points higher/lower and 
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s results for the year 
ended 31 December 2020 would increase/decrease by HK$6,695,000 (2019: 
HK$821,000).
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48.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d)	 Interest rate risk management (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in the 
Group’s loss after tax (and retained profits) and other components of 
consolidated equity that would arise assuming that the change in interest 
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied 
to remeasure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose 
the Group to fair value interest rate risk at the end of the reporting period. 
In respect of the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from 
instruments held by the Group at the end of the reporting period, the impact 
on the group’s loss after tax (and retained profits) and other components of 
consolidated equity is estimated as an annualised impact on interest expense 
or income of such a change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the 
same basis for 2019.

(e)	O ther price risks

The Group is exposed to price risk through its financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss measured at fair value (Note 21) and the financial 
instruments held for trading (Note 25), comprising listed equity securities and 
derivatives measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Listed equity securities held in the portfolio of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss have been chosen based on their growth potential 
and are monitored regularly for performance against expectations. The 
management also performed analysis of the nature of market risk associated 
with the equity securities held for trading, including discussion with the 
investment advisors, and concluded that the price risk is more prominent 
in evaluating the market risk of this kind of investments. The management 
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different 
risk profiles in accordance with the limits set by the Group and located in 
different jurisdictions.

Price sensitivity

The policies to manage other price risk have been followed by the Group since 
prior years and are considered to be effective.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure 
to price risk at the end of the reporting period for the Group’s financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss at fair value and investments held for 
trading. A 10% increase or decrease is used as it represents management’s 
assessment of the possible change in price of equity securities.
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48.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(e)	O ther price risks (Continued)

Price sensitivity (Continued)

If the prices of the listed equity securities held in the portfolio of financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss had been 10% higher/lower, the 
Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2020 would increase/
decrease by HK$40,690,000 (2019: HK$37,397,000) as a result of the changes 
in fair value of listed equity securities held in the portfolio of financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss.

If the prices of the respective equity securities that are indexed to equity 
prices had been 10% higher/lower, the Group’s results for the year ended 
31 December 2020 would increase/decrease by HK$54,039,000 (2019: 
HK$28,629,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of financial instruments 
held-for-trading.

The Company is not exposed to other price risk as no listed equity investments 
held at the end of the reporting period.

(f)	 Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a financial instrument 
would fai l to discharge its obligation under the terms of the financial 
instrument and cause a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk 
is primarily attributable to its rental receivables, loan receivables, other 
receivables and bank balances.

In respect of rental receivables, the Group limits its exposure to credit risk 
by rigorously selecting the counterparties and to deal with credit worthy 
counterparties. Credit terms are granted to new customers after credit 
worthiness assessment. The Group performs ongoing credit evaluation on 
the financial condition of its debtors and tightly monitors the ageing of the 
receivable balances. Follow up action is taken in case of overdue balances. In 
addition, management assesses the collectability of the receivables regularly 
and on a case-by-case basis for the determination of any loss allowance for 
the receivables by taking into account the customers’ or debtors’ financial 
condit ion, current creditworthiness, past sett lement history, business 
relationship with the Group and other factors such as current market 
conditions.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had certain concentration of credit risk 
as approximately 46% (2019: 92%) of the Group’s rental receivables were due 
from the Group’s one tenant.
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48.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(f)	 Credit risk management (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk for exposures since initial recognition on an ongoing basis throughout 
the years. To assess whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on receivables over the 
expected life between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. 
For this purpose, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information 
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s 
historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-
looking information. In particular, the following information is taken into 
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since 
initial recognition.

—	 Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or 
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant change in 
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

—	 Actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the 
debtors.

—	 Significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour of the 
debtors, including changes in the payment status of debtors in the 
Group.

—	 Actual or expected signif icant adverse change in the regulatory, 
economic, or technological environment in which the debtors operates 
that results in a significant change in the customer’s ability to meet its 
debt obligations.

The Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased 
significantly if it is more than 30 days past due unless the Group has 
reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when (i) the debtor is 
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse 
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (ii) 
the financial asset is more than 90 days past due, unless the Group has 
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging 
default criterion is more appropriate.
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48.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(f)	 Credit risk management (Continued)

The Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired at the end of 
each reporting period. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of 
the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following observable events:

—	 significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

—	 a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or 
principal payments;

—	 it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or 
other financial reorganisation;

—	 significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal 
environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

—	 the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial 
difficulties of the issuer.

The Group measures loss allowance for rental and other receivables at an 
amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision matrix 
by reference to past default experience of the debtor and current market 
condition in relation to each debtor’s exposure and time value of money 
where appropriate. The ECLs also incorporate forward looking information with 
reference to general macroeconomic conditions that may affect the ability 
of the debtors to settle the rental receivables. Rental receivables have been 
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The Group determines the expected loss rate for its rental and other 
receivables using the following provision matrix. As the Group’s historical 
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for 
different tenant segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not 
further distinguished between the Group’s different tenant bases.

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

Expected loss rate 3.4% 0.5%
Gross carrying amount of rental and  

other receivables, not yet past due 168,198 34,121
Loss allowance 5,790 171
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48.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(f)	 Credit risk management (Continued)

In respect of loan receivables, the Group considered that the credit risk is low, 
and the loss allowance recognised during the year was therefore limited to 12 
months ECLs.

The al lowances under ECLs determined for loan receivables as at 31 
December 2019 was as follows:

2019

HK$’000

Expected loss rate 14%
Gross carrying amount of loan receivables,  

current (not past due) 434,196
Loss allowance 60,787 

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of rental and loan 
receivables during the year is as follows:

Rental
 and other 

receivables
Loan

receivables Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 2019 116 2,183 2,299
Impairment losses recognised  

during the year 55 58,604 58,659   

Balance at 31 December 2019  
and 1 January 2020 171 60,787 60,958

Gain on effective settlement of loan 
receivables upon the consolidation 
of GR Realty — (60,787) (60,787)

Written-off (17) — (17)
Provision for impairment losses 

recognised during the year 5,636 — 5,636   

Balance at 31 December 2020 5,790 — 5,790
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48.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(f)	 Credit risk management (Continued)

The following changes in the gross earning amounts of rental, other and loan 
receivables contributed to the decrease/increase in the loss allowance:

—	 After the completion of consolidation of GR Realty on 31 July 2020, the 
gain on effective settlement of loan receivables upon the consolidation 
of GR Realty of HK$60,787,000 was recognised.

—	 Origination of new rental and other receivables net of those settled 
resulted in an increase in loss allowance on rental and other receivables 
of HK$5,636,000.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group to 
credit risk during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The credit policies have been consistently applied and are considered to be 
effective in limiting the Group’s exposure to credit risk to a desirable level.

(g)	 Liquidity risk management

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a 
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to 
finance the Group’s operations and mitigates the effects of fluctuations in 
cash flows.

The liquidity policies have been followed by the Group since prior years and 
are considered to have been effective in managing liquidity risks. The Group 
maintains flexible policies, and takes into consideration of the liquidity situation 
when designing and executing the assets disposition plans.
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48.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(g)	 Liquidity risk management (Continued)

Liquidity information

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for other 
non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the 
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on 
which the Group can be required to pay. The tables include both interest and 
principal cash flows.

Effective
interest rate

Repayable on
demand or

less than
1 month

1 – 3 
months

3 months
to 1 year Over 1 year

Total
undiscounted

cash flows
Carrying
amount

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

31 December 2020
Other payables and 

accrued charges 9,215 661,840 36,121 2,969 710,145 710,126
Amounts due to 

shareholders 488,763 — — 1,060,838 1,549,601 1,380,301
Borrowings 4.01%

13.03% 1,347 235,014 2,423,772 7,096,450 9,756,583 7,932,040
Lease liabilities 5.06% 396 3,706 11,289 349,288 364,679 122,517      

499,721 900,560 2,471,182 8,509,545 12,381,008 10,144,984      

31 December 2019
Other payables and 

accrued charges 8,988 — 48,076 — 57,064 57,064
Amounts due to 

shareholders 491,758 — — — 491,758 491,758
Borrowings 4.39% 2,435 4,633 260,440 534,525 802,033 664,304
Lease liabilities 5.06% 535 1,073 4,313 3,435 9,356 8,276      

503,716 5,706 312,829 537,960 1,360,211 1,221,402      
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48.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(h)	 Fair value of financial instruments

The Group followed HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures which 
introduce a three-level hierarchy for fair value measurement disclosures and 
additional disclosures about the relative reliability of fair value measurements.

The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three levels based on 
the relative reliability of significant inputs used in measuring the fair value of 
these financial assets and liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following 
levels:

Level 1:	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and 
liabilities;

Level 2:	 inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3:	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data (unobservable inputs).

As at 31 December 2020

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December 2020
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss
— Unlisted equity investments 

(Note (i)) — — 71 71
— Others (Note (i)) — — 6,110 6,110
— Unlisted fund investments 

(Notes (i), (ii) and (iii)) — 499,636 1,655,230 2,154,866
— Financial instruments  

held for trading (Note (ii)) 545,854 — — 545,854
— Limited partner interests 

(Note (iv)) — — 420,191 420,191    

545,854 499,636 2,081,602 3,127,092
    

Financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss
— Forward exchange contracts  

and futures contracts 3,991 — — 3,991
— Interest rate swap contracts — 1,474 — 1,474
— Interests of Class B members 

with put option (Note (iv)) — — 150,345 150,345
— Limited partner interests 

(Note (iv)) — — 375,663 375,663    

3,991 1,474 526,008 531,473
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48.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(h)	 Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

As at 31 December 2019

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000

As at 31 December 2019
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss
— Unlisted equity 

investments (Note (i)) — — 109 109
— Others (Note (i)) — — 5,800 5,800
— Unlisted fund investments 

(Notes (i), (ii) and (iii)) — 420,883 1,794,562 2,215,445
— Financial instruments  

held for trading (Note (ii)) 286,286 — — 286,286    

286,286 420,883 1,800,471 2,507,640    

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, there were no transfers 
of fair value measurement between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into 
or out of Level 3 for financial assets and financial liabilities.

Notes:

(i)	 As the end of the reporting period, the fair values of unlisted equity investments, others 
and certain unlisted fund investments have been determined by BMI Appraisals, the 
independent qualified valuer, and are level 3 fair value measurement. The movement these 
financial instruments is as follows:

31 December 31 December
2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

At the beginning of year 1,800,471 1,798,027
Additions — 1,650
Disposal — (3,162)
Return of capital (63,726) —
Exchange realignment — (23)
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss (75,334) 3,979  

At the end of year 1,661,411 1,800,471  
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48.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(h)	 Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(ii)	 Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position

Certain financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and the financial instruments held 
for trading are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 2 
and Level 1 respectively based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.  Level 
1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilities.  The fair value of those financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss (Notes 21(c)(i), (ii) and (iii)) in Level 2 is the share of the net 
assets value of the funds at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the quoted 
price of the listed equity securities held by the funds.

As at 31 December 2020, the fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss grouped into level 2 and financial instruments held for trading grouped into level 1 are 
HK$499,636,000 (2019: HK$420,883,000) and HK$545,854,000 (2019: HK$286,286,000) 
respectively.

The fair value of unlisted fund investments under level 2 has been determined with 
reference to the fair value of the underlying assets and liabilities of investment funds at the 
end of the reporting period.

(iii)	 The valuations of unlisted fund investments are determined based on the following 
significant unobservable inputs:

Valuation 
technique 

Significant 
unobservable 
inputs 

Range/
value

Sensitivity of 
fair value to the input

Unlisted fund 
investments 
which 
principally 
invested in 
residential 
and 
commercial 
real estate

Asset-
based 
approach

Discount/ 
premium of 
quality of 
properties 
(e.g. view, 
level, 
size and 
condition 
of the 
properties)

-5% — 5% Had the discount decreased 
by 10%, the fair value 
would have increased 
by approximately 
HK$16,893,000. Had 
the discount increased 
by 10%, the fair value 
would have decreased 
by approximately 
HK$16,893,000.

Unlisted fund 
investments 
which 
invests in 
real estate 
project

Asset-
based 
approach

Discount/ 
premium of 
quality of 
properties 
(e.g. 
location, 
view, size, 
condition 
and time 
of the 
properties).

-13% — 30% Had the discount decreased 
by 10%, the fair value 
would have increased 
by approximately 
HK$67,938,000. Had 
the discount increased 
by 10%, the fair value 
would have decreased 
by approximately 
HK$67,938,000.
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48.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(h)	 Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iv)	 The fair value of interest of Class B members with put option within Level 3 is determined 
by assets based approach. The fair value of it is calculated principally by reference to the 
estimated fair value of the portion of the underlying investment property in which the owner 
of the Class B is interested.

The fair value of limited partner interests within Level 3 is determined by assets based 
approach. The fair value of it is calculated principally by reference to the estimated fair 
value of the portion of the underlying investment property in which the owner of the limited 
partnership is interested.

The investment property’s fair value is itself subject to a number of unobservable inputs as 
disclosed Note 17, including the discount rate and the terminal capitalisation rate.

The carrying amounts of the financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost as 
disclosed under current assets and current liabilities, respectively, approximate their fair value as 
they are all short term in nature.

49.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described 
in Note 3, management has made various estimates and judgements which are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Estimates and 
judgements are continually evaluated. The key source of estimation uncertainty and 
accounting judgements that result in significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amount of assets and liabil ities in the next financial year or 
significantly affect the amounts recognised in the financial statements are discussed 
below:

(a)	 As described in Notes 3(e) and 17, investment properties are stated at fair 
value based on the valuation performed by an independent professional valuer 
and a dedicated valuation team reporting to management. In determining the 
fair value, the valuer and valuation team has based on methods of valuation 
which involves estimates in market rental, discount rate, premium or discount 
for quality of properties and terminal capitalisation rate. The directors have 
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation is 
reflective of the current market conditions.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020

49.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(b)	 The ECLs for rental and other receivables are based on the assumptions about 
risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making 
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, 
based on the Group’s assessment on debtors’ payment history and current 
and future ability for payment taking into account the information specific to 
the debtors as well as pertaining to the current and future general economic 
environment in which the debtors operated. Details of management’s credit 
risk assessment are disclosed in Note 48(f).

(c)	 The Group estimates the fair value of financial assets using the valuation 
performed by an independent professional valuer. In determining the fair 
value, the valuer based on a method of valuation which involves estimates in 
market return, market risk, interest rates and exchange rates. The directors 
have exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation 
is reflective of the current market condition.

(d)	 Management determines the net real isable value of propert ies under 
development by using prevailing market data such as most recent sale 
transactions and market valuation reports available from independent qualified 
professional valuers. Such valuations are made based on certain assumptions, 
which are subject to uncertainties and might materially differ from the actual 
result. In making the judgement, reasonable consideration has been given 
to the underlying assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions 
existing at the reporting date. These estimates are regularly compared to 
actual market data and actual transactions in the market.



Annual Report 2020     Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited 209

Details of Major Investment Properties

Investment property and address Lot Number Use

Total gross floor 
area (Approx. 

square feet)
Our Group’s 

interest %

Government 
lease expiry/

Freehold

Units 2310 to 2312 on 23rd Floor,
Tower Two Lippo Centre,
No. 89 Queensway,
Hong Kong

Certain parts or shares of 
and in Inland Lot No. 8615

Office 3,000 100% 2059 (renewable for
a further term of

75 years)

Unit 3701 on 37th Floor,
Tower Two Lippo Centre,
No. 89 Queensway,
Hong Kong

Certain parts or shares of 
and in Inland Lot No. 8615

Office 2,000 100% 2059 (renewable for
a further term of

75 years)

Unit 3702A on 37th Floor,
Tower Two Lippo Centre,
No. 89 Queensway,
Hong Kong

Certain parts or shares of 
and in Inland Lot No. 8615

Office 1,000 100% 2059 (renewable for
a further term of

75 years)

Unit 3604B on 36th Floor,
Tower Two Lippo Centre,
No. 89 Queensway,
Hong Kong

Certain parts or shares of 
and in Inland Lot No. 8615

Office 2,000 100% 2059 (renewable for
a further term of

75 years)

Unit Nos. 2119-2120 on 21st Floor,  
China Mercharts Tower, Shun Tak Centre,  
Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central,  
Hong Kong

Certain parts or shares of 
and in Inland Lot No. 8517

Office 3,000 100% 2055 (renewable 
for a further term 

of 75 years)

Unit Nos. 2704-2705 on 27th Floor,  
West Tower, Shun Tak Centre,  
Nos. 168-200 Connaught Road Central,  
Hong Kong

Certain parts or shares of 
and in Inland Lot No. 8517

Office 4,000 100% 2055 (renewable 
for a further term 

of 75 years)

Units 16G, 20A, 20B, 21D, 25G, 26C,  
26G, 28D, 29C, 30D, 31F, 32F, 32G, 33E,  
34B, 34G, 35C, 35E, 37C,  
15 William Street, Manhattan,  
New York 10004, the U.S.

N/A Residential 17,000 100% Freehold

500 and 600 Clipper Drive,  
Belmont, California 94002, the U.S.

N/A Office 159,000 20% Freehold

1100, 1110, 1120, 112th Avenue, 
Bellevue, Washington 98004, the U.S.

N/A Office 482,000 9% Freehold

1625 & 1675 Broadway,  
Denver, Colorado 80202, the U.S.

N/A Office 786,000 28% Freehold

2420-2490 West 26th Avenue,  
Denver, Colorado 80211, the U.S.

N/A Office 374,000 23% Freehold

3380-3420 Central Expressway,  
Santa Clara, California 95051, the U.S.

N/A Office 369,000 46% Freehold

2551 & 2553 Dulles View Drive,  
Herndon, Virginia 20171, the U.S.

N/A Office 360,000 38% Freehold

15, 22 & 25 Century Boulevard,  
Nashville, Tennessee 37214, the U.S.

N/A Office 382,000 38% Freehold

1819 5th Avenue North,  
Birmingham, Alabama 35203, the U.S.

N/A Office 300,000 13% Freehold



Gemini Investments (Holdings) Limited     Annual Report 2020210

Details of Major Investment Properties

Investment property and address Lot Number Use

Total gross floor 
area (Approx. 

square feet)
Our Group’s 

interest %

Government 
lease expiry/

Freehold

6100 & 6120 South Yale Avenue,  
Tulsa, Oklahoma 74136, the U.S.

N/A Office 960,000 13% Held under 
leasehold interest 
for terms expiring 

on 30 April 2094 
(re: One Warren 

Place) and 10 
December 2083 
(re: Two Warren 

Place)

1160 Dairy Ashford Road, 
Houston, Texas 77079, the U.S.

N/A Office  113,000 13% Freehold

610 West Ash Street, 
San Diego, California 92101, the U.S.

N/A Office  177,000 9% Freehold

12000 Aerospace Avenue, 
Houston, Texas 77034, the U.S.

N/A Office  80,000 18% Held under 
leasehold interest 

for a term expiring 
on 22 August 2027 
with two opinions 

to extend for 20 
years each

17111 & 17177 Preston Road, 
Dallas, Texas 75248, the U.S.

N/A Office  148,000 18% Freehold

1401 North Turner Street, 
Hobbs, Lea County, 
New Mexico 88240, the U.S.

N/A Shopping
center

 143,000 46% Freehold

6301 Indian School Road NE, 
Albuquerque, New Mexico 87110, the U.S.

N/A Office  96,000 23% Freehold

320 Gold Avenue SW, Albuquerque, 
New Mexico 87102, the U.S.

N/A Office  107,000 23% Freehold

2455 Northeast Loop 410, San Antonio, 
Texas 78217, the U.S.

N/A Office  109,000 0% Freehold

11767 Katy Freeway, Houston, 
Texas 77079, the U.S.

N/A Office  227,000 18% Freehold

11757 Katy Freeway, Houston, 
Texas 77079, the U.S.

N/A Office  286,000 2% Freehold

401 Edwards Street, Shreveport, 
Louisiana 71101, the U.S.

N/A Office  344,000 18% 31 July 2069

1235 North Loop West, Houston, 
Texas 77008, the U.S.

N/A Office  221,000 0% Freehold

16414 San Pedro Avenue, San Antonio, 
Texas 78232, the U.S.

N/A Office  141,000 13% Freehold

545 East John Carpenter Freeway, 
Dallas, Texas 75062, the U.S.

N/A Office  376,000 29% Freehold

1610 Woodstead Court & 
10200 Grogan’s Mill Road, 
Houston, Texas 77380, the U.S.

N/A Office  153,000 18% Freehold
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Details of Properties Under Development

Address
Lot 
Number Use

Approx.  
site area 

(square feet)

Estimated 
development 

gross  
floor area  

(square feet)
Our Group's  

interest %

Government 
lease expiry/

Freehold
Stage of 

completion

Estimated 
completion 

date

531-537 & 539 Avenue of the Americas, 
Manhattan, New York 10011, the U.S.

N/A Mixed-used  
residential 
development

 8,000 82,000 100% Freehold Construction/ 
interior 

finishes

2021

167-171 North First Street, 
Brooklyn, New York 11211, the U.S.

N/A Residential 
development

 14,000 78,000 18% Freehold Demolition 2023

38, 42-48 Second Avenue, 
Manhattan, New York 10003, the U.S.

N/A Mixed-used  
residential 
development

 14,000 137,000 18% Freehold Planning stage 2024
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Five-Year Financial Summary

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
For the year ended 31 December,

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 83,097 55,565 189,815 115,499 603,856     

(Loss)/profit before taxation (248,109) (72,341) 43,397 (52,648) (137,456)
Taxation (5,269) (14,677) (12,664) 687 (95,780)     

(Loss)/profit for the year (253,378) (87,018) 30,733 (51,961) (233,236)     

(Loss)/profit for the year 
attributable to:
Owners of the Company (253,378) (87,018) 12,229 (94,713) (233,036)
Non-controlling interests — — 18,504 42,752 (200)     

(253,378) (87,018) 30,733 (51,961) (233,236)     

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December,

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 5,926,243 6,589,265 6,569,464 7,002,919 17,955,521
Total liabilities (2,092,051) (1,113,594) (763,599) (1,256,072) (10,768,836)     

3,834,192 5,475,671 5,805,865 5,746,847 7,186,685     

Equity attributable to:
Owners of the Company 3,834,192 5,475,671 5,529,034 5,446,083 5,392,323
Non-controlling interests — — 276,831 300,764 1,794,362     

3,834,192 5,475,671 5,805,865 5,746,847 7,186,685     
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Corporate Information
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Directors

LAW Tze Lun
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Corporate Information
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The Bank of East Asia, Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking 

Corporation Limited

SHARE REGISTRAR
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